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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this Report constitute "fodalaoking statements" within the meaning of the Pmv&ecurities Litigatic
Reform Act of 1995. Such forwaldeking statements involve known and unknown risks;ertainties and other factors which may caus
actual results, performance or achievements to aeenmally different from any future results, perfance, or achievements expresse
implied by such forwardeoking statements. The most significant of suattdes include, but are not limited to, our abilépd the ability ¢
King Pharmaceuticals Research and Development,(tKing”) and other pharmaceutical companies, if any, to wiveenmay license o
Aversion® Technology, to obtain necessary regujamprovals and commercialize products utilizing Aversion®Technology, the ability 1
avoid infringement of patents, trademarks and opieprietary rights or trade secrets of third getiand the ability to fulfill the U.S. Food ¢
Drug Administration’s (“FDA”)requirements for approving our product candidabes®dmmercial manufacturing and distribution in theitec
States, including, without limitation, the adequadythe results of the laboratory and clinical $&gdcompleted to date and the results of «
laboratory and clinical studies, to support FDA mppl of our product candidates, the adequacy efd#wvelopment program for our proc
candidates, changes in regulatory requirementgradwafety findings relating to our product caatéid, the risk that the FDA may not ag
with our analysis of our clinical studies and maslaate the results of these studies by differeathmds or conclude that the results ol
studies are not statistically significant, clinigaineaningful or that there were human errors & dbnduct of the studies or otherwise, the
that further studies of our product candidatesnatepositive or otherwise do not support FDA appitar commercially viable product labelil
and the uncertainties inherent in scientific reseadrug development, clinical trials and the ratatly approval process. Other impor
factors that may also affect future results incluglet are not limited to: our ability to attractcaretain highly skilled personnel; our ability
secure and protect our patents, trademarks andigtay rights; litigation or regulatory action theould require us to pay significant dame
or change the way we conduct our business; ouityatnl compete successfully against current andrutompetitors; our dependence on third-
party suppliers of raw materials; our ability ta&¢gee U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration ("DEA')ajas and source the active ingredi
of our products in development; difficulties or @l in clinical trials for our product candidateimthe commercial manufacture and supp!
our products; and other risks and uncertaintieaildet in this Report. When used in this Report, woeds "estimate,” "project,” "anticipat
"expect," "i believe," and similar expresss are intended to identify forward-looking stageits.

intend,
PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagedsiearch, development and manufacture of innavaiiversion® Technology an
related product candidates. Product candidateslajsee with Aversion®Technology and containing opioid analgesic activgreédients ai
intended to effectively treat pain and also disegerthe most common methods of pharmaceutical ptadisuse and abuse including;
intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cdgsu(ii) nasal snorting of crushed tablets or oégss and (iii) intentional swallowing
excessive numbers of tablets or capsules. AcuroxaMets, our lead product candidate utilizing Aven® Technology, is being develog
pursuant to an active investigational new drug igpfibn (“IND”) on file with the U.S. Food and Dru§dministration (“FDA”). Aversio®
Technology is our patented platform technologydeveloping nexgeneration pharmaceutical products containing pigignabuseable dru
including oxycodone, hydrocodone, oxymorphone, bgubrphone, morphine, codeine, tramadol, propoxyphand many others. Additiol
Aversion® Technology patents are pending encompassing a maige of abuseable drugs including stimulants,qudizers and sedative
Aversion® Technology is applicable to orally admstered tablets and capsules. In addition to theeagtgredient, Aversion@echnolog
utilizes certain patented compositions of pharmticaluproduct inactive excipients and active ingeeds intended to discourage or d
pharmaceutical product abuse.




We conduct internal research, development, laboratnanufacturing and warehousing activities forefsion® Technology at our Culve
Indiana facility. The 28,000 square foot facility iegistered by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Admiatgin (“DEA”) to perform researc
development and manufacture of certain SchedueViifinished dosage form products. In addition teemtl capabilities and activities,
engage numerous contract research organizatior®d4C) with expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical fridesign and monitoring, clinical d:
management, biostatistics, medical writing, labmmattesting and related services. Such CROs perfierelopment services for Acuroy
Tablets and other Aversion® product candidates uadedirection.

We are focused on:
« research and development of product candidatésingjlour Aversior® Technology;

« manufacture, quality assurance testing and releasestability studies of clinical trial suppliesdaNDA submission batches of cert
finished dosage form product candidates utilizinge#sion® Technology:

« prosecution of our patent applications relatingAeersion ® Technology with the United States Patent and TraalkenOffice
(“USPTO") and foreign equivalents; and

» negotiation and execution of license and develogragreements with pharmaceutical company partrrengdging that such license

will further develop certain finished dosage pradoandidates utilizing the Aversidh Technology and file for regulatory appro
with the FDA and other regulatory authorities ancheercialize such products.

We are a publicly traded New York corporation aitel &nnual, quarterly and current reports, proxateshents and other information with
Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC").s&hi@ings are available to the public over theeinet at the SEC's web site
http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy dogument we file at the SEC's public reference ratmd50 Fifth Street, N.W
Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC atQtBC-0330 for further information on the publiference room.

Our internet address is www.acurapharm.com. We ragk#able free of charge, with a link from our wa&te to the SEG website, our annu
guarterly and current reports and amendments teetheports, as soon as reasonably practicablevedtelectronically file such material w
the SEC. In addition, you may request a copy aetdings (excluding exhibits) at no cost by catitag us at Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
N. North Court, Suite 120, Palatine, lllinois 600&Itention: Investor Relation

Company Strategy

Our goal is to become a leading specialty pharntamdwcompany focused on addressing the growingesmicproblem of prescription dr
abuse by developing a broad portfolio of pharmédcalproducts with abuse deterrent features. Sisadif we intend to:

- Capitalize on our Experience and Expertise in thesdarch and Development of Abuse Deterrent Pharatigeé Products. Oul
approach is to utilize existing active pharmaceutiogredients with proven safety and efficacy pesfthat have known potential
abuse, and develop new products utilizing our pevary Aversion® (“abuse deterrenfTechnology. We believe that in most case:
FDA'’s 505(b)(2) NDA approval process may be used witlse¢heroduct candidates. While there can be no asseirave believe tt
use of the 505(b)(2) NDA approval process may alloiwmore efficient and timely approvals as compaie standard NDA filings
The 505(b)(2) NDA regulatory pathway is being a8l in the development of Acurox™ Tablets, our |paesHuct candidate utilizir
Aversion® Technology. In addition to Acurox™ Tablets, as loé tate of this Report we are engaged in the dpreat of sever
additional product candidates incorporating Aver&oTechnology, including hydrocodone bitartrate wittetaminophen table
(marketed generically and by others under the bremdes Vicodin®, Lortab®, and Lorcet®&ydromorphone HCI tablets (marke
generically and by Abbott Laboratories under thankr name Dilaudid®}nd oxycodone HCI with acetaminophen (mark
generically and by others under the brand naméZofocet®, Tylox®, Endocet ®, and Roxicet®)e expect to file an IND for o
second Aversion® Technology opioid product candidatthe first half of 2008.




- Maximize Commercial Value of our Product Candidatesough Ou-Licensing to Strategically Focused Pharmaceutfattners.On
October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticals Relseand Development, Inc. (“King”), a whollywned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dpmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “Kikgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and &feXthe "King Territory") opioid analgesic productsilizing Aversior®
Technology including Acurox™ Tablets. We believepogunities exist to enter into similar agreemewith other commercii
partners for these same opioid products outside&Kthg Territory and in the United States and woridievfor developing addition
Aversion® Technology product candidates for other abuseatlgsdincluding tranquilizers, stimulants and sedsi By partnerin
with strategically focused companies with experéied infrastructure in commercialization of pharmaals, we are able to lever:
our expertise, intellectual property rights and Awen® Technology without the need to build costly salesl ananufacturin
infrastructure. We anticipate that our future rexenif any, will be derived from milestone and ritygpayments related to t
commercialization of products utilizing our Avers® Technology.

- Expand the Aversion® Technology Intellectual Proypd?ortfolio. We believe our patent granted by the United StRient an
Trademark Office ("USPTO") in April 2007 for Aveosi® Technology provides protection in the U.S. agaipstential gener
product competition through the year 2023 and ke element for the appeal of our product cand&l&eKing for opioid produ
candidates and other potential commercial partfoenson-opioid product candidates. We have filed additiqretent applications wi
the USPTO which, if issued, will compliment and &den the scope of our granted patent claims. Intiaddwe have file
corresponding Aversion® Technology patent applaai internationally. All of the Aversion®@echnology intellectual proper
including all pending and issued patents was d@egldnternally by the Company and as of the datthisf Report we believe
enabling licenses from others will be required.

- Remain focused on Research, Development and Achi®@roof of Concept for Product Candidates Incogiorg the Aversior®
Technology while Minimizing Internal Fixed Costsalgh Outsourcing High Fixed Cost Elements of threv&opment ProcessVe
maintain a streamlined corporate infrastructurei$ed on:

« selection, formulation development, laboratory ea#ibn, manufacture, quality assurance and stabidisting of certai
finished dosage form product candidates;

« development and prosecution of our patent apptinatiand

« negotiation and execution of license and develogragreements with strategically focused pharmacalpartners. Whi
we expect to expand our internal staff to enabléousore rapidly develop multiple product candidates of the date of tl
Report we have only 14 employees, 9 of whom areaged in the research, development and manufacfuproduc
candidates utilizing the Aversion®echnology. We contract with CROs with expertiserégulatory affairs, clinical tri
design and monitoring, clinical data managememsthtistics, medical writing, laboratory testinglanelated services. St
CROs perform development services for Acurox™ Tiasbénd other Aversion®roduct candidates under our direction.
outsourcing the high fixed cost elements of ourdpt development process, we believe that we sotistis reduce fixe
overhead and capital investment and thereby reducbusiness risk.

Aversion® Technology Overview

Aversion® Technology is a patented platform for developingarpiaceutical products containing potentially abbkealrugs includin
oxycodone, hydrocodone, oxymorphone, hydromorphor@phine, codeine, tramadol, propoxyphene, andynagimer opioid analgesic¥Ve
believe this platform technology is also applicatdenonepioid products that are subject to abuse and wfalthinto two broad categorie
central nervous system ("CNS") depressants (inotuttianquilizers and sedatives) and stimulantsr#giga® Technology is applicable to ora
administered tablets and capsules. In additionhto dctive ingredient, Aversion@echnology utilizes certain proprietary combinasioni
inactive excipients and active ingredients intendedliscourage the most common methods of pharntiaekyroduct misuse and abi
including; (i) intravenous injection of dissolvedbtets or capsules, (ii) nasal snorting of crusteuets or capsules and (iii) intentio
swallowing of excess quantities of tablets or cégsu




Intended to Deter 1.V. Injection of Opioids Extracted from Dissolved Tablets

Prospective drug abusers or recreational drug usagsattempt to dissolve currently marketed opimdiaining tablets in water, alcohol,
other common solvents, filter the dissolved sohutiand then inject the resulting fluid intravenguisl obtain euphoric effects. In addition tc
two active ingredients, Acurox™ablets also contains a unique combination of imadhgredients. These "functional” inactive ingexds ar
commonly used pharmaceutical excipients which tetia therapeutic effect but which have specific Httograpeutic functions. If a pers
attempts to extract oxycodone from Acuroxblets using any generally available solvent,udtig water or alcohol, into a volume and fi
suitable for intravenous (“1.V.”)njection, the tablet converts into a viscous géttare and effectively traps the oxycodone HCI fe tgel
Based on controlled imitro experiments, we believe it is not possibl&haut extraordinary difficulty, to draw this visas gel through a neet
into a syringe for L.V. injection. We believe thtitis gel forming feature will substantially discage prospective I.V. drug abuser:
recreational drug users from extracting oxycodomenfan Acurox™ Tablet. As described below under ¢hption ‘Pivotal Oxycodon
Extraction Study”,we have compared the relative difficulty of extmagtoxycodone from Acurox™ Tablets to several cotlse markete:
oxycodone-containing products.

Intended to Deter Nasal Snorting

In addition to potential intravenous or oral abys®spective drug abusers may easily crush or grimecently marketed oxycodorentaining
tablet or capsule products. The crushed powder threty be nasally snorted and the oxycodone in tinpois absorbed through the lining
the nasal passages often resulting in a rapid afsetiphoric effects. Acurox™ Tablets have threelma@isms intended to discourage n
snorting;

- Mild burning and irritation—if the tablets are crushed and the prospective dlugser attempts to snort the crushed tablets d
burning and irritation of the nasal passages igetga to occur

- Viscous gel traps active ingredieathen Acurox™ Tablets are crushed and snorted, \weatxhe moisture in the nasal passage:
form a viscous gel with the crushed tablet powdthereby trapping the oxycodone in the gel and redutie amount of oxycodo
available for absorption through the lining of thesal passages

- Gelatinous mass we believe that the viscous gel formed in the nasakages will result in a sticky mass producingi@pieasat
sensation in the nasal passages of the prospedtiveer

Therefore, we expect potential nasal abusers of ¢t Tablets to experience mild burning and iriitatof the nasal passages, a lower lev
oxycodone available for nasal absorption and aiphlyg unpleasant gelatinous mass to form in theah@assages. We have evaluatet
potential for reducing nasal absorption using adaiad invitro experimental process. As discussed in théiedelow regarding Acurox’
Tablets, we intend to further evaluate Acurox™ Eébhasal abuse characteristics in laboratory &adePl clinical studies.

Intended to Deter Swallowing Excess Quantities ofdblets

We have included a suherapeutic amount of niacin in each tablet of AsiY Tablets. We believe that should a person swabkaces
quantities of Acurox™ Tablets they will experierme unpleasant combination of symptoms, includingmt or flushing, itching, sweatil
and/or chills, headache and a general feeling s€éanfort. It is expected that these dysphoric spmgt will begin approximately 108
minutes after the excess dose is swallowed angesifve approximately 75-90 minutes latdfe believe that healthcare providers, (inclu
physicians, nurses, and pharmacists) generallyratadel and recognize that niacin, when administeratly in immediate release tablet:
amounts exceeding by several fold the amount it daxirox™ Tablet, may cause a combination of urgde&d symptoms. In addition, it
generally recognized that niacin has a well esthblil safety profile in long term administrationdases far exceeding the amounts in

Acurox™ Tablet. When Acurox™ Tablets are administeat the anticipated recommended maximum dosetafbiets every 6 hours it
intended that legitimate pain patients will receeféective analgesic effects and not be aware efpgbtential dysphoric effects of niac
Acurox™ Tablets are not intended for patients renggiopioid dose escalation due to the possibdityriacin induced flushing as the dos
increased.




We do not expect that the undesirable niacin effedtl be “fool-proof” in discouraging swallowing excess quantities of raiv Tablets
However, we anticipate that inclusion of niacinAnourox™ Tablets and in other Aversion®chnology product candidates will deter,
certain degree, legitimate pain patients or poatatiug abusers from swallowing excess quantitiescarox™ Tablets. We anticipate that ir
potential drug abusers or recreational drug uséiisseek alternative opioid analgesic products tha generally much easier to abuse
Acurox™ Tablets and do not have the potential taseathese undesirable niacin effects. As desciligdolv under the captionStatus an
Expectations For Acurox™ Tablets Clinical DeveloptnBrogram,'we have evaluated the effects of niacin in a nurob@&hase | and Phast
clinical studies in subjects with and without atbirg of opioid abuse.

U.S. Market for Opioid Analgesic Products Incorporaing Aversion® Technology

Primary market research conducted by us indichggsU.S. based physicians perceive that nearlyoahef six prescriptions for oxycodone i
hydrocodone containing opioid analgesics may besedthuSuch market research also revealed that nalirbhysicians questioned repot
being the victim of opioid prescription forgeries the previous year. Physicians believe that dimgsars seeking prescriptions for op
containing products present a legal and profeskiigiato their practices. In addition, the resudfsa survey of over 1,500 adults conducte
the market research firm of Schulman, Ronca anduBalas, Inc. and published in 2006, revealed tfi& ®f those surveyed know some
personally who has abused opioid painkillers. @isthreporting knowing someone who has abused opaiitkillers, 10% percent indical
that they personally had abused these productslyN2@6 percent of the abusers were identified @sarkers, with the balance identified
family members or acquaintances. We believe thaltieare providers are generally unable to detegmihich, if any, of their prescriptions
opioid analgesics will ultimately be abused by thgtients or diverted for abuse by others. Theettainty about which, if any, prescriptic
for opioid analgesic products will be abused oredied implies that certain segments of the U.S ketarepresent a major opportunity
products incorporating our Aversion®echnology. The table below lists several commanigscribed opioid analgesics in the U.S tha
subject to potential misuse or abuse.

Opioid Active Ingredients Frequently Prescribed Opioid Analgesics

(Generic Names) (Common Brand Names)

Oxycodone Percocet®, OxyContin®, Roxicet®, Tylox®, Endocet®
Hydrocodone Vicodin®, Lortab®, Lorcet®

Morphine Avinza®, Kadian®, MSContin®

Hydromorphone Dilaudid®

Codeine Tylenol® with Codeine

Tramadol Ultram®, Ultram® ER, Ultracet®

Propoxyphene Darvon®, Darvocet®

Based on market research data purchased by udfi@niHealth, for the 12 months ended September 807 2approximately 235 million to
prescriptions (brands and generics combined) wispedsed in the U.S. for immediate release anchdettrelease tablet and capsule forn
the opioid analgesics listed above. Of these ttitglensed prescriptions, approximately 14 millioerevfor extended release products (us
administered every 8 to 24 hours) and 221 millicgrevfor immediate release products (usually adteres every 4 to 6 hours). Exten
release products are more commonly prescribedefif rof chronic pain for durations ranging fronveel weeks to several months or lon
Immediate release products are more commonly pbestfor relief of acute pain for durations of geally less than 30 days. According to ¢
published in The National Survey on Drug Use andltheReport, Issue 22, 2006, immediate releaseidpmntaining pain relievers are u
non-medically approximately ten-fold more oftenrtrextended release products.

Recreational drug users, drug abusers and/or didicta typically obtain the opioid analgesics progu(listed above) in tablet or caps
dosage forms and then crush, shear, grind, chesolde and/or heat, extract or otherwise manipulseproduct so that a significant amo
or even the entire amount, of the abuseable dregrbes available for rapid absorption by injectiang/or snorting, and/or oral swallow
excess quantities of tablets or capsules to actae¥égh”. Abuse of pharmaceutical products iarge and growing issue in American soc
and there is an urgent need for a new technologysttburage and deter misuse and abuse of opiaidesic tablets and capsules.




U.S. Market for Non-Opioid Products Incorporating Aversion® Technology

Aversion® Technology is a platform technology whigh believe is also applicable to nopioid products that are subject to abuse andatte
administered in tablet or capsule form. Napieid abuseable drugs fall into two broad categgrcentral nervous system ("CNS") depres
(including tranquilizers and sedatives) and stimtdaAccording to data published in The Nationaiv@y on Drug Use and Health Rep
Issue 22, 2006, the estimated number of peopleeiiutS. aged 12 and over who have abused drupese tategories is as follows:

During During Past

Lifetime Year Frequently Prescribed
Category (millions) (millions) (Common Brand Names)
CNS Depressants 30.1 6.0 Valium®, Xanax®, Halcion®, Klonopin®, Ativan®, Nenoital®
Stimulants 20.1 34 Dexadrine®, Adderall®, Ritalin®, Concerta®

To date we have devoted limited resources to theldpment of norepioid product candidates and can not provide asymnce that futu
efforts, if any, to develop non-opioid productsanmorating the Aversion® Technology whe successful or will result in viable commer
products.

King Agreement

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a wholiysned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dewmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and ¢dethe "King Territory") certain opioid analgegitoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion®Technology including Acurox™ Tablets. The Agreemgratvides King with an exclusive license in the ¢ifierritory for Acurox™
Tablets and another undisclosed opioid product idate utilizing Aversion®Tlechnology. In addition, the King Agreement prowdéng witt
an option to license in the King Territory all fotuopioid analgesic products developed utilizingiiés Aversion® Technology.

Under the terms of the King Agreement, King madeupfront cash payment to us of $30 million whichswaceived in December, 20
Depending on the achievement of certain developraedtregulatory milestones, King could also malditaahal cash payments to us of uj
$28 million relating to Acurox™ Tablets and simikamounts with respect to each subsequent Aversiberhinology product developed un
the Agreement. King will reimburse us for all resdaand development expenses incurred beginning Beptember 19, 2007 for Acuro;
Tablets and all research and development expertdsd to future products after King's exercis@bption to an exclusive license for e
future productKing will record net sales of all products and $ales occurring following the one year annivers#rthe first commercial se
of a licensed product, King will pay us a royaltyoae of 6 rates ranging from 5% to 25% based eratel of combined annual net sales fc
products subject to the Agreement. King will alsake a ongime cash payment to us of $50 million in the fiystar in which the combin
annual net sales of all products exceed $750 millio

We and King have formed a joint steering committeeoordinate development and commercializatioatsgies. With Kings oversight, w
will conduct all Acurox™ Tablet development actigg through approval of a 505(b)(2) New Drug Apgtion (“NDA”) and thereafter Kir
will commercialize Acurox™ Tablets in the U.S. Withspect to all other products subject to the Agweest, King will be responsible 1
development and regulatory activities followingheit acceptance of an Investigational New Drug Agwpion ("IND") by the U.S. Food a
Drug Administration (“FDA")or our demonstration of certain stability and phaecokinetic characteristics for each future prodadtproducts
developed pursuant to the King Agreement will benafactured by King or a third party contract mamtfieer under the direction of Kir
Subject to the King Agreement, King will have firddcision making authority with respect to all depenent and commercialization activit
for all licensed products.




Intellectual Property

In April 2007, the United States Patent and Tradén@ifice (the “USPTO”) issued to us U.S. Patent. N¢201,920 titled Methods an
Compositions for Deterring Abuse of Opioid ContagnDosage FormsThe 54 allowed patent claims encompass pharmaatatnposition
intended to reduce or discourage the most commadhate of prescription opioid analgesic product reésand abuse. The opioid analgesi
the issued patent claims include oxycodone, hydtone, hydromorphone, morphine, codeine, tramadopgxyphene and many others.

In addition to issued U.S. Patent No. 7,201,92Mmfdsebruary 1, 2008, we have pending five U.S.-pmvisional pending patent applicatic
three WO/PCT pending patent applications and meltgzlditional U.S. provisional and internationatgmd filings relating to compositio
containing abuseable drugs.

As of February 1, 2008, except for those rightsfeord in the King Agreement, we have retainedalhe intellectual property rights to «
Aversion® Technology and related product candidates

Acurox™ Tablets Development Status and Clinical Trals

Acurox™ Tablets, our lead product candidate with Aversion®chnology, is an orally administered immediateeask tablet containi
oxycodone HCI as its sole active analgesic ingrddia sub therapeutic amount of niacin, and a wicpmposition of functional inacti
ingredients. Acurox™ Tablets will have an anticgghtndication for treating acute moderate to moddyasevere pain and will also h
anticipated features to discourage or deter thet mmsmon methods of misuse and abuse includingn{izvenous injection of dissolv
tablets, (ii) nasal snorting of crushed tablets &iiiJl intentional swallowing of excess quantitie$ tablets. Acurox™ Tablets are be
developed pursuant to an active investigational dawg application (“IND")on file with the FDA. We and King intend to file585(b)(2) ND#
for Acurox™ Tablets. The FDA has confirmed in wrgito us that the proposed NDA would qualify fdection 505(b)(2) submission.

In September, 2007 we began enrolling patientsimical Study AP-ADF105, our pivotal phase lll efficacy and safety stbeing conducte
pursuant to a Special Protocol Assessment agretbdtind FDA (see description of this study below emthe caption “Study AP-ADF-10%"
We expect to submit our 505(b)(2) NDA for Acurox™blets to the FDA in the second half of 2008. A time of NDA submission we inte
to request a priority review of the application twe FDA. The FDA has publicly indicated a willingiseto consider such action for proc
candidates incorporating abuse deterrence featNesssurance however can be provided that the WillAgrant a priority review of our 505
(b)(2) NDA submission.

Acurox™ Tablets: Technical and Pre-Clinical Develompent Program and Regulatory Affairs Strategy
The technical and prelinical development program and regulatory stratagd status for Acurox™ Tablets are summarizedvbeAt this

stage, we can not provide any assurance that FOiAetirequire additional prelinical studies not listed below, or revise theufax™ Tablet
regulatory requirements prior to their acceptaredifing of a 505(b)(2) NDA submission for Acurox™ablets.

Technical and Pre-Clinical Development Status and Expectations

Formulation development Complete

Pilot bioequivalence study Complete

Pivotal oxycodone laboratory extraction study Complete (results summarized in this Report)

Tablet stability for NDA submission Testing in process. 24 month real time data dematest stability
acceptable for NDA submission

Toxicology studies Not required per FDA written guidance to




Regulatory Affairs Status and Expectations

Investigational New Drug Application (IND) Active
End of Phase Il meeting with FDA Complete
Factorial design clinical studies Not required per FDA written guidance to

A single phase lll efficacy and safety trial is uged per FDA written

Phase Il pivotal clinical trial .
guidance to us.

Type of regulatory submission for U.S. regulatgpp@val and Acurox™ Tablets are eligible for submission as &(6)(2) NDA per
commercial distribution in the U.S. FDA written guidance to us
505(b)(2) NDA submission Anticipate submission H2-08

Pivotal Oxycodone Extraction Study:

We, in concert with a leading pharmaceutical labwsaCRO (the “Laboratory CRO";ompleted a pivotal study to assess certain priegent
Acurox™ Tablets using tablets from batches manufact by us at our Culver Facility at a scale offisight size to fulfill the FDA%
requirements for a 505(b)(2) NDA submission. Thédratory CRO was contracted to quantitatively andlitptively measure the relat
difficulty of extracting oxycodone HCI for purposetl.V. injection from tablet products containiogycodone HCI. The Laboratory CRO \
provided with a list of all ingredients (active amhctive) contained in each product, allotted ap80 hours total time to complete
evaluations and allowed to use any methodologyrelédio attempt to extract oxycodone HCI from theldgts in a form suitable for I.
injection. Products tested were Acurox™ (oxycodétt@/niacin) Tablets, OxyContin® (oxycodone HCI) Gmiled-Release Tablets, gene
oxycodone HCI Tablets, and Percocet®&ycodone HCl/acetaminophen) Tablets. As set fortthe table below, results were reported &
percent of drug extracted, (ii) time to extractgland (iii) difficulty to extract drug on a scalé 10, 1 being easy and 10 being extrer
difficult. OxyContin® Tablets and generic oxycodoR€l tablets resulted in 71-92% drug extracted i6 Binutes and were rated2lin
relative difficulty. Percocet® Tablets resulted7is% oxycodone HCI extracted in 10 minutes (withwan assisted filtration) and was rated 3-
in relative difficulty. Acurox™ Tablets resulted a“trace” of oxycodone HCI extracted in 355 minutes and vedsd 10 in relative difficult
We intend to utilize the data and results from ghietal laboratory study in our 505(b)(2) NDA suission to the FDA for Acurox™ Tablets.

Summary Results of Acurox™ Tablets Pivotal Laboratoy
Oxycodone Extraction Study (described above)

Approximate laboratory tim

Product Testec required to produce a for Difficulty Rating
Oxycodone HCI Strength suitable for intravenous Extraction Scheme 1=Easyto
and Product Supplier injection and Yield 10 = Difficult
OxyContin® Tablets 3 steps
1x 40mg tablet 3 minutes ~92% Yield 1

Purdue Pharma
Oxycodone HCI Tablets

8 x bmg tablets, 6 minutes -731<§t(\3(?;d 2
Mallinckrodt 0
o S1525my tablets <10 minutes 3 Steps 34
9 with vacuum assisted filtration ~75% Yield
Endo Labs
g(;(ug/);o-rrr?bltz[;ets 355 minutes 23 Steps 10
9 with no success ~0% Yield

Acura Pharmaceuticals
Status and Expectations for Acurox™ Tablets ClinichDevelopment Program

The clinical development program for Acurox™ Tabliet summarized below. At this stage, we cannotigeoanyassurance that FDA will n
require additional clinical studies prior to thagceptance for filing of a 505(b)(2) NDA submissfon Acurox™ Tablets.
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Clinical Studies to Evaluate Pharmacokinetics in Nomal Subjects Status and Expectations
Phase | : Bioequivalence to non Aversiom@chnology Referent Final study report complete. Acurox™ Tablets

AP-ADF-104

Listed Drug bioequivalent to the Reference Listed Drug
Summary report complete.
AP-ADF-108 Phase I: Single dose linearity and food effect Acurox Tablets demonstrate single dose linearity.
Absorption is delayed by food.
AP-ADF-109 Phase I: Multi-dose linearity Expect subject enrollment Q1-08
AP-ADF-110 Phase I: Required only if there is not dose lirtgan Study AP-  As of the date of this Report, we do not anticipate
ADF-108 and Study AP-ADF-109 this study will be required

Studies AP-ADF-108, AP-ADF-109, and if necessary ARDF-110: These are Phase | single dose or nuds¢
pharmacokinetic studies anticipated to enroll apipnately 25-50 normal subjects per study. Study APF-108 was conducted in the fou
quarter of 2007 with the final study report expddtethe first quarter of 2008. AP-ADEJ9 is being conducted in the first quarter of 200
the final study report expected in the second guarft2008. Based on Study AP-AOPB8 summary clinical results, we currently do nelieve
that Study AP-ADF-110 will be necessary.

Clinical Studies to Evaluate Niacin Dose Response Normal Subjects Status and Expectations
AP-ADF-101 Phase I: Niacin dose-response (0-75mg) Final study report complete
AP-ADF-103 Phase II: Repeat dose safety and tolerability Final study report gomplete.
Refer to summary in this Report
AP-ADF-107 Phase II: Niacin dose-response (0-600mg) Final study report complete.

Refer to summary in this Report

Study AP-ADF-103: This study is titled, "A Phase |l Single-Center,nBamized, Double-Blind, Multipl®ose Study in Healtt
Volunteers to Evaluate the Safety and TolerabditNiacin in Combination with 5 mg of an Opioid \&mg of an Opioid Alone." To assess
safety and tolerability of Acurox™ (oxycodone/niacirablets in comparison to oxycodone HCI tabletsout niacin, we conducted this Ph
Il single-center, randomized, douldénd, multiple dose study in 66 healthy adult mahel female volunteers. Subjects were randomlygase
to one of three treatment groups (22 subjects atrhent group). A ruim phase was conducted on an outpatient basisierdays an
included at-home dosing four times daily and advengent and tolerability assessments. The treatpteage followed the ruim-phase and w.
conducted on an inpatient basis for five days. ffhatment phase included dosing with Acurox™ Tab(@tith or without niacin) and post-
treatment safety and tolerability assessmentsc&fi (the tolerability of Acurox™ was evaluated with a Side Effects and Symp
Questionnaire (SESQ) and an AcuroXlerability Rating Scale. Safety was evaluateditlyerse events and clinical laboratory and vigthe
assessments were conducted periodically duringttiy. During the ruin phase, comparable tolerability was demonstrateslibjects wh
took Acurox™ Tablets with and without niacin. Theeam post-dose SESQ total score during theimyskhase was very low in all grot
(highest possible score = 33; Group results = 0.84) indicating that Acurox™ was generally wigdlerated when taken at recommer
doses. During the treatment phase, 64% of suhije&@soups 2 and 3 (oxycodone HCI + niacin) reporil® effects and symptoms and 50¢
subjects in Group 1 (oxycodone alone) reported sffkets and symptoms. Most of the side effectssymdptoms observed during the treatr
phase were mild or moderate in severity. Irrespeatif treatment group, approximately three quaméisubjects reported either “no effeat’
“easy to tolerate” on the Acurox™olerability Rating Scale. Oxycodone HCI administerfour times a day, with or without niacin, \
determined to bavell tolerated. Adverse events were reported by 67 %ubjects throughout both phases of the stutig. ajority of subjec
(55%) reported adverse events during the treatpieste that were considered mild in severity. Neseadverse events were reported in
treatment group and no clinically important treodsr time were observed in any treatment groupitat signs measurements (blood pres:
heart rate, and respiratory rate). We intend tdue the data and results from Study AP-AD®3 in our 505(b)(2) NDA submission to
FDA for Acurox™ Tablets.

11




Study AP-ADF-107: This study is titled "A Phase Il Single-Center, Bamized, Double-Blind Study in Fasted and Non-
Fasted Healthy Volunteers to Evaluate the DRssponse for Flushing and Safety and TolerabilitEscalating Doses of Niacin." The st
objective was to evaluate the dose-response farimiaduced flushing, safety, and tolerability ofacin in the Acurox™Tablet matri:
(excluding oxycodone HCI) at various dose levelbath fasted and fed subjects. This trial was as@hhsingle-center, randomized, double-
blind study in healthy, adult male and female scitsjeA total of 50 subjects were enrolled. The Tremt Phase was conducted on an inpz
basis and included study drug dosing and safetyta@ledability assessments. Each subject receivglot €ioses of niacin (30, 60, 90, 120, :
360, 480, and 600 mg) and three doses of placeiminédered orally in tablet form on eleven sepadsgs in a random sequence. Half of
subjects (n=25) took each dose of study drug fallgwa FDA standardized higiat breakfast and half (h=25) remained fasted fdeast :
hours after study drug administration. Subjectsendischarged from the Clinical Research Unit on Dayapproximately 6 hours after the
dose of study drug administration.

Tolerability was rated by subjects during the Timgait Phase using a Tolerability Rating Scale (TEB®hpleted 3 hours after each dos
study drug. Each subject’s overall reaction toghely drug was recorded using the followingdint scale: 0 = No effect; 1 = Easy to toler
2 = Mildly unpleasant, but tolerable; 3 = Unpleasand difficult to tolerate; 4 = Intolerable and w never take again. The results show
clear niacin dose-response relationship in botheBaand Fed subjects as assessed by fh@m-TRS. The response ranged from little o
effect at low niacin doses (30 to 90 mg) to mofffiadilt and unpleasant symptoms at higher dosesiaxfin (>120 mg). With Fasted subje
there was minimal or no effect of niacin at dose3Mmto 60 mg, witle 96% of subjects reporting either “no effect” or $gdo tolerate”Niacin
was also well tolerated at doses of 90 mg, with 8f%asted subjects reporting either “no effect™easy to tolerate’and 14% reportir
“mildly unpleasant, but tolerableThe absence of any notable effects at low dosegestg that niacin will be well tolerated up to 6@ pe
dose and will likely be well tolerated at 90 mg pese. As niacin doses escalated from 120 to 36Qartrgnsition occurred resulting in a lai
proportion of Fasted subjects (22% to 73%) repgrtimldly unpleasant, unpleasant, or intolerable&t. At doses of 480 and 600 mg, r
Fasted subjects £ 86%) reported mildly unpleasant, unpleasant, ovlémable effects. At least 40% of subjects dosed8it and 600 n
reported either “unpleasant and difficult to totefaor “intolerable and would never take agaifhe higher doses of niacin clearly prodi
undesirable side effects. As anticipated, niacfact$ were mitigated by food. All Fed subjects @)0eceiving 30 to 240 mg niacin repot
“no effect” or “easy to tolerate”. Niacin was algenerally well tolerated at doses of 360 to 600wty most Fed subjectsx 68%) reportin
“no effect” or “easy to tolerate”.

In this study there were no significant adversenever discontinuations due to treatmentergent adverse events (TEAES). None o
TEAES reported were severe in intensity. A cleacim doseresponse relationship was observed in the incidehédss. As expected, the m
frequently reported TEAE in both Fasted and Fedestb was flushing. Flushing occurred more fregilyeim Fasted subjects than in |
subjects with higher incidence as the niacin doseeased. The majority of Fasted subjects (54%886)&eported flushing at doses of 24
600 mg; while the majority of Fed subjects (64%Qared flushing only at a dose of 600 mg. Mosthaf évents of flushing were moderat
intensity. No other safety issues were apparent.iMénd to include the data and results from St&@+ADF-107 in our 505(b)(2) ND.
submission to the FDA for Acurox™ Tablets.

Clinical Studies to Evaluate Tolerability of NasalSnorting and Excess
Oral Doses in Subjects with a History of Opioid Absge Status and Expectations

Phase I. Evaluate effects of nasal snorting inesttbjwith a

AP-ADF-106 history of snorting and nasal drug abuse Expect subject enrollment Q2-08

Phase IlI: Evaluate relative dislike of oxycodonelMi@cin versu:  Final study report complete
AP-ADF-102 o

oxycodone HCI alone Refer to summary in this Report
AP-ADF-111 Phase II: Evaluate abuse liability of oxycodone Mi@kin versus Expect subject enroliment Q1 and Q2-08

oxycodone HCI alone

Study AP-ADF-106: This will be a Phase | clinical study, for use moguct labeling, evaluating the characteristicsrohe:
Acurox™ Tablets when snorted by 12-18 subjects wittistory of opioid abuse. We expect to initiatbject enrollment in this study in Q2-08.
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Study AP-ADF-102: This study is titled, "A Phase Il Single-Center,ndamized, Doublélind Study in Subjects with
History of Opioid Abuse to Evaluate the DdResponse for Flushing and Safety and Tolerabilityarying Doses of Niacin in Combinati
with 40mg of an Opioid vs. 40mg of an Opioid AloAd he study objectives were 1) to determine theed@sponse for niacinduced flushin
in male and female healthy, adult volunteers withistory of opioid abuse when niacin is adminigteire combination with 40 mg oxycodc
HCI; 2) to evaluate the safety and tolerabilitynédcin—induced flushing followingarying niacin doses in combination with 40 mg mgane
HCI in subjects with a history of opioid abuse;t@)confirm the appropriate strength of niacin te irs an Aversion®echnology formulatio
of oxycodone HCI; 4) to determine whether the flaghinduced by niacin is of sufficient intensity deter abuse in a population of subj
with a history of opioid abuse; and 5) to evalua effect of food on niacimduced flushing when niacin is administered in bomation witt
40 mg oxycodone HCI.

This study was a single-center, double-blind, ramided, placebo-controlled, fiveeriod crossover study conducted on an inpatiesishegith £
cohorts of 5 subjects each. Twenty-five subjedise@ female and twentyvo male) were admitted for the study. One malgesittcomplete
the first drug condition but thereafter withdrewrfr the study stating personal reasons unrelatégetstudy. Twentfeur subjects receivec
single dose of study drug every 48 hours for 9 d&ggh subject was randomized to a dosing sequeaténcluded doses of niacin (0, 2
480, and 600 mg) administered in combination widhndg oxycodone HCI while the subjects were fastedays 1, 3, 5, and 7. On Day ¢
dose of 600 mg niacin in combination with 40 mg @xgone HCI was administered following a standadliaghfat breakfast. Each dosi
day, vital sign measures and subjective and behavidfects were assessed before dosing and alp55, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 12 hours ¢
dosing. Vital signs included systolic and diastdliood pressure, heart rate, oral temperature asgiratory rate. Subjective changes \
measured by subject response to a Drug Rating Quoeaire (DRQS). As an additional measure of subjectivectffesubjects completed a
item short form of an Addiction Research Centeeltory (ARCI) that yielded three sub-scale scorasedphoria scale, a dysphoria scale ¢
sedation scale. After completion of the study, eatyj responded to a Treatment Enjoyment Assess@ugtionnaire to select which of
treatments they would take again. Prior to initigtthe study, the hypothesis was that the adddfanacin to oxycodone would produce efft
that are disliked by subjects with a history ofag@iabuse. The maximum scale response to the queé'fio you dislike the drug effect you
feeling now?” {.e. the "Disliking Score"), was designated as phienary efficacy variable. Statistical analysis gmaum dislike response
comparison to 0 mg niacin) was conducted for DR&RSCI scales and vital signs. Study results wertobews:

(1) In the fasting state, all three doses of niacirOf2d, 480mg and 600mg] in combination with oxycodd@eng produced significant
< .05) disliking scores compared to oxycodone 40damea The linear regression across niacin dose medssignificant. No othe
subjective measure was significantly affected kegyrttacin addition to oxycodone.

(2) The high fat meal eliminated the niacin effect otyamdone 40 mg. The high fat meal also delayedtithe to oxycodone peak blo
levels.

(3) The addition of niacin to oxycodone alters the eatiye response to oxycodone as indicated by th@fiiant responses on the dislik
scale. This observation in conjunction with theutessfrom the Treatment Enjoyment Questionnairédatds that the addition of nia
reduces the attractiveness of oxycodone to oplaiseas.

(4) There were no serious adverse events. Niacin pesHacdose related attenuation of pupillary corstric diastolic blood presst
increase and probably systolic blood pressure &sergroduced by oxycodone. The alterations by miawithe vital sign responses
oxycodone 40 mg were minimal, were seen primariththe 600 mg niacin dose and were not clinicaignificant.

The principal study investigator's overall conctusiwas that the results of this pharmacodynamidys{®tudy AP-ADF102) support tr
hypothesis that the addition of niacin to oxycodamea minimal ratio of 30 mg niacin to 5 mg oxycoéois aversive when comparec
oxycodone alone. The addition of niacin does ntarahe safety profile of oxycodone alone. We idtéa include the data and results fi
StudyAP-ADF-102 in our 505(b)(2) NDA submission fiscurox™ Tablets to the FDA.
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Study AP-ADF-111: This will be a Phase Il, single-center, randomdjzéoubleblind assessment of the abuse liabilit
Acurox™ (oxycodone HCl/niacin) Tablets versus oxdaoe HCI alone in approximately 30 subjects withistory of opioid abuse. Tt
clinical study has not been requested by FDA buteing conducted by us with the intent of providedgitional clinical data in support
certain targeted Acurox™ Tablet product label cRiWe expect to conduct this study in the secoradtquof 2008 with the final study rep
expected in the second half of 2008.

Clinical Study to Evaluate Efficacy and Safety in Rtients with Acute .
; Status and Expectations
Moderate to Severe Pain
Special Protocol Assessment (SPA) agreed by FDA.
AP-ADF-105 Phase lllI: Pivotal efficacy and safety Patient enrollment in progress. Anticipate finahiclal

study report in H2-08

Study AP-ADF-105: This study is titled “A Phase Ill, Randomized, Dtsblind, Placebo-controlled, Multicenter, Repeat-
dose Study of the Safety and Efficacy of Acurox™y@done HCI and niacin) Tablets versus PlacebdhfeiTreatment of Acute, Moderate
Severe Postoperative Pain Following Bunionectomyg&y in Adult Patients.”This short term Phase Ill study is planned to é
approximately 400 patients with moderate to sepaig following bunionectomy surgery. The primangdpaint is a reduction in the sum of
pain intensity difference for 48 hours (SPID 48) &ative drugs versus placebo. We submitted thadygpwotocol to the FDA and requested
received agreement for a Special Protocol AssessfieRA"). Clinical protocols for Phase Ill trialghose data will form the primary basis
an efficacy claim are eligible for a SPA. A SPArfrahe FDA is an agreement that the Phase Il miatocol design, clinical endpoints, ¢
statistical analyses plan are acceptable to suppgulatory approval and is binding upon the FDAeas a substantial scientific issue esse
to determining safety or efficacy is identifiedeafthe testing is begun. On June 19, 2007, we amasalthat we had reached agreement wit
FDA on the SPA for Study AP-ADEO5. We began enrolling patients in September 20€7vtop line results anticipated in the third gearol
2008. We expect to submit a 505(b)(2) NDA for Acud Tablets prior to the end of 2008.

Expectations for Acurox™ Tablets Product Labeling

In the U.S., every product approved for commerzaion pursuant to an NDA must be marketed in atxore with its FDA approvi
indications and associated product labeling. Thé RBs provided written guidance to us stating #ratndication for abuse deterrence mu
supported by data from two adequate and wefitrolled clinical trials. We do not intend to kean indication for abuse deterrence
Acurox™ Tablets. Instead, we are seeking an indinafor Acurox™ Tablets for treatment of moderatentoderately severe pain. The F
has also provided written guidance to us statireg anguage regarding abuse deterrence (as opposedindication for abuse deterren
which is supported by rigorous, scientific datayrba placed into appropriate sections of the Aclifokablet product label. In this regard,
intend to seek FDA approval of language in the AglY¥ Tablet product label describing the physicarelteristics of the product and lik
results if attempts are made to dissolve tabletolaents suitable for intravenous injection, andfoort crushed tablets, and/or swallow ex
quantities of tablets. We believe this product laigestrategy will provide a viable promotional fitam for the commercialization of Acurox
Tablets and other product candidates utilizing Ai@T® Technology. At this stage there can be no assusahet our product labeling strate
for Acurox™ Tablets will be successful or that FRpproved product labeling, if any, will provide ialMe commercialization platform.

Competition

We compete to varying degrees with numerous coneganithe pharmaceutical research, developmentyfaetaring and commercializati
fields. Most of our competitors have substantigltgater financial and other resources and aretatgepend more funds and effort than L
research and development of their competitive teldyies and products. Although a larger company witeater resources than us will
necessarily have a higher likelihood of receiviagulatory approval for a particular product or teaogy as compared to a smaller compe
the company with a larger research and developmependiture will be in a position to support moevelopment projects simultaneou
thereby improving the likelihood of obtaining regtdry approval of a commercially viable producterhnology than its smaller rivals.

14




We believe competitors may be developing opioidsabdeterrent technologies and products. Such caongeinclude, but may not be limit
to, Alpharma Inc. of Fort Lee, NJ, Elite Pharmaazls, Inc. of Northvale, NJ, Pain TherapeuticSofith San Francisco, CA, (in collabora
with King Pharmaceuticals of Bristol, TN), PurdudaPma of Stamford, CT, Endo Pharmaceuticals of @kalord, PA, Neuromi
Pharmaceuticals, of Vancouver, BC and Collegiumridhaeuticals, Inc., of Cumberland, RIl. These corgsaappear to have focused t
development efforts on extended release opioid ymsd(commonly prescribed for relief of chronic pain fturations ranging from seve
weeks to several months or longer ) while our Ipextiuct candidate, Acurox™ Tablets, and other Ave® Technology product candida
under development, are immediate release produnté commonly prescribed for relief of acute paindurations of generally less than
days). We estimate the U.S. market for opioid analgesassuming brand pricing for all products, woutdapproximately $14 Billion and ¢
be segmented by immediate release versus extealtede products as follows:

Immediate Release Products Extended Release Products
Dispensed R's?1 221 Million 14 Million
Ratio of Dispensed Fs? 16:1
Ratio of Abuse? 10:1
Estimated Ratio of $ Market Potent3 4:1
Identified Competitors Acura in collaboration with King 1. Alpharma
2. Pain Therapeutics
3. Purdue
4, Endo
5. Elite
6. Neuromed
7. Collegium

1 IMS America 12 months ending 9/30/GMNational Survey on Drug Use and Health Report,d<22, 2006
3 Assuming brand pricing

Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment; the reseasstelopment and manufacture of innovative abusermdgie orally administere
pharmaceutical product candidates.

Government Regulation

All pharmaceutical firms, including us, are subjeztextensive regulation by the federal governmprihcipally by the U.S. Food and D1
Administration ("FDA"), and, to a lesser extent, digite and local governments. Additionally, we surbject to extensive regulation by the C
Enforcement Administration ("DEA") for researchvé®pment and manufacturing of controlled substan@ée are also subject to regula
under federal, state and local laws, including nexments regarding occupational safety, laborafmactices, environmental protection
hazardous substance control, and may be subjetihé¢o present and future local, state, federalfarelgn regulations, including possible fut
regulations of the pharmaceutical industry. We carpredict the extent to which we may be affectgdldyislative and other regulatc
developments concerning our products and the tezakthindustry in general.

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (the "FD&eE"), the Controlled Substances Act and otheefallstatutes and regulations go\
or influence the testing, manufacture, labelingrage, record keeping, approval, pricing, advewjsipromotion, sale and distribution
pharmaceutical products. Noncompliance with appleaequirements can result in fines, recall oz of products, criminal proceedir
total or partial suspension of production, and saflof the government to enter into supply consractto approve new drug applications.
FDA also has the authority to revoke or withholgegvals of new drug applications.

The Federal Controlled Substances Act imposes waricegistration, recorlleeping and reporting requirements, procurement
manufacturing quotas, labeling and packaging reguénts, security controls and a restriction ongieion refills on certain pharmaceuti
products. A principal factor in determining the tgarlar requirements, if any, applicable to a pratds its actual or potential abuse profile
pharmaceutical product may be “scheduled” as a CHl, C-lll, C-IV or C-V controlled substance, \witC4 substances considered to pre
the highest risk of substance abuse and glibstances the lowest. Because of the potemtigdliuse, opioid containing drugs, including
Acurox™ Tablets, are regulated, or scheduled, urtderControlled Substances Act. Any of our prodcahdidates containing an opi
analgesic will be subject to such regulation. As thtage, because it contains oxycodone HCI, aiclauwe believe that Acurox™ Tablets
be a DEA C-Il product.
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FDA approval is required before any "new drug,” ¢cenmarketed. A "new drug" is one not generallyogeized by the FDA as safe ¢
effective for its intended use. Such approval ningsbased on adequate and well controlled laboratodyclinical investigations. In addition
providing required safety and effectiveness dataFIDA approval, a drug manufacturer's practices protedures must conform to cun
Good Manufacturing Practice Regulations ("cGMP@hjch apply to the manufacture, receiving, holdamgl shipping of all drugs, whethel
not approved by the FDA. To ensure full compliamgth relevant standards, some of which are sehfortregulations, we must continue
expend time, money and effort in all applicableaareelating to quality assurance. Failure to sogigirisks delays in approval of drugs
possible FDA enforcement actions, such as an itjpmagainst shipment of products, the seizureoof-ecomplying products, and/or, in serit
cases, criminal prosecution. We are subject tmgarinspection by the FDA and DEA.

The FDA Pharmaceutical Product Approval Process

The process of drug development is complex andigmand the activities undertaken before a newmphaeutical product may be markete
the U.S. include but are not limited to; preclinistudies, submission to the FDA of an InvestigagioNew Drug Application ("IND"), whic
must become effective before human clinical tredsnmence, followed by adequate and weelftrolled human clinical trials to establish
safety and efficacy of the product, submissiorhEDA of a NDA, and FDA approval of the NDA primrany commercial sale of the proc
in the U.S. Preclinical studies include laboratewaluation of product chemistry and formulationd &m some cases, animal studies and «
studies to assess the potential safety and effiohtlye product candidate. The results of prediihgtudies are then submitted to the FDA
part of an IND and are reviewed by the FDA priorthe commencement of human clinical trials. Unldss FDA objects to, or otherwi
responds to, an IND submission, the IND becomesctife 30 days following its receipt by the FDA. ran clinical trials are typical
conducted in three phases that often overlap:

Phase |:The drug is initially introduced into healthy humsubjects or patients and tested for safety, dosdgrnce, absorption, metaboli:
distribution and excretion. In addition, it is sdimees possible to conduct a preliminary evaluatibefficacy in Phase | trials for analgesia.

Phase II: This phase involves studies in a limited patienhommal subject population to identify possible eicbe effects and safety risks
evaluate the efficacy of the product for specifirgeted diseases and to determine optimal dosabml@nance.

Phase Ill: When Phase Il evaluations demonstrate that a dosage of the product is effective and has an aabépsafety profile, Phase
trials are undertaken to further evaluate dosdgecal efficacy and to further test for safetyan expanded patient population at geographi
dispersed clinical study sites.

After clinical trials have been completed, the sgmnmust submit to the FDA the results of the pnéedl and clinical testing, together wi
among other things, detailed information on the ufiacture and composition of the product, in a NemdApplication ("NDA"). There a
two primary types of NDAs; a 505(b)(1) and a 508Zh)A 505(b)(1) NDA is also known as a "full NDA&hd is described by section 505(b
of the FD&C Act as an application containing fudpiorts of investigations of safety and effectiven@s addition to other information. The ¢
in a full NDA is either owned by the applicant erdata for which the applicant has obtained a rigmeference. A 505(b)(2) application is
described under section 505(b)(2) of the act asygpiication for which one or more of the investigas relied upon by the applicant
approval "were not conducted by or for the appliGard for which the applicant has not obtainedyhtrof reference or use from the perso
or for whom the investigations were conducted" (2$.C. 355(b)(2)). This provision expressly perniB3A to rely for approval of an NDA «
data not developed by the applicant, such as fhedisiterature or the FDA's finding of safety arffetiveness of a previously approved d
505(b)(2) applications are submitted under seddi@®(b)(1) of the act and are therefore subjechéoseme statutory provisions that govern 50&
(b)(1) applications that require among other thjrigsll reports” of safety and effectivenesghe FDA has provided written guidance tc
stating that Acurox™ Tablets is a suitable produgtdidate for submission as a 505(b)(2) NDA.
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After an NDA is submitted by an applicant and atedpfor filing by the FDA, the FDA will then reviewhe NDA and, if and when
determines that the data submitted are adequatete that the product is safe and effective fomtsnded use, the FDA will approve the N
for commercial distribution in the U.S. There canrto assurance that any of our product candidateseeeive FDA approval.

Whether or not FDA approval has been obtained,ayas from comparable governmental regulatory attike in foreign countries must be
obtained prior to the commencement of clinicall$rend subsequent sales and marketing effortoosetbountries. The approval procedure
varies in complexity from country to country, ahe time required may be longer or shorter thanrigtired for FDA approval.
Environmental Compliance

In addition to regulation by the FDA and DEA, we aubject to regulation under federal, state aodllenvironmental laws. We believe we
in material compliance with applicable environméfasvs and since 2004 have incurred the normal evdisiposal cost associated with si
scale pilot plant and laboratory operations.

Raw Materials

To purchase certain active ingredients requiredordevelopment and manufacture of product cameldatilizing our Aversion@ echnology
we are required to file for and obtain quotas frihia DEA. No assurance can be given that we wilsliecessful in obtaining adequate C
guotas in a timely manner. Even assuming adequeatdimely DEA quotas, there can be no assuranegdtie approved manufacturers of
materials for our product candidates will supply wigh our requirements for the active ingrediengsjuired for the development ¢
manufacture of our product candidates.

Subsidiaries

Our Culver, Indiana research, development, and faaturing operations are conducted by Acura Phaeoiézal Technologies, Inc.,
Indiana corporation and our wholly-owned subsidiary

Directors, Executive Officers, and Employees

Our directors and executive officers are as foltows

NAME AGE POSITION

Andrew D. Reddick 55 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Ron J. Spivey 61 Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Officer
Peter A. Clemens 55 Senior Vice President, Chief Financial Officer &etretary
James F. Emigh 52 Vice President of Marketing and Administration
Robert A. Seiser 44 Vice President, Corporate Controller and Treasurer
Bruce F. Wesson 65 Director

William A. Sumner 70 Director

Richard J. Markham 57 Director

William G. Skelly 56 Director

Immanuel Thangaraj 37 Director

George K. Ross 66 Director

Andrew D. Reddick has been President and Chief lkex Officer since August, 2003 and a member of Board of Directors since Augu
2004. From April, 2000 to September, 2002 Mr. Rekidvas Chief Operating Officer and Sr. Vice Prestdeommercial Operations for Ado
Corporation and from June, 1999 to March, 2000drgesl as President of Faulding Laboratories, Inc. Réddick holds a Bachelor of A
degree in Biology from the University of Califorréad a Masters of Business Administration degrem fbuke University.
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Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., has been Senior Vice PresatehChief Scientific Officer since April, 2004rdfn June, 2002 to March, 2004 Dr. Spi
was President of Gibraltar Associates, a privatesatting services company for the pharmaceutiacdistry. From March, 1998 to May, 2(
he served as Vice President, Scientific Affairs Afpharma/Purepac Pharmaceuticals. Dr. Spivey halBschelor of Arts degree from Indi:
University and a Ph.D. degree in pharmaceutics fiteerUniversity of lowa.

Peter A. Clemens has been Senior Vice Presidemgf Emancial Officer and Secretary since April 2004r. Clemens was our Vice Presid
Chief Financial Officer and Secretary from Februa®®8 to March 2004 and a member of our Board oé®@drs from June, 1998 to Augt
2004. Mr. Clemens is a Certified Public Accountant earned a Bachelor of Business Administratiagrese from the University of Not
Dame and a Masters of Business Administration fhadiana University.

James F. Emigh has been Vice President of Marketimy Administration since April 2004. Prior to sutitme, Mr. Emigh was our Vic
President of Sales and Marketing. Mr. Emigh joinedn May, 1998, serving first as Executive DireabCustomer Relations and then as
President of Operations until November, 2002. Mmigh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy degree from Waghnh State University anc
Masters of Business Administration from George MeSaiversity.

Robert A. Seiser has been a Vice President, Cag@antroller and Treasurer since April 2004. Meis8r joined us in March 1998 as
Corporate Controller and Treasurer. Mr. Seiser @edified Public Accountant and earned a BachefdBusiness Administration degree fr
Loyola University of Chicago.

Bruce F. Wesson has been a member of our Boardre€tdrs since March, 1998. Mr. Wesson has beearmé& of Galen Associates, a he
care venture firm, and a General Partner of GaketnBrs lll, L.P. since January 1991. Prior to 2qapul991, he was Senior Vice President
Managing Director of Smith Barney, Harris Upham &.CGnc., an investment banking firm. He currergbrves on the Boards of Det
Sciences, Inc., and Chemtura Corporation, eachhkdicputraded company. Mr. Wesson earned a BachefoArts degree from Colge
University and a Masters of Business Administrafrmm Columbia University.

William A. Sumner has been a member of our BoarBioéctors since August, 1997. From 1974 untildesrement in 1995, Mr. Sumner h
various positions within Hoech&eussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc., including Vice Fessi and General Manager, Dermatology Division
1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strategic Bssineevelopment, from 1989 to 1991 and Vice Presjddarketing from 1985 to 19¢€
Since his retirement from HoechRbussel Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in 1995, Mr. Sumasrderved as a consultant in the pharmaceuticasiryg
Mr. Sumner earned a Bachelor of Arts degree fronmfdlair State University and a Master of Arts degimm the University of Virginia.

Richard J. Markham has been a member of our Bohiirectors since May, 2006. Since November, 2004 Markham has served a
partner at Care Capital, LLC, a venture capitahfthat primarily invests in life sciences companieom May 2002 until August 2004, I
Markham was the Vice Chairman of the Management@®aad Chief Operating Officer of Aventis SA. Fr@arcember, 1999 until May, 20
he was the Chief Executive Officer of Aventis Phar&G. Previously he was the Chief Executive OffioéHoechst Marion Roussel, 1
President and Chief Operating Officer of Marion k#rDow, Inc. and a member of its board of direstd~rom 1973 to 1993 Mr. Markh:
was associated with Merck & Co. Inc., culminatimghis position as President and Chief Operatingc®ff Mr. Markham received a B.S.
Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences from Purdivendity.

William G. Skelly has been a member of our Boar@®oéctors since May, 1996 and served as our Clairfrom October, 1996 through Ju
2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly has served as Chairegsident and Chief Executive Officer of CenBadmedia, Inc. and its subsidiary SEF
Inc. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly served as Pesicbf Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc. Mr. Skelly edrrmeBachelor of Arts degree fri
Michigan State University and a Masters of Busirgsiinistration from the University of Missouri-Kaas City.

Immanuel Thangaraj has been a member of our Bddbitectors since December, 2002. Mr. Thangarajideen a Managing Director of Es
Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture capital fipacgalizing in the healthcare industry, since 198Tior to joining Essex Woodlands He:i
Ventures, he helped establish a telecommunicaBovices company, for which he served as its CEQ.TWangaraj holds a Bachelor of £
and a Masters in Business Administration from tmévérsity of Chicago.
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George Ross has been a member of our Board oftDigesince January, 2008. Since April 2002, Mr. Rleas been a consultant to early <
businesses and a financial investor. Since Jubb2®: has served as Executive Director, Greater Xewk for World Vision. His busine
career has included senior financial officer andrdanember positions with both public and privadenpanies in diverse industries. Mr. R
was Executive Vice President and Chief Financidic®f and a board member of Tier Technologies fran February 1997 to January 2C
which became a public company during this period. Rbss is a Certified Public Accountant and eam&#hchelor of Arts degree from O
Wesleyan University and a Masters of Business Adstration from Ohio State University.

As of the date of this Report, the Company had dlttime employees, nine of whom are engaged in theareh, development a
manufacture of product candidates utilizing the ®ien® Technology. The remaining employees are engageddministrative, lege
accounting, finance, market research, businesslafmwent and product licensing activities. Most air csenior management and
professional employees have had prior experiencpharmaceutical or biotechnology companies. Nonewf employees is covered
collective bargaining agreements. We believe thatelations with our employees are good.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our future operating results may vary substantifihyn anticipated results due to a number of fagtarany of which are beyond «
control. The following discussion highlights sonfeleese factors and the possible impact of thestrfa on future results of operations. If
of the following factors actually occur, our busssefinancial condition or results of operationsildobe materially harmed. In that case,
value of our common stock could decline substdutial

Risks Relating to Our Business and | ndustry

We have a History of Operating Losses and May Not ¢hieve Profitability Sufficient to Generate a Posive Return on
Shareholders’ Investment.

We had a net loss of $4.3 million for the year ehBecember 31, 2007 and net losses of $6.0 milliwth $12.1 million for calend
years 2006, and 2005, respectively. At December28D7, our accumulated deficit was approximatel21$3 million. Our consolidats
financial statements for the calendar years 200852nd 2004 were prepared on a “going conckasis. Our future profitability will depe
on several factors, including: (i) our receipt ofestone payments and royalties relating to prasluetveloped and commercialized undet
license agreement with King Pharmaceuticals Rekeand Development, Inc. (“King”) (as more fully deibed in Item 1, Business King
Agreement”), and (ii) the successful commercialratby King and other future licensees (if any)pobducts incorporating our Aversién
Technology without infringing the patents and othgellectual property rights of third parties. Wannot assure you that we will ever ha
product approved for commercialization by the FDARat we or our licensees will bring any prodwxtrtarket.

We recognized revenue of $6.6 million in the quaeteded December 31, 2007 from payments receivddrihe King Agreement a
interest income. However, we have not yet generatgdrevenues from product sales. Even if we sutageeommercializing one or more
our product candidates, we expect to continue éocash resources in our operations for the forésedature. We anticipate that our expel
may increase in the foreseeable future as a rekatintinued development of our product candidatesintaining, defending and expanding
scope of our intellectual property, and the hirfigadditional personnel.

We will need to generate royalty revenues from pobdales to achieve and maintain profitabilitywl cannot successfully devel
obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize moduct candidates licensed to King under thegkigreement or other product candid
under similar license agreements anticipated todgmtiated and executed with other pharmaceutaalpany partners, of which no assure
can be given, we will not be able to generate saghlty revenues or achieve future profitabilityur@ailure to achieve or maintain profitabil
would have a material adverse impact on the mamiet¢ of our common stock.
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We Must Rely on Current Cash Reserves, Technologyitensing Fees and Third Party Financing to Fund Opmtions

Pending the receipt of milestone payments and fiegalif any, under the King Agreement or underikimlicense agreemet
anticipated to be negotiated and executed withrgtharmaceutical company partners, of which norasse can be given, we must rely on
current cash reserves and thparty financing to fund operations and product dgweent activities. No assurance can be given ¢haten
cash reserves will be sufficient to fund the camdith operations and development of our product datel$ until such time as we gene
additional revenue from the King Agreement or sémilicense agreements anticipated to be negotiatetl executed with the otl
pharmaceutical company partners. Moreover, no assarcan be given that we will be successful simgiadditional financing or, if funding
obtained, that such funding will be sufficient tonél operations until product candidates incorpogatbur Aversion®Technology may k
commercialized.

Our Product Candidates Are Based on Technology ThaCould Ultimately Prove Ineffective

We are committing a majority of our resources #® dievelopment of Acurox™ (oxycodone HCI and niadiablets and other prodi
candidates incorporating our Aversion® Technolof§giditional clinical and norelinical testing will be required to continue demginent o
Acurox™ Tablets and for the development, prepanagiod submission of a 505(b)(2) New Drug ApplicatftNDA”") with the FDA. There cz
be no assurance that Acurox™ Tablets or any othmtyet candidate developed using Aversioh@hnology will achieve the primary €
points in the required clinical studies or perfoasintended in other pinical and clinical studies leading to commergialiable produc
candidates, product labeling, or leading to a N#rsission. If a NDA is submitted to the FDA for Aou™ Tablets or any other prod
candidates, there can be no assurances that the ADAccept such submission for filing and subsatfly approve such NDA wi
commercially viable product labeling or to ultimigtapprove such product candidates for commerdggtidution. Our failure to successfu
develop and achieve final FDA approval of a prodtemdidate utilizing Aversion®&echnology will have a material adverse effect or
financial condition.

If Pre-Clinical or Clinical Testing For Our Product Candid ates Are Unsuccessful or Delayed, We Will Be Unabte Meet Our
Anticipated Development and Commercialization Timahes

To obtain FDA approval to commercially market arfyoar product candidates, we or our licensees rauBinit to the FDA a ND
demonstrating, among other things, that the prodantlidate is safe and effective for its intendsel. T his demonstration requires signifit
pre<linical and clinical testing. As we do not posstss resources or employ all the personnel necgssasonduct such testing, we rely
contract research organizations (“CRO®& the majority of this testing with our producrdidates. As a result, we have less control oue
development program than if we performed the tgseéntirely on our own. Third parties may not pemotheir responsibilities on ¢
anticipated schedule. Delays in our developmengnams could significantly increase our product digwment costs and delay prod
commercialization. In addition, many of the facttrat may cause, or lead to a delay in the devetopmprogram, may also ultimately leac
denial of regulatory approval of a product candidat

The commencement of clinical trials with our prodcendidates may be delayed for several reasotlsding but not limited to dela
in demonstrating sufficient prainical safety required to obtain regulatory apmioto commence a clinical trial, reaching agreetsiear
acceptable terms with prospective licensees, matwfag and quality assurance release of a suffidepply of a product candidate for us
our clinical trials and/or obtaining institutionaview board approval to conduct a clinical trinhgrospective clinical site. Once a clinicall
has begun, it may be delayed, suspended or temitmt us or regulatory authorities due to sevexetiors, including ongoing discussions \
regulatory authorities regarding the scope or desifj our clinical trials, failure to conduct climk trials in accordance with regulat
requirements, lower than anticipated recruitmentedention rate of patients in clinical trials, piestion of the clinical trial operations or t
sites by regulatory authorities, the impositioractlinical hold by FDA, lack of adequate fundingcntinue clinical trials, and/or negative
unanticipated results of clinical trials.
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Clinical trials required by the FDA for commercaproval, may not demonstrate safety or efficacgusfproduct candidates. Succ
in pre<linical testing and early clinical trials does restsure that later clinical trials will be successResults of later clinical trials may 1
replicate the results of prior clinical trials apee-clinical testing. Even if the results of our piviopdase 11l clinical trials are positive, we ¢
our licensees may have to commit substantial tinteadditional resources to conduct further gieical and clinical studies before we or
licensees can submit NDAs or obtain regulatory epgrfor our product candidates.

Clinical trials may be expensive and difficult tesign and implement, in part because they are cubjerigorous regulato
requirements. Further, if participating subjectpatients in clinical studies suffer druglated adverse reactions during the course of siah
or if we, our licensees or the FDA believes thatipigating patients are being exposed to unactdptaealth risks, we or our licensees |
suspend the clinical trials. Failure can occur ay atage of the trials, and we or our licenseesldc@ncounter problems causing
abandonment of clinical trials or the need to cadualditional clinical studies, relating to a protloandidate.

Even if our clinical trials are completed as plashrtbeir results may not support commercially véaptoduct label claims. The clini
trial process may fail to demonstrate that our pobetandidates are safe and effective for the@mided use. Such failure would cause us ¢
licensees to abandon a product candidate and niay tthe development of other product candidates.

We or Our Licensees May Not Obtain Required FDA Appoval; the FDA Approval Process is Time-Consuming ad Expensive

The development, testing, manufacturing, markegind sale of pharmaceutical products are subjesttensive federal, state and Ic
regulation in the United States and other count@adisfaction of all regulatory requirements tyig takes many years, is dependent upo
type, complexity and novelty of the product cantigaand requires the expenditure of substantiaurees for research, development
testing. Substantially all of our operations arbjsct to compliance with FDA regulations. Failuoeaidhere to applicable FDA regulations b
or our licensees would have a material adverseteffie our operations and financial condition. Imigidn, in the event we are successft
developing product candidates for sale in othentries, we would become subject to regulation ichstountries. Such foreign regulations
product approval requirements are expected tonfe ¢dionsuming and expensive.

We or our licensees may encounter delays or rejestiluring any stage of the regulatory approvatgse based upon the failure
clinical or laboratory data to demonstrate comm@mwith, or upon the failure of the product cantiédato meet, the FDA’requirements fi
safety, efficacy and quality; and those requiremenay become more stringent due to changes inaegylagency policy or the adoptior
new regulations. After submission of an NDA, orGb&)(2) NDA the FDA may refuse to file the apptioa, deny approval of the applicati
require additional testing or data and/or requstfnarketing testing and surveillance to monitor thfety or efficacy of a product. The FI
commonly takes one to two years to grant final apakrfor a NDA, or 505(b)(2) NDA. Further, the tesraf approval of any NDA including t
product labeling may be more restrictive than weoor licensees desire and could affect the markgyabf products incorporating o
Aversion® Technology.

Even if we comply with all FDA regulatory requirenie we or our licensees may never obtain regulaapgroval for any of ol
product candidates. If we or our licensees faibldain regulatory approval for any of our produandidates, we will have fewer sale¢
products and correspondingly lower revenues. Eeggulatory approval of our products is receiveah approval may involve limitations
the indicated uses or promotional claims we orlimensees may make for our products.

The FDA also has the authority to revoke or suspemglovals of previously approved products for eaus debar companies ¢
individuals from participating in the drugpproval process, to request recalls of allegediative products, to seize allegedly violal
products, to obtain injunctions to close manufaotuplants allegedly not operating in conformitytlwcurrent Good Manufacturing Practi
(cGMP) and to stop shipments of allegedly violatpreducts. In the event the FDA takes any suctoaatlating to our products, (if any
approved by FDA) would have a material adverseceffe our operations and financial condition.
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We Must Maintain FDA Approval to Manufacture Clinic al Supplies of Our Product Candidates at Our Facilly; Failure to
Maintain Compliance with FDA Requirements May Preveat or Delay the Manufacture of Our Product Candidates and Costs ¢
Manufacture May Be Higher Than Expected

We have constructed and installed the equipmerdgssacy to manufacture clinical trial supplies of Auersion®Technology produ
candidates in tablet formulations at our Culvedidna facility. To be used in clinical trials, afl our product candidates must be manufact
in conformity with current Good Manufacturing Priaet (cGMP) regulations as interpreted and enforogdthe FDA. All such produ
candidates must be manufactured, packaged, antedabad stored in accordance with cGMPs. Modifwadj enhancements or change
manufacturing sites of marketed products are, inyn@rcumstances, subject to FDA approval, whicly iba subject to a lengthy applicat
process or which we may be unable to obtain. OuveZulndiana facility, and those of any thipdrty manufacturers that we or our licen:
may use, are periodically subject to inspectionttiy FDA and other governmental agencies, and dpagat these facilities could
interrupted or halted if such inspections are usfadtory. Failure to comply with FDA or other gomenental regulations can result in fir
unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall @use of products, total or partial suspension mfdopiction or distribution, suspension of F
review of our product candidates, termination ofaing research, disqualification of data for sulsiois to regulatory authorities, enforcen
actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Vendt have the facilities, equipment or personaehainufacture commercial quantities of
product candidates and therefore must rely onicensees or other qualified companies with appadpracilities and equipment to conti
manufacture commercial quantities of productsaitig our Aversion® Technology.

We Develop and Formulate Our Products, and Manufaatre Laboratory and Clinical Supplies, at a Single location. Any
Disruption at this Facility Could Adversely Affect Our Business and Results of Operations.

We rely on our Culver, Indiana facility to condube development and formulation of our product édatgts and the manufacture
laboratory and clinical supplies of our product didates. If the Culver, Indiana facility were daradgor destroyed, it would be difficult
replace and could require substantial I&atk to repair or replace. If this facility werefedted by a disaster, we would be forced to rel
third-party contract research organizations and manufastuAlthough we believe we possess adequateanserfor damage to our prope
and for the disruption of our business from casesltsuch insurance may not be sufficient to calkeof our potential losses and may
continue to be available to us on acceptable teomat all. Any disruptions or delays at our CulMadiana facility could impair our ability
develop our product candidates incorporating ther8ion® Technology, which could adversely affeat lbusiness and results of operations.

Our Operations are Subject to Environmental, Healthand Safety, and other Laws and Regulations, with lich Compliance i¢
Costly and which Exposes us to Penalties for Non-@wpliance

Our business, properties and product candidatesudnject to federal, state and local laws and egguis relating to the protection
the environment, natural resources and worker iheeidtl safety and the use, management, storageigpabdl of hazardous substances, v
and other regulated materials. Because we own padate real property, various environmental lavg® athay impose liability on us for t
costs of cleaning up and responding to hazardobstaoces that may have been released on our propertuding releases unknown to
These environmental laws and regulations also cagdire us to pay for environmental remediatiod egsponse costs at thiparty location
where we dispose of or recycle hazardous substafbescosts of complying with these various envinental requirements, as they now ¢
or may be altered in the future, could adversdigcafour financial condition and results of opevas.

If Our Licensees Do Not Satisfy Their ObligationsWe Will Be Unable to Develop Our Licensed Product @ndidates

On October 30, 2007, we entered into an Agreemédtit Ming Pharmaceuticals Research and Developnment ('King”) (as mor
fully described in Item 1, Business - “King Agreeamti®. The closing of the King Agreement was completedacember 7, 2007 and on t
date we received from King the upfront $30 millison-refundable cash payment specified in the Kigge&mentOur future revenue, if ar
will be derived from milestone payments and rogaltunder the King Agreement and under similar Beeagreements anticipated tc
potentially negotiated and executed with other ptaeutical company partners. No assurance canvie giat we will receive the milestc
and royalty payments provided for in the King Agresat, or that we will be successful in enteringoisimilar agreements with ott
pharmaceutical companies to develop and commezeiplioducts incorporating the Aversion® Technology.
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As part of such license agreements, we will notehday-today control over the activities of our licenseethwespect to any prodt
candidate. If a licensee fails to fulfill its obdiions under an agreement with us, we may be unaldssume the development of the pro
covered by that agreement or to enter into alter@adrrangements with another thjpdsty. In addition, we may encounter delays in
commercialization of the product candidate thahes subject of a license agreement. Accordingly,ahility to receive any revenue from
product candidates covered by such agreementsbeifiependent on the efforts of our licensee. Wddcba involved in disputes with
licensee, which could lead to delays in or termarabf, our development and commercialization paogs and result in time consuming
expensive litigation or arbitration. In additiomyasuch dispute could diminish our licensee's coiment to us and reduce the resources
devote to developing and commercializing our praslulé any licensee terminates or breaches itsesgeat, or otherwise fails to complete
obligations in a timely manner, our chances of sasfullydeveloping or commercializing our product candidat®uld be materially advers:
effected. Additionally, due to the nature of therkes for our product candidates, it may be necgsfarus to license all or a significant port
of our product candidates to a single company themiminating our opportunity to commercialize ethproduct candidates with ot
licensees.

If We Fail to Maintain our Strategic Alliance with King, We May Have to Reduce or Delay our Product Cadidate
Development

Our plan for developing, manufacturing and comnadizing Acurox™ Tablets and other opioid analgepiroduct candidat
incorporating our Aversion@echnology currently requires us to successfullyntain our strategic alliance with King to advaroe program
and provide funding to support our expendituresAanrox™ Tablets and other opioid analgesic prociarididates. If we are not able
maintain our existing strategic alliance with Kingg may have to limit the size or scope of, or yelaabandon the development of, Acura
Tablets and other opioid analgesic product cand&@lat undertake and fund development of these ptamhndidates ourselves. If we w
required to fund drug development efforts with extgo Acurox™ Tablets and other opioid analgesarpct candidates on our own, we t
need to obtain additional capital, which may notbeilable on acceptable terms, or at all.

If King Is Not Successful in Commercializing AcuroX™ Tablets and other Licensed Product Candidates Imarporating the
Aversion ®Technology our Revenues and our Busine¥gill Suffer

Our ability to commercialize Acurox™ Tablets antiet product candidates licensed under the King &gent and generate royal
from sales of such products will depend on Kigbilities in assisting us in developing such petsl and in obtaining and maintain
regulatory approval and achieving market acceptaficeich products once commercialized. King mayproteed with the commercializat
of Acurox™ Tablets and other product candidatesniéed under the King Agreement with the same degfraegency as we would becaus:
other priorities they face. If King is not succedsh commercializing Acurox™ Tablets for a variatf reasons, including but not limited
competition from other pharmaceutical companiesif ¢€ing fails to perform as we expect, our potahtior future revenue from produ
developed under the King Agreement, if any, codditamatically reduced and our business and oandial condition would suffer.

The Market May Not Be Receptive to Products Incorpeating Our Aversion® Technology

The commercial success of products incorporatinrgfeersion®Technology approved for marketing by the FDA arteotregulator
authorities will depend on acceptance by healtk paoviders and others that such products arecaligiuseful, coseffective and safe. The
can be no assurance given, even if we or our leensucceed in the development of products incatipgrour Aversion®Technology an
receive FDA approval for such products, that prdslirecorporating the Aversion®echnology would be accepted by health care prosidac

others. Factors that may materially affect markeeatance of products incorporating our Aversior&®fnology include but are not limited to:

« the relative advantages and disadvantages of oersfon® Technology compared to competitive products
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« the relative timing to commercial launch of produgtilizing our Aversion® Technology compared tongetitive products;
« the relative safety and efficacy of products incogting our Aversion® Technology compared to coritipetproducts; and
« the willingness of third party payors to reimbufgeor otherwise pay for products incorporating daersion® Technology.

Our product candidates, if successfully developed eommercially launched, will compete with bothremtly marketed and ne
products marketed by other companies. Health cereigers may not accept or utilize any of our prtdcandidates. Physicians and o
prescribers may not be inclined to prescribe tlogpets utilizing our Aversion@&echnology unless our products bring clear and dhestnabl
advantages over other products currently markesedhe same indications. If our products do notieh market acceptance, we may nc
able to generate significant revenues or becomiitgdote.

If We, Our Licensees or Others Identify Side Affecs Relating to any of Our Products Once on the Marke We May Be
Required to Withdraw Our Products from the Market, which would Hinder or Preclude Our Ability to Generate Revenues

As part of our and our licensees posarket regulatory responsibilities for our produete or our licensees are required to repo
serious injuries or deaths involving our produtftsve, our licensees or others identify side effeafter any of our products are on the market:

» Regulatory authorities may withdraw their approwaisuch products;
 We or our licensees may be required to reformwateproducts;

« We or our licensees may have to recall the affepteducts from the market and may not be able ttoduce them onto tl
market;

«  Our reputation in the marketplace may suffer; and
« We may become the target of lawsuits, includingslactions suits.

Any of these events could harm or prevent salethefaffected products and could materially advgrsdlect our business a
financial condition.

In the Event That We or Our Licensees Are Succesdfin Bringing Any Products to Market, Our RevenuesMay Be Adversely
Affected If We Fail to Obtain Acceptable Prices orAdequate Reimbursement for Our Products From Third-Party Payors

The ability of our licensees to successfully coneigdize our products may depend in part on thelabiity of reimbursement for o
products from government health administration axities, private health insurers, and other thgedty payors and administrators, incluc
Medicaid and Medicare. We cannot predict the abditp of reimbursement for newly-approved produdt&orporating our Aversia®
Technology. Thirdparty payors and administrators, including statediged programs and Medicare, are challenging thieep charged fi
pharmaceutical products. Government and other-fhartly payors increasingly are limiting both coveramd the level of reimbursement
new drugs. Thirgparty insurance coverage may not be available tiemta for any of our products. The continuing efof government ai
third-party payors to contain or reduce the coftsealth care may limit our commercial opportunifygovernment and other thinglarty payor
do not provide adequate coverage and reimbursefoeany product incorporating our Aversiorifchnology, health care providers may
prescribe them or patients may ask their healtk paoviders to prescribe competing products wittrerfavorable reimbursement. In sc
foreign markets, pricing and profitability of phaaoeutical products are subject to government cbritrtche United States, we expect tt
may be federal and state proposals for similarrotsitin addition, we expect that increasing emghas managed care in the United States
continue to put pressure on the pricing of pharmgcal products. Cost control initiatives could desse the price that we or our licen:
charge for any of our products in the future. Ferthcost control initiatives could impair our atyilior the ability of our licensees
commercialize our products and our ability to eamvenues from commercialization.
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Consolidation in the Healthcare Industry could leadto Demands for Price Concessions or to the Exclusi of Some Supplier
from Certain of Our Markets, which could have an Awerse Effect on Our Business, Financial Condition oResults of Operations.

Because healthcare costs have risen significantgr the past decade, numerous initiatives and mefoinitiated by legislature
regulators and thirgharty payors to curb these costs have resultedcionaolidation trend in the healthcare industrgreate new compani
with greater market power. As the healthcare imgustnsolidates, competition to provide productgttustry participants has become and
continue to become more intense. This in turn leaslted and will likely continue to result in greapricing pressures and the exclusio
certain suppliers from important market segmentgrasp purchasing organizations, independent dglimetworks and large single accol
continue to use their market power to consolidatecipasing decisions. We expect that market demgodernment regulation, thirplarty
reimbursement policies and societal pressures edhtitinue to change the worldwide healthcare ingustesulting in further busine
consolidations, which may reduce competition, ekerther downward pressure on the prices of oudpcd candidates and may adver
impact our business, financial condition or resaftsperations.

Our Success Depends on Our Ability to Protect Ourritellectual Property

Our success depends substantially on our abilibtain and maintain patent protection for our Au@m® Technology, in the Unite
States and in other countries, and to enforce thatants. The patent positions of pharmaceutioaisfi including us, are generally uncertain
involve complex legal and factual questions. Ndtatianding our receipt of U.S. Patent No. 7,201,820 the USPTO relating to t
Aversion® Technology, there is no assurance that @hnour patent claims in our other pending movisional and provisional patt
applications for our Aversion® Technology will igsor if issued, that any such patent claims wilve&d and enforceable against thiperty
infringement or that our products will not infringay thirdparty patent or intellectual property. Moreovery gratent claims relating to t
Aversion® Technology may not be sufficiently braadorotect the products incorporating the Aversioreghnology. In addition, issued pal
claims may be challenged, invalidated or circumedntOur patent claims may not afford us protectgainst competitors with simi
technology or permit the commercialization of omwqucts without infringing third-party patents dgher intellectual property rights.

Our success also depends on our not infringingntatesued to competitors or others. We may becawsre of patents and pat
applications belonging to competitors and othesas tould require us to alter our technologies. Saltdrations could be time consuming
costly. We may not be able to obtain a licenseny t@chnology owned by or licensed to a third pdhigt we or our licensees require
manufacture or market one or more products incapay our Aversion®rechnology. Even if we can obtain a license, tharicial and oth
terms may be disadvantageous.

Our success also depends on our maintaining théideotiality of our trade secrets and kndww. We seek to protect st
information by entering into confidentiality agreems with employees, potential licensees, raw ri@tsuppliers, potential investors ¢
consultants. These agreements may be breachedchypauties. We may not be able to obtain an adegoatperhaps, any remedy to su
breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherlvescome known or be independently developed byaompetitors. Our inability to prote
our intellectual property or to commercialize ovogiucts without infringing thirgearty patents or other intellectual property rightsuld have
material adverse affect on our operations and &igucondition.

We May Become Involved in Patent Litigation or Othe Intellectual Property Proceedings Relating to Our Aversion®

Technology or Product Candidates Which Could Resultin Liability for Damages or Delay or Stop Our Devéopment anc
Commercialization Efforts
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The pharmaceutical industry has been charactebyeignificant litigation and other proceedingsasting patents, patent applicati
and other intellectual property rights. The sitoiasi in which we may become parties to such litayatr proceedings may include:

« litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties to enforce our patent rightsotirer intellectual proper
rights;

- litigation or other proceedings we may initiate iagathird parties to seek to invalidate the patdmld by such third parties
to obtain a judgment that our product candidatesatanfringe such third parties’ patents;

« if our competitors file patent applications thaainol technology also claimed by us, we may partteiga interference 1
opposition proceedings to determine the priorityneention; and

« if third parties initiate litigation claiming thatur product candidates infringe their patent oeotntellectual property right
we will need to defend against such proceedings.

Our failure to avoid infringing thirgharty patents and intellectual property rightshe tommercialization of products utilizing
Aversion® Technology will have a material adverffec on our operations and financial condition.

The costs of resolving any patent litigation orestintellectual property proceeding, even if reedhn our favor, could be substan
Most of our competitors will be able to sustain test of such litigation and proceedings more ¢iffety than we can because of ti
substantially greater resources. Uncertaintiesltiegufrom the initiation and continuation of patditigation or other intellectual prope
proceedings could have a material adverse effecunrability to compete in the marketplace. Patiigiation and other intellectual prope
proceedings may also consume significant managetinegit

Our Aversion®Technology may be found to infringe upon claimgpaftents owned by others. If we determine or if wefaund to b
infringing on a patent held by another, we or acersees might have to seek a license to makeandesell the patented technologies. In
case, we or our licensees might not be able tarobtach license on acceptable terms, or at all.falere to obtain a license to any technol
that may be required would materially harm our bess, financial condition and results of operatidiha legal action is brought against us,
could incur substantial defense costs, and any aathn might not be resolved in our favor. If swchlispute is resolved against us, we
have to pay the other party large sums of moneyoamdise of our Aversion®echnology and the testing, manufacturing, marketinsale c
one or more of our products could be restrictegrohibited. Even prior to resolution of such a digp use of our Aversion@echnology an
the testing, manufacturing, marketing or sale e onmore of our products could be restricted ohilited.

Moreover, other parties could have blocking patagitts to products made using the Aversionf@chnology. We are aware of cer
United States and international pending patentiegmdns owned by third parties claiming abuse wdetd technologies, including at least
pending patent application which, if issued ingtesent form, may encompass our lead product cateditf such patent applications resu
issued patents, with claims encompassing our Aee®&iTechnology or products, we or our licensees maydrieeobtain a license to st
patents, should one be available, or alternativadter the Aversion® Technology so as to avoidingfing such thirdparty patents. If we or o
licensees are unable to obtain a license on coniaflgrceasonable terms, we or our licensees cowddréstricted or prevented frt
commercializing products utilizing the Aversion®chmology. Additionally, any alterations to the Asem® Technology in view of pendir
third-party patent applications could be time congyg and costly and may not result in technologiegroducts that are ndnfringing ol
commercially viable. We cannot assure that our pctsland/or actions in developing products incaapog our Aversion®Technology wil
not infringe third-party patents.
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We May Be Exposed to Product Liability Claims and May Not Be Able to Obtain Adequate Product Liability Insurance

Our business exposes us to potential product iabikks, which are inherent in the testing, mamwtfiring, marketing and sale
pharmaceutical products. Product liability claimigint be made by patients, health care providensharmaceutical companies or others
sell or consume our products. These claims may &geneven with respect to those products that pessgsilatory approval for commer
sale.

We are currently covered by clinical trial prodiiebility insurance on a claimsrade basis. This coverage may not be adequ
cover any product liability claims. Product liabjlicoverage is expensive. In the future, we mayhsoable to maintain or obtain such pro
liability insurance at a reasonable cost or inisigfht amounts to protect us against losses dlieliity claims. Any claims that are not cove
by product liability insurance could have a mateasidverse effect on our business, financial coaditind results of operations.

The pharmaceutical industry is characterized bgueat litigation. Those companies with significinancial resources will be bet
able to bring and defend any such litigation. Nsuaance can be given that we would not become wedoin such litigation. Such litigati
may have material adverse consequences to ourcfalamndition and results of operations.

We Face Significant Competition Which May Result inOthers Developing or Commercializing Products Bef@ or More
Successfully Than We Do

The pharmaceutical industry is highly competitivedais affected by new technologies, governmentgulegions, health ca
legislation, availability of financing, litigatiomnd other factors. If our product candidates rexéiDA approval, they will compete witt
number of existing and future drugs and therap@aslbped, manufactured and marketed by otherstiBgxisr future competing products n
provide greater therapeutic convenience, clinicalother benefits for a specific indication than qumoducts, or may offer compara
performance at lower costs. If our products areblenéo capture and maintain market share, we orlioensees will not achieve significi
product revenues and our financial condition arsdilte of operations will be materially adverselfeafed.

We will compete for market share against fully greged pharmaceutical companies or other compah&scollaborate with larg
pharmaceutical companies, academic institutionseigonent agencies and other public and privatearekeorganizations. Many of the
competitors have products already approved, matkatén development. In addition, many of these petitors, either alone or together v
their collaborative partners, operate larger reseand development programs, have substantiallgtgrdinancial resources, experienc
developing products, obtaining FDA and other retuiaapprovals, formulating and manufacturing drueysed commercializing drugs than
do.

We are concentrating substantially all of our é€fayn developing product candidates incorporatimgAversion® Technology. Th
commercial success of products using our Aversidig®hnology will depend, in large part, on the isign of competition and the relati
timing and sequence of new product approvals frtilerocompanies developing, marketing, selling aisttiduting products that compete w
the products incorporating our Aversiof@chnology. Alternative technologies and productsteeing developed to improve or replace the
of opioid analgesics. In the event that such adtitves to opioid analgesics are widely adoptedy the market for products incorporating
Aversion® Technology may be substantially decreasdxbequently reducing our ability to generaterfiprofits.

Key Personnel Are Critical to Our Business, and OuiSuccess Depends on Our Ability to Retain Them

We are highly dependent on our management andtéiegeam, including Andrew D. Reddick, our Premid and Chief Executi
Officer, and Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D. our Senior Vicedtlent and Chief Scientific Officer. We may netdble to attract and retain personne
acceptable terms given the intense competitiorsdich personnel among biotechnology, pharmacewitdlhealthcare companies, univers
and non-profit research institutions. While we haweployment agreements with certain employeesfallr employees are atidl employee:
who may terminate their employment at any time. ddenot have key personnel insurance on any of flisecs or employees. The loss of
of our key personnel, or the inability to attrantiaetain such personnel, may significantly delaprevent the achievement of our product
technology development and business objectivecanidl materially adversely affect our businessritial condition and results of operatic
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The U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”") Limits the Availability of the Active Ingredients Used in Our Product
Candidates and, as a Result, Our Quota May Not BeuHficient to Complete Clinical Trials or May Result in Development Delays

The DEA regulates certain finished drug productsl active pharmaceutical ingredients. Certain opia@dive pharmaceutic
ingredients in our current product candidates &ssdied by the DEA as Schedule Il substances utideControlled Substances Act of 1¢
Consequently, their manufacture, research, shipnstarage, sale and use are subject to a high @efregulation. Furthermore, the amour
Schedule 1l substances we can obtain for our @lrtials is limited by the DEA and our quota mayt be sufficient to complete clinical trie
There is a risk that DEA regulations may interferth the supply of the products used in our clihicials.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock
Volatility in Stock Prices of other Companies may ©ntribute to Volatility in our Stock Price

The market price of our common stock, like the reanrice for securities of pharmaceutical, biopreceutical and biotechnolo
companies, has historically been highly volatilbeTstock market from time to time experiences S§icamt price and volume fluctuations t
are unrelated to the operating performance of @dar companies. Factors, such as fluctuationsumoperating results, future sales of
common stock, announcements of technological intimva or new therapeutic products by us or our agtitgrs, announcements regarc
collaborative agreements, laboratory or clinic&ltresults, government regulation, developmentpdtent or other proprietary rights, pu
concern as to the safety of drugs developed byrustheers, changes in reimbursement policies, consnerade by securities analysts
general market conditions may have a significafgotfon the market price of our common stock. ka plast, following periods of volatility
the market price of a compasysecurities, securities class action litigatios bften been instituted. A securities class acsioih against L
could result in substantial costs, potential lidies and the diversion of managemsrattention and resources and result in a matadiers
affect on our financial condition and results oemgtions.

Our Stock Price has been Volatile and There may ndie an Active, Liquid Trading Market for our Common Stock.

Our stock price has experienced significant prind solume fluctuations and may continue to expesewolatility in the future
Factors that have a significant impact on the poiceur common stock, in addition to the other éssdescribed in the Report, include resul
or delays in our prelinical and clinical studies, the success of aerise agreement with King, announcements of tdogieal innovations ¢
new commercial products by us or others, developsnierpatents and other proprietary rights by ustbers, future sales of our common s
by existing stockholders, regulatory developmemtsi@anges in regulatory guidance, the departurguoffficers, directors or key employe
and period-tgperiod fluctuations in our financial results. Als@mu may not be able to sell your shares at therasket price if trading in o
stock in not active or if the volume is low. Théseno guarantee that an active trading market fwrcommon stock will be maintained on
NASDAQ Capital Market

The National Association of Securities Dealers,,loc NASD, and the Securities and Exchange Coniamnis®r SEC, have adopi
certain new rules. If we were unable to continuedamply with the new rules, we could be delisteahfrtrading on the NASDAQ Capi
Market and thereafter trading in our common stifc&ny, would be conducted through the Over-@minter Bulletin Board of the NASD. A
consequence of such delisting, an investor wolgkelylifind it more difficult to dispose of, or to ta&in quotations as to the price of, our com
stock. Delisting of our common stock from the NASQAapital Market could also result in lower priges share of our common stock t
would otherwise prevail.

Our Quarterly Results of Operations Will Fluctuate, and These Fluctuations Could Cause Our Stock Price® Decline
Our quarterly operating results are likely to fluete in the future. These fluctuations could camsestock price to decline. The nat
of our business involves variable factors, sucthagiming of the research, development and regutatubmissions of our product candid

that could cause our operating results to fluctuagea result, in some future quarters our cliniiaancial or operating results may not mee
expectations of securities analysts and investdiswcould result in a decline in the price of stock.
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We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends on Our CommorStock in the Foreseeable Future

We have not declared and paid cash dividends omaumon stock in the past and we do not anticipaténg any cash dividends
the foreseeable future. We intend to retain albawf earnings for the foreseeable future to finaheeoperation and expansion of our busir
As a result, you may only receive a return on yiouestment in our common stock if the market pa€eur common stock increases.

GCE Holdings LLC Can Control All Matters Requiring Approval By Shareholders

GCE Holdings LLC beneficially owns approximately%8of our outstanding common stock as of March 10&8(calculated i
accordance with Rule 138lpromulgated under the Securities Exchange Ad98#, as amended). As a result, GCE Holdings LhGjiéw o
its ownership percentage of our common stock, lpéliable to control all matters requiring approwablar shareholders, including the apprt
or rejection of mergers, sales or licenses of mfiubstantially all of our assets, or other busiresmbination transactions. The interests of
Holdings LLC may not always coincide with the irgsts of our other shareholders and as such we akayaction in advance of its interest
the detriment of our other shareholders. Accordingbu may not be able to influence any action aketor consider taking, even if it require
shareholder holder vote.

We are currently a “Controlled Company” within the Meaning of the NASDAQ Capital Market Listing Requirements and, as
Result, are Exempt from Certain Corporate Governane Requirements

Because GCE Holdings LLC controls more than 50%hefvoting power of our common stock, we are culyeconsidered to be
“controlled company'for purposes of a NASDAQ Capital Market listing uégments. As such, we are permitted, and haveegleto opt ot
of the NASDAQ Capital Market listing requirementsat would otherwise require our board of directimrdave a majority of independ
directors, our board nominations to be selectedecommended for the boasdselection either by a nominating committee cosgatientirel
of independent directors or by a majority of indegent directors, and our compensation committebet@omprised entirely of independ
directors. Accordingly, you may not have the sammqetions afforded to stockholders of companied dre subject to all of the NASD/
Capital Market corporate governance requirements.

Any Future Sale of a Substantial Number of Sharesicluded in our Current Registration Statement CouldDepress the Trading
Price of our Stock, Lower our Value and Make It More Difficult for us to Raise Capital

In accordance with the terms of the Securities Ifase Agreement dated August 20, 2007 between utharidvestors named ther¢
we filed a registration statement with the SECetgister the shares included in our Units issueduaumt to the Securities Purchase Agreer
including shares underlying warrants included ie tnits. In addition, pursuant to the exercise @vipusly granted piggyback registrat
rights, each of GCE Holdings, LLC, Galen PartnéisLLP., Galen Partners International I, L.Palén Employee Fund llI, L.P., Care Caf
Investments I, LP, Care Capital Offshore Investtadh LP and Essex Woodlands Health Ventures \P. lhave exercised their piggyb.
registration rights to include an aggregate of 266,164 shares (on a presverse stock basis) in such registration statemta resul
342,432,734 shares (representing approximately 66%ur shares outstanding on a fully-diluted basiscluding all derivative securitie
whether or not currently exercisable on a preerse stock basis) were included in the registragtatement for resale by selling stockholc
Such registration statement was declared effetiyvihe SEC on November 20, 2007. If some or afluwfh shares included in such registre
statement are sold by our affiliates and othewslitlikely have the effect of depressing the tmagliprice of our common stock. In addition, s
sales could lower our value and make it more diffifor us to raise capital.

In addition, pursuant to the terms of an Amended Rastated Registration Rights Agreement dateduaeypi6, 2004 among us, G
Holdings LLC and other security holders we haventgd such parties demand and piggyback rightsgister their shares of our common si
for resale under the Securities Act of 1933. Thereise of such rights and sale of all or a porbbthe shares by such shareholders will li
have the effect of depressing the trading priceusfcommon stock.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We lease from an unaffiliated Lessor, approximaieB00 square feet of administrative office spacg@l® N. North Court, Suite 1Z
Palatine, lllinois 60067. The lease agreement hésrra expiring March 31, 2009. The lease agreempeotides for rent, property tax
common area maintenance and janitorial servicesnoannualized basis of approximately $29,200 par.y#e utilize this lease space for
administrative, marketing and business developrierdtions.

We conduct research, development, laboratory, dpweént scale and NDA submission batch scale manufiag and warehousi
activities relating to the Aversion® Technologyaatr facility located at 16235 State Road 17, Cylediana (the “Culver Facility”)At this
location, our whollyewned subsidiary Acura Pharmaceutical Technolodies, owns a ~28,000 square foot facility with epgmately 7,00
square feet of warehouse, 10,000 square feet ofifaeturing space, 6,000 square feet of researctdanelopment labs and 5,000 square
of administrative and storage space. The faciditipcated on approximately 30 acres of land.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
None.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of our sectnitglers during the fourth quarter of 20
PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market and Market Prices of Common Stock

During 2006, 2007 and the first quarter of 200&tigh February 1, 2008, our common stock was tramethe Over-thé&ounte
(“OTC”) Bulletin Board. Commencing on February 4, 2008, aammon stock was admitted for trading on the NAEDBapital Market und:
the symbol “ACUR”.On December 5, 2007, we effected a 1 for 10 revgoiieof our common stock. The share price infaioraprovided i
the tables below gives effect to the reverse stmpdik

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tlghtand low bid prices for our common stock fodirgy in the common stock on 1
OTC Bulletin Board as reported by the OTC BulléBioard. Such over-the-counter market quotationgcéfhterdealer prices, without ret
mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necédggepresent actual transactions.

PERIOD Bid Prices
High $ Low $

2006 Fiscal Yeal

First Quarter 9.1(C 2.5C

Second Quarter 7.9C 5.0C

Third Quarter 10.9C 5.9C

Fourth Quarter 9.2( 5.6(
2007 Fiscal Year

First Quarter 9.5(C 6.9C

Second Quarter 11.5(C 7.6C

Third Quarter 28.4( 9.3C

Fourth Quarter 22.4( 6.0C

2008 Fiscal Year
First Quarter (through February 1,
2008) 8.6( 5.9C



30




Set forth below for the period indicated are thghhand low sales prices for our common stock faditrg in our common stock on -
NASDAQ Capital Market as reported by the NASDAQ GalpgMarket.

PERIOD Sale Prices
High $ Low $
2008 Fiscal Year
First Quarter (from February 4, 200
through February 29, 2008) 10.50 7.53

Holders

There were approximately 597 holders of recordwfammon stock on February 22008. This number, however, does not ref
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of oumeoaon stock.

Dividend Policy

The payment of cash dividends from current earnisgsibject to the discretion of our Board of Dicgs and is dependent upon m
factors, including our earnings, our capital neadd our general financial condition. We do not igteo pay any cash dividends in
foreseeable future.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Reference is made to “Item 11 - Executive CompémsatRestricted Stock Unit Award Plan; and Securitiesh&uized for Issuan:
Under Equity Compensation Plans”.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presebédow for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2R065, 2004 and 2003 :
derived from our audited Consolidated Financiate&3tents. The Consolidated Financial Statement$ Be@ember 31, 2007 and 2006 anc
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2007, and the seffmteon, are included elsewhere in this Repbwt. Selecte
financial information as of and for the years en®etember 31, 2004 and 2003 are derived from oditeiConsolidated Financial Statem:
not presented in this Report.

The information set forth below is qualified by esfnce to, and should be read in conjunction wthke, Consolidated Financ
Statements and related notes thereto included k&ewin this Report and “ltem 7. Management's Bisicun and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations". All shareadaformation provided gives effect to the 1 forr&@erse stock split effected Decembe
2007.
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OPERATING DATA

(in thousandsgxcept per share data 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Net revenue $ 6,40¢ — — $ 83¢ $ 5,75(
Operating Costs:

Cost of manufacturing — — — 1,43t 11,70¢

Research and development 7,16¢ 5,17 6,26¢ 4,13( 1,46(

Selling, marketing, general and administrative eses 4,141 5,654 5,29¢ 5,23¢ 7,90z

Plant shutdown costs — — — — 1,92¢
Interest expense (2,207 (2,140 (63€) (2,96: (6,007
Interest income 26¢ 18 36 59 25
Write-off of debt discount and deferred private teffering

costs — — — (41,809 —
Amortization of debt discount and deferred privadbt

offering costs (2,700 (183) — (30,689 (24,77:
Gain on debt restructuring — — — 12,40: —
(Loss) Gain on fair value change of conversionufiess (3,487) 4,23¢ — — —
(Loss) Gain on fair value change of common stockavds (2,905 2,16¢ — — —
(Loss) gain on asset disposals 22 (22 81 2,35¢ —
Other (expense) income 3 (213) 5 603 464
Loss before income tax benefit (13,919 (5,967 (12,079 (69,99¢) (48,45%)
Income tax benefit 9,60( — — — —
Net loss $ (4319 % (5,967 $ (12,079 $ (69,996 $ (48,454
Basic and diluted loss per common share applidable

common stockholders $ 0.1 % 0.79) $ 1.8)% (32.00 $ (22.80)
Weighted average number of outstanding common share 39,157 34,49¢ 6,68( 2,18¢ 2,12

BALANCE SHEET DATA (3)

(in thousands) 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Working capital (deficiency) 22,30¢ $ (28,64) $ (2,479 $ 2,42 $ 3,770
Total assets 45,62¢ 1,61¢ 1,79: 4,96 6,62:
Total debt, net (2) — 28,78’ 7,618 5,09:¢ 53,14:
Total liabilities 26,90¢ 39,89¢ 7,95¢ 6,052 58,68¢
Accumulated deficit (321,86() (317,542 (291,61¢) (279,54)) (209,54¢)
Stockholders' equity (deficit) 18,72( (38,280 $ (6,162 $ (1,085 $ (52,067

(1) Reflects the impact of significant corporatel éinancing restructuring in 2004 as described atds C and F to the consolidated financial
statements.

(2) Includes the estimated fair value of convergeatures of convertible debt outstanding as ofdbawmer 31, 2006.

(3) Reflects impact of $30 million received fromngiin December, 2007 as described in Notes B aodire consolidated financial stateme

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This discussion and analysis should be read inucatipn with our financial statements and accompanpotes included elsewhere
this Report. Operating results are not necessardicative of results that may occur in the futperiods. Certain statements in this Re
under this Item 7, Item 1, "Business”, Item 1A, sSRiFactors” and elsewhere in this Report constititevard{ooking statements” within tl
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation RefoAnt of 1995. Such forwartboking statements involve known and unknown r
uncertainties and other factors which may causeaotual results, performance or achievements arsimg results, to be materially differ
from any future results, performance, or achievemerpressed or implied by such forwdodking statements. See page 1 of this Report
description of the most significant of such factors
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Company Overview

We are a specialty pharmaceutical company engagessearch, development and manufacture of innaev#version®Technolog'
and related product candidates. Product candid@esloped with Aversion®echnology and containing opioid analgesic acthgreédients al
intended to effectively treat pain and also disegerthe most common methods of pharmaceutical ptadisuse and abuse including;
intravenous injection of dissolved tablets or cdgsu(ii) nasal snorting of crushed tablets or oégss and (iii) intentional swallowing
excessive numbers of tablets or capsules. AcuroxaMets, our lead product candidate utilizing Aven® Technology, is being develog
pursuant to an active investigational new drug igpfibn (“IND”) on file with the U.S. Food and Dru§dministration (“FDA”). Aversio®
Technology is our patented platform technologydeveloping nexgeneration pharmaceutical products containing pigignabuseable dru
including oxycodone, hydrocodone, oxymorphone, bgubrphone, morphine, codeine, tramadol, propoxyphand many others. Additiol
Aversion® Technology patents are pending encompassing a maige of abuseable drugs including stimulants,qudizers and sedative
Aversion® Technology is applicable to orally admstered tablets and capsules. In addition to theeagtgredient, Aversion@echnolog
utilizes certain patented compositions of pharmticaluproduct inactive excipients and active ingeeds intended to discourage or d
pharmaceutical product abuse.

We conduct internal research, development, labogratnanufacturing and warehousing activities forefsion® Technology at ot
Culver, Indiana facility. The 28,000 square footility is registered by the U.S. Drug Enforcemendn#inistration (“DEA”) to perforn
research, development and manufacture of certairedide Il -V finished dosage form products. In addition toemtl capabilities at
activities, we engage numerous contract researganirations (“CROs”)with expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical fridesign an
monitoring, clinical data management, biostatistiogdical writing, laboratory testing and relatedvices. Such CROs perform developn
services for Acurox™ Tablets and other product @#atés under our direction.

We are focused on:
+ research and development of product candidatésinglour Aversior Technology:;

« manufacture, quality assurance testing and releask stability studies of clinical trial suppliesdaNDA submission batches
certain finished dosage form product candidatdizingy Aversion® Technology:

« prosecution of our patent applications relatingAt@rsion ® Technology with the United States Patent and Traalkr®ffice
(“USPTO") and foreign equivalents; and

« negotiation and execution of license and developnagmeements with pharmaceutical company partnesgiging that suc

licensees will further develop certain finished aiges product candidates utilizing the AversiBriTechnology and file fc
regulatory approval with the FDA and other regutatauthorities and commercialize such products.

Company’s Present Financial Condition

At December 31, 2007, we had cash and cash equotsaté approximately $31.4 million compared to apgmately $228,000
December 31, 2006. We had working capital of $28illon at December 31, 2007 compared to a worldagital deficit of $28.6 million
December 31, 2006. We had an accumulated defi@ppfoximately $321.9 million and $317.5 million¢cember 31, 2007 and Decen
31, 2006, respectively. We had a loss from opematiof approximately $4.9 million and a net lossapproximately $4.3 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2007 compared to a loss fromatqes of approximately $10.8 million and a netdmf approximately $6.0 million {
the year ended December 31, 2006.

As of March 1, 2008, we had cash and cash equitsatgrapproximately $31 million. We estimate that ourrent cash reserves \
be sufficient to fund the development of the Aven® Technology and related operating expenses throudgaat the next 12 months. !
“Liquidity and Capital Resources - Cash Reserves”.

On October 30, 2007 we and King Pharmaceuticaled&eb and Development, Inc. (“King”), a wholbyvned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a license, Idpugent and commercialization agreement (the “Ki~greement”)to develop an
commercialize certain opioid analgesic productkzing our proprietary Aversion®&echnology in the United States, Canada and MexXiu
December 7, 2007, the King Agreement closed andrbeceffective and on the same date, we received g a nonrefundable cas
payment of $30.0 million. We may receive additionah+efundable cash milestone payments from King basethe successful achievem
of certain clinical and regulatory milestones fozudox™ Tablets, our lead product candidate, anceémh other product developed unde!
King Agreement. We may also receive an additiors #illion nonrefundable cash milestone payment when the aggrewdtsales of ¢
products developed under the King Agreement red&0 $nillion. In addition, we may receive from Kingyalty payments for sales occurr



following the one year anniversary of the first cosercial sale of a licensed product ranging from t6925% based on the combil
annual net sales of all products commercializeceutite King Agreement.
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We had no revenues in 2006. In 2007, we recognigednue of $6.4 million derived from the $30.0 moill nonfefundable cas
payment received from King on December 7, 2007thadeimbursement of our development expensesredumnder the King Agreement. !
have yet to generate any revenues from producs.s@leough December 31, 2007, we have recorded@mauilated deficit of approximate
$322 million. Our losses have resulted princip&igm costs incurred in connection with research deelopment activities, salaries and ¢
personnel-related costs and general corporate sgpefRResearch and development activities includes aif preelinical studies and clinic
trials as well as clinical supplies associated witih product candidates. Salaries and other peedaalated costs include non-cash, stbese!
compensation associated with stock options andicest stock units granted to employees and employee directors. We expect to rely
our current cash resources and additional payntieatsnay be made under the King Agreement and widglar license agreements with ot
pharmaceutical company partners, of which therebeano assurance, in funding our continued oparsiti@ur cash requirements for opere
activities may increase in the future as we comtittuconduct pretinical studies and clinical trials for our prodwandidates, maintain, defe
and expand the scope of our intellectual propeurty, hire additional personnel.

Results of Operations for Year December 31, 2007 dr2006

Revenue Program fee revenue

(% in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2007 2006 Dollars %
Revenue — Program fee revenue $ 3,427 — $ 3,427 N/A

King paid us a $30.0 million upfront fee in connentwith the closing of our Agreement with King December 2007. Rever
recognized in 2007 from amortization of this upfréee was $3.4 million. We have assigned a pontibthe license fee revenue to each o
product candidates included under the Agreementexipéct to recognize the remainder of the progreenrhtably over our estimate of
development period for each of the products underAgreement with King. We currently estimate tleelopment period for the expec
drug candidates to extend through December, 2009.

Revenue Collaboration revenue

($ in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2007 2006 Dollars %
Revenue — Collaboration fee revenue $ 2,971 — 3 2,97 N/A

Collaboration revenue recognized in 2007 was $3lidom This revenue related to reimbursement of development expenses incul
pursuant to the King Agreement from September 19d¢cember 31, 200%e invoice King in arrears on a calendar quartesishéor ou
development expenses under the King Agreem#fet.expect the amount and timing of collaboratiovereie to fluctuate in relation to
amount and timing of the underlying research ancldpment expenses.

Research and development expenses

($ in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2007 2006 Dollars %
Research and development expenses $ 7,16¢ $ 5172 $ 1,997 38%
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Research and development expense in the years &wtsnmber 31, 2007 and 2006 consisted of developofgrroduct candidat
utilizing our Aversion® Technology, including costs of preclinical, clinidgals, clinical supplies and related formulatiand design cos
salaries and other personnel related expensedaattity costs. Included in the 2007 and 2006 ressale non-cash stodlased compensati
charges of $370 and $2,067, respectively. Excludivgg stockbased compensation expense, there is a $3,694agecia overall expens
primarily attributable to a) increasing clinicalidy costs of $1,820 and b) $1,140 of staff bonusmzmts. No bonuses were paid in the |
four years and the amount in 2007 was intendeceweard personnel for their successful efforts tlstulted in the King Agreement. 1
decrease in stockempensation expense of $1,697 (related to theviaiwe of stock options and restricted stock unitst of expecte
forfeitures, granted prior to 2006 which continnevest and expense over the related employeessitqgaervice periods), is due to the ves
method used for amortization. The fair value of éheards are being amortized using a graded vestegthod which treats the award as if
grant was a series of awards rather than a simggedband attributes a higher percentage of thertegdair value to the earlier quarters tha
the later quarters of the service period. Thereewer stock options or restricted stock units grdume2007.

Marketing, general & administrative expenses

($ in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2007 2006 Dollars %
Marketing, general & administrative expenses 4,141 $ 5,65/ $ (1,519 (26)%

During the year ended December 31, 2007, marketipgnses consisted primarily of payroll costs. @emeral and administrati
expenses primarily consisted of legal, audit af@eoprofessional fees, corporate insurance, antbpapsts. Included in the 2007 and 2
results are non-cash stock-based compensationeshafd544 and $3,517, respectively. Excludingstioekbased compensation expense
expenses increased $1,460 which is entirely atafila to staff bonus payments. No bonuses wereipaite prior four years and the amour
2007 was intended to reward personnel for theicassful efforts that resulted in the King Agreemdrite decrease in stodompensatic
expense of $2,973 (related to the fair value oflstmptions and restricted stock units, net of etgdorfeitures, granted prior to 2006 wt
continue to vest and expense over the related gmetorequisite service periods) is due to a honriecu$680 expense immediately recor
in February 2006 on the grant of restricted stogktsuto our independent directors, and to the mgsthethod used for amortization. The
value of the awards is being amortized using aggaesting method which treats the award as ifjtaat was a series of awards rather tr
single award and attributes a higher percentagaeofeported fair value to the earlier quartersitttathe later quarters of the service pe
There were no stock options or restricted stocksugrianted in 2007.

Interest expense, net of interest income

(% in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2007 2006 Dollars %
Interest expense, net of interest income $ 93¢ $ 1,122 $ (189 (16)%

We incurred interest on our $5.0 million SecurednTeNote at the variable rate of prime plus 4.5%topAugust 19, 2007 a
thereafter at the fixed rate of 10% per annum.régieon our $5.0 million Secured Term Note was pbeyin our common stock through Aug
19, 2007 and thereafter payable in cash. Such ictstest was deferred until the earlier of (i) thecember 31, 2008 maturity date of
Secured Term Note, or (ii) our receipt of proceedsxcess of $5.0 million from a third party phageatical company or companies pursua
which we, in one or more transactions, grants fiermaceutical company or companieghts to any of our products or product candidat
rights to our Aversion® echnology. Upon the closing of the King AgreementDecember 7, 2007, we repaid in full our $5.0iotl Secure
Term Note. We also incurred interest on our $10.&dHlon Senior Secured Convertible Bridge Notesllgctively, the “Bridge Loans™at the
fixed rate of 10%. Interest on such Bridge Loamsudgh June 30, 2006 was paid in cash. Commencitig intierest due under such Bric
Loans at September 30, 2006, all such interestpaisin our common stock. On August 20, 2007, thiére $10.544 million principal amot
of the Bridge Loans was converted into Units cdirgisof our common stock and warrants in accordamid our Unit Offering. Th
Companys Bridge Loans increased by $2.7 million since Dawer 31, 2006, however the decrease in interestresepreflects both t
reduction in the $5.0 million Secured Term Nota&'terest rate and the conversion of all Bridge Laandiscussed above.
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Net loss

$ in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change
g
2007 2006 Dollars %
Net loss $ 4314 $ 5967 $ (1,659 27)%

The November and December 2006 Bridge Loans faganegate face value of $1,104 included an ameodiegersion feature whis
we valued at an aggregate of $1,034. This valuereearded as a liability with an offsetting $1,0@&bt discount (which was amortized ¢
the term of the Bridge Loans) and $9 of issuanss.lélowever, as the debt was issued to controdivegeholders, this loss was recorde
non-cash deemed dividend rather than effecting net bdditional issuances of $896 of Bridge Loansanuary and February 2007 simile
had aggregate conversion feature value of $84%adnds upon issuance of $3 recorded asaash deemed dividend rather than effecting
loss. The November 2006 amendment of the convefsetre on all of the then outstanding Bridge Lgaoupled with the requirement un
current accounting guidance to separate the valubeoconversion feature from the debt, requiredausecord the value of the amen
conversion feature on that outstanding debt asfility and a loss on the modification of debt. \&&signed a value of $19,951 to tt
conversion features at date of modification anteotéd that loss as non-cash deemed dividend ifotiveh quarter 2006.

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featuresllosutstanding Bridge Loans as of March 30, 2(0@é date immediately befc
further amendment to the Bridge Loans), we recotedesulting increase in value as a $3,483 Ibss.increase in our common stock trau
price from December 31, 2006 to March 30, 2007Itedun the increase in the value of the converdmiility. The Bridge Loan amendme
on March 30, 2007 limited the conversion price g postOctober 2006 loans to not less than $0.21 per shith this limit in place, th
outstanding conversion feature no longer had toeflected as a liability. As such, we recorded 4,886 reclassification of that liability
additional paid-in capital.

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to thégB Loans, our outstanding common stock purcheagants started bei
accounted for as mark-tmarket liabilities with a recorded value of $10,d84December 31, 2006. Upon revaluing the warrgstsbefore the
were exercised or as of March 30, 2007 (the dateddiately before further amendment to the Bridgans), we recorded the resulting incre
in value as a $1,668 loss. The increase in thecomrmon stock trading price from December 31, 2@0®&4arch 30, 2007 resulted in -
increase in the value of the warrant liability. TBedge Loan amendment on March 30, 2007 limitezl cbnversion price of the po®Etobe
2006 loans to no lower than $0.21 per share. Wik ltmit in place, the outstanding warrants nogenhad to be reflected as a liability.
such, we recorded a $12,307 reclassification of liahility to additional paidn capital; in addition to a $146 reclassificaticelating tc
warrants exercised during the first quarter of 2007

Deferred income taxes have been recognized in peiars for temporary differences between finargtialement and income tax be
of assets and liabilities and loss cafoywards for which income tax benefits are expedtetie realized in future years. At the same time
recorded a valuation allowance to reduce net dedeircome tax assets to the amount that is moeéylikan not to be realized. In 2007, bz
upon the receipt of the $30 million under the Kifsgreement we were able to determine that we wilabke to realize deferred income
assets in the future and therefore we adjustegidhmtion allowance by $9.6 million which is refied as a tax benefit in the 2007 stateme
operations.

In addition to the items discussed above, othemsteontributing to our reported net loss for theqas were i)$2,700 of amortizatic
expense related to debt discounts recorded upaariss of certain debt agreements dated in latt@d 201d throughout 2007, (the year er
December 31, 2006 had no such debt amortizatioaresq), ii) $142 of shafeased compensation expense relating to a dilutifusament on
previously issued warrant to a former employee ymamsto dilution protections contained in such watrecorded during 2006, iii) arditution
clauses contained in certain warrants were trighegsulting in a loss of $1,905 with an equal ami@anorded against equity and iv) dispo
of capital equipment and other expenses duringpivéods resulted in reported income of $22 and peese of $22 for 2007 and 20
respectively.
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Results of Operations for the Year Ended Decemberl3 2006 and 2005

Research and development expenses

(% in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2006 2005 Dollars %
Research and development expenses $ 5172 $ 6,265 $ (1,097 17)%

Research and development expenses related primarifevelopment of our Aversidh Technology, including costs of preclini
studies, clinical trials, clinical supplies andateld formulation and design costs, salaries aner gérsonnel related expenses, and facility ¢
Included in the 2006 and 2005 results are non-stmtkbased compensation charges of $2,067 and $3,33%atvely, and included in t
2005 result is a $284 benefit from the reversamincentive compensation accrual. Excluding tbeksbased compensation expense ani
accrued incentive compensation benefit, there wd®18 decrease in overall research and developexgenses. This decrease was prim
the net result of an increase in clinical study egldted consulting expenses of $197 offset by fomege and benefit costs of $222 reflec
fewer employees, lower facility operating costs$6D, and reduced outside testing expenses on diisaed products of $44 in 2006. 1
decrease in stodiased compensation expense of $1,258 occurred sretae number of stock options and restricted stmits that vested
2006 was less than 2005.

Marketing, general and administrative expenses

($ in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change
2006 2005 Dollars %
Marketing, general and administrative expenses $ 565/ $ 529 $ 35¢ 7%

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the magkexpenses consisted of Aversiof®chnology market research studies
payroll costs. Our general and administrative espsrconsisted of legal, audit and other profeskife®s, corporate insurance, and pa
costs. Included in the 2006 and 2005 results i81¥3and $3,133, respectively, of stdzksed compensation expense. Also included in tBE
result is a $175 benefit from the reversal of arentive compensation accrual. Excluding the stoeked compensation expense and ince
compensation benefit, the marketing, general amdirggtrative expenses decreased by $201 primattitipatable to a reduction in legal cc
as a result of less corporate and financial restring efforts. Of the increase in stobksed compensation expense, $680 was from the &g
2006 grant of two million restricted stock unitsdor independent directors. The stdised compensation expense attributable to ems
decreased by $295 because the number of stocknspitd restricted stock units that vested in 208@&Jess than 2005.

Interest expense, net of interest income

(% in thousands): Year Ended December 31, Change

2006 2005 2006 2005
Interest expense, net of interest income $ 1,12: $ 60C $ 527 87%

We incurred interest at the prime interest rates plib%, payable quarterly in common stock, on dub $nillion secured term nc
payable. We incurred 10% annual interest, payabigetgrly, on our $7.8 million Bridge Loans. Interes such Bridge Loans through June
2006 was paid in cash. Commencing with interest ulobger such Bridge Loans at September 30, 2006ual interest was paid in «
Companys Common Stock. The increase in net interest expen2006 resulted from the addition of $5.3 milliof Bridge Loans during 20
and increases in the prime interest rate.

Net loss
in thousands): ear Ended December 31, ange
$in th d Year Ended D ber 31 Chang
2006 2005 2006 2005
Net loss $ 5967 $ 12,07t $ (6,109 (51)%
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Included in the net loss for 2006 is a non cashpEmeation charge of $5,726 arising from the isseaicstock options and restric
stock units as compared to $6,459 for such chang2805.

The November 2006 amendment of the conversionrieatn all of the then outstanding Bridge Loans,pbed with the requiremer
to separate the value of the conversion featurm ftbe debt, required us to record the value ofahended conversion feature on
outstanding debt as a liability and a loss on tlglification of debt. We assigned a value of $19,8bihese conversion features and refle
the modification loss as a non-cash deemed dividéftdle the aggregate narash deemed dividend of $19,960 did not impactrtedone
loss, it does have an impact on loss per commaresha

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featureallasutstanding Bridge Loans as of December 3062We recorded the result
decrease in value as a $4,235 gain. The decrease sommon stock trading price from November 2@0@ear end resulted in the decrea:
the value of the conversion liability.

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to oigtgB Loans, a $12,948 liability and correspondiaduction in additional paid-
in capital, for the common stock purchase warrams recorded. The mark to market fair value adjastsito the warrant liability resulted i
$2,164 gain recorded in the fourth quarter 2006uffeuperiod fair value adjustments to the warraattility could result in further gains
losses.

Our loss per share in 2006 compared to 2005 ($=7&us $1.81, respectively, as calculated aftangieffect to the 1 for 10 reve!
stock split effected December 5, 2007) was favgrabipacted by the conversion on November 10, 20Dapproximately 21.8 millio
preferred shares into approximately 30.6 milliomoaon shares. On a weighted average basis, thisased the number of common shart
the loss per share calculation to approximately 3dillion shares in 2006 as compared to 6.6 millghares in 2005. For periods prio
November 10, 2005, our convertible preferred sham® an-dilutive and therefore excluded from the loss geare calculation. Additionall
the 2006 loss per share was impacted by the ndnésemed dividend described above.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2007, we had cash and cash eqofgaté $31.4 million compared to $228,000 at Decenttil, 2006. We hi
working capital of $22.3 million at December 31,0Z0compared to a working capital deficit of $28.8lion at December 31, 2006. T
increase in cash and working capital at DecembeR3Q7 is due primarily to our receipt of a niomdable $30.0 million cash payment fr
King under the King Agreement, the net proceedapgroximately $14.2 million received pursuant te bmit Offering completed in AugL
2007, the conversion of our entire $10.544 milliorthe principal amount of outstanding bridge loams units in our Unit Offering, and t
repayment in full of our $5 million secured term@on December 7, 2007 in accordance with the teiftfse King Agreement and the sect
term note.

Net cash provided by operating activities was $18iltion for the year ended December 31, 2007 caexgbdo net cash used
operating activities of $5.4 million for the yeanded December 31, 2006 primarily representing airloss for such years, less ncast
charges related to amortization of debt discouait, ¥alue changes of conversion features and comshock warrants in 2007, and st
compensation and common stock issued for interestich of 2007 and 2006. Capital expenditures doh e/ear were substantially offset
proceeds from asset disposals. Our financing &etsvdf $16.8 million in 2007 related principally bur Unit Offering and additional brid
loan borrowings less the repayment of the $5 nmiléecured term note. Our financing activities of3$fillion for 2006 related principally
additional bridge loan borrowings.

Satisfaction of Term Debt

Our secured term note in the principal amount 00 $8illion was secured by a lien on all of our assm:d the assets of our wholy
owned subsidiary, including a mortgage lien onGudver Facility, carried a fixed rate of intere$tl®% and had a maturity date of Decen
31, 2008. On December 7, 2007, we repaid in f@lghincipal and accrued interest under the $5.0amisecured term note.
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We were a party to four (4) loan agreements coragl@t January 2006, November, 2005, September, 2685June, 2005, each
amended, pursuant to which we received bridge &imgninstallments in the aggregate principal amooin$ 10.544 million (the Bridge
Loans”) from Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., Gaapital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Offshongdstments I, LP, Gali
Partners International 1ll, L.P., Galen Partnels ILLP., Galen Employee Fund lll, L.P. (collectiyethe “VC Lenders”)and certain oth
shareholders listed on the signature page to suatg® Loan agreements. On August 20, 2007, we oeteghlan offering of our uni
consisting of common stocks and warrants (the “@ifering”). Calculated on a post reverse stock split basisoxppately 1.4 million of th
units issued in the Unit Offering were issued faslt, resulting in net cash proceeds to the Compaapproximately $14.2 million, with tl
balance of approximately 1.0 million units issuactonsideration of the conversion of the entire.$40 million principal amount outstand
under our Bridge Loans.

As a result of the repayment of our $5.0 millioswwed term note and the conversion of all outstam@ridge Loans into our units, '
have no term indebtedness.

Cash Reserves

As of March 1, 2008, we had cash and cash equivalents of appreedyn®31 million. The majority of such cash reserweill be
dedicated to the development of our Aversioii@chnology, the formulation and development of pridcandidates which incorpor
Aversion® Technology, the prosecution of our patepplications relating to the Aversion®echnology and for administrative and rel:
operating expenses.

Pending our receipt of milestone payments and tiegairom King related to product candidates depetbunder the King Agreeme
and other milestone and royalty payments undedairicense agreements anticipated to be negotiteldexecuted with other pharmaceu
company partners, of which no assurance can b&give must rely on our current cash reserves, diotuinterest income from the investm
of our cash reserves, to fund the development ofAmersion® Technology and related ongoing administrative apérating expenses. C
future sources of revenue, if any, will be derifemm milestone payments and royalties under thegkiigreement and under similar lice
agreements with other pharmaceutical company pattoéwhich there can be no assurance.

The amount and timing of our future cash requireserill depend on regulatory and market acceptarficair product candidates ¢
the resources we devote to the development and eotiatization of our product candidates. We belithagt our current cash resources sh

be sufficient to fund our operations for at ledist hext 12 months.

The following table presents our expected cash paysnon contractual obligations outstanding asexfdnber 31, 2007:

(in thousands) Total Due in 2008 Due in 2009 Due Thereafter
Operating leases 37 30 7 —
Clinical studies' 3,991 3,991 — —
Employment agreements 88t 88t _ —
Total contractual obligations $ 491 $ 4906 $ 7 _

1Expected to be reimbursed to us by King under tbeigions of the King Agreement.
Critical Accounting Policies

Note A of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Stegets included as a part of this Report, includesimmary of our significa
accounting policies and methods used in the préiparaf the financial statements. In preparing éhéisancial statements, we have made
best estimates and judgments of certain amouniisded in the financial statements, giving due cdesition to materiality. The application
these accounting policies involves the exercisaddment and use of assumptions as to future waingds and, as a result, actual results ¢
differ from these estimates. We do not believedhisra consequential likelihood that materiallyfefiént amounts would be reported ur
different conditions or using different assumptio@sir critical accounting policies are as follows:
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Revenue Recognition and Deferred Program Fee Revenu

In connection with our Agreement with King, we rgo@e program fee revenue, collaboration revenud railestone revenu
Program fee revenue is derived from the upfrontypent from King received in December 2007. We hasigaed a portion of the program
revenue to each of the product candidates includei@r the Agreement and recognize the programefeenue ratably over our estimate of
development period for each of the products unter Agreement with King. Collaboration revenues froeimbursement of developm
expenses, which are invoiced quarterly in arreznes recognized when costs are incurred pursuahetédgreement with King. These onga
research and development services being providdding under the collaboration are priced at faitueabased upon the reimbursemer
expenses incurred pursuant to the collaboratiom \ing. Milestone revenue is derived from milestqueeyments from King which &
contingent upon the achievement of certain subigg@etents in the clinical development of Acurox™blets and the other product candid
licensed to King under the Agreement. We recogni#estone payments from King as revenue when wewgelthe underlying developmer
milestone and the milestone payments are not deméngbon any other future activities or achievenwérany other future milestones and
achievement of each of the developmental milestamexe substantively at risk and contingent at tffecéve date of the collaboratic
Substantial effort is involved in achieving eachto# developmental milestones. These milestonessept the culmination of discrete earn
processes and the amount of each milestone payimesasonable in relation with the level of effagsociated with the achievement of
milestone. Each milestone payment is non-refundabtenon-creditable when made.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are recognized for tempodifferences between financial statement and incoaxebases of assets
liabilities and loss carryerwards for which income tax benefits are expedtelde realized in future years. A valuation allowea is establishe
when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assetsetartiount expected to be realized. In estimatingréutax consequences, we gene
consider all expected future events other thanrattenent of changes in the tax laws or rates. We haecorded a valuation allowance
reduce net deferred income tax assets to the antioainis more likely than not to be realized. Ie #vent we are able to determine that we
be able to realize deferred income tax assetseiriuture, an adjustment to reduce the valuaticowalhce would increase income in the pe
such determination was made. In 2007, based upemdteipt of the $30 million under the King Agreermewe adjusted the valuati
allowance by $9.6 million which is reflected asa& benefit in the 2007 statement of operations.

Stock Compensation

On December 16, 2004, the Financial Accounting ¢deds Board (“FASB”)released FASB Statement No. 123 (revised 2
“Share-Based Payment, (“FASB 123R”")These changes in accounting replaced existing mremeints under FASB Statement No. :
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“FASB3IR and eliminated the ability to account for stthased compensation transac
using APB Opinion No.25, “Accounting for Stock Iesuto Employees” (“APB 25”). The compensation aesating to shardased payme
transactions will be measured based on the fairevaf the equity or liability instruments issuedhid Statement did not change the accoul
for similar transactions involving parties otheathemployees.

We adopted FASB 123R effective January 1, 2006 wiltee modified prospective method, which recognizempensation cc
beginning with the effective date (a) based onrdrgiirements of FASB 123R for all shdvased payments granted after the effective dat
to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled dftar date and (b) based on the requirements ofBF8&tement No. 123 for all awa
granted to employees prior to the effective daté&-AS 123R that remain unvested on the effective.d@he compensation cost relating
sharebased payment transactions is now measured basebeofair value of the equity or liability instrumts issued. For purposes
estimating the fair value of each stock option wmtthe date of grant, we utilized the Black-Schalption-pricing model. The Blackehole
option valuation model was developed for use ineging the fair value of traded options, which éano vesting restrictions and are fi
transferable. The valuation models require thetimgbinighly subjective assumptions including theested volatility factor of the market pr
of our common stock (as determined by reviewindpigsorical public market closing prices). BlaBkholes utilizes other assumptions relats
the riskifree interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswamed to be zero, as we have has not paid anydbadiends) and employee exerc
behavior. The risree interest rate is derived from the U.S. Trewstigld curve in effect at the time of grant. Thepected life of the grants
derived from historical factors. Because our empégtock options have characteristics significaditierent from those of traded options .
because changes in the subjective input assumpteomsnaterially affect the fair value estimatemanagement's opinion, the existing mo
do not necessarily provide a reliable measure efdfr value of its employee stock options.
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Debt Discount

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of commsimtk warrants in connection with the issuancsuifordinated debt and ot
notes payable in 2004 as well as from beneficiaveosion features contained in convertible debtrimsents issued in 2004 and prior ye
was recorded as a reduction of the related obtigatand was amortized over the remaining life efridated obligations. Debt discount rel;
to the common stock warrants issued was deterntigesl calculation based on the relative fair valassribed to such warrants determine
management's use of the Black-Scholes valuatiorembatherent in the Blackcholes valuation model are assumptions made bygeamer
regarding the estimated life of the warrant, thérested volatility of our common stock (as deteredrby reviewing its historical public mar
closing prices) and the expected dividend yieldAugust 2004, all related debt was converted irddous series of preferred stock and
entire remaining unamortized debt discount of $4Q,000 was charged to expense. Subsequently, tasianding series of preferred stock
converted into common stock in 2005. As describedenfully in the notes to the consolidated finahstatement, additional debt discoun
$1,025,000 was recorded in 2006 and was amortiredigh the March 31, 2007 maturity of the relatebtd

Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants

Certain provisions of the amended conversion feataontained in the our outstanding Bridge Loarddmember 2006, required us
separate the value of the conversion feature flimdebt and record such value as a separateitijalsihich must be marked-torarket eac
balance sheet date. Future period fair value adpsts to the conversion feature could result ithfmr gains or losses. To compute
estimated value of the conversion features, we tlsedlack-Scholes optiopricing model. As a result of the November 2006 admeent ti
the Bridge Loans, all outstanding common stock Ipase warrants were fair valued using the Black hofs optionpricing model an
recorded as a liability with corresponding reductin additional paid-in capital. The liability mube marked-tanarket each balance shi
Future period fair value adjustments to the warliability could result in further gains or losses.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Statem:

In December 2007, Financial Accounting StandardarBq“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial AccoogtiStandards (“SFAS"No. 16(
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financshtements, an amendment of ARB No. 51" (“SFAS"L6BFAS 160 amends ARB No.
to establish accounting and reporting standardshinoncontrolling interest in a subsidiary andtfe deconsolidation of a subsidiary. It i
amends certain of ARB No. & ’consolidation procedures for consistency with teéguirements of SFAS 41 (revised 2007), Busi
Combinations. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal yeand interim periods within those fiscal yearsiteing on or after December 15, 2C
Earlier adoption is prohibited. SFAS 160 shall peleed prospectively as of the beginning of thedisyear in which the Statement is adog
except for the presentation and disclosure requargs The presentation and disclosure requirensrg be applied retrospectively for
periods presented.

Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141iqeev2007) “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (141R)BFAS 141R retains t
fundamental requirements of the original pronourestmequiring that the purchase method be usedlftausiness combinations. SFAS 1«
defines the acquirer as the entity that obtaingrobonf one or more businesses in the business twatibn, establishes the acquisition dat
the date the acquirer achieves control and reqtlieesicquirer to recognize the assets and liagslitissumed and any noortrolling interest
their fair values as of the acquisition date. SFA3R requires, among other things, that the adtpnsielated costs be recognized separ
from the acquisition. SFAS 141R is applied prospebt to business combinations for which the acitjois date is on or after January 1, 2009.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahktiabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “Ha& Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahdiiabilities — Including at
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" (“SFAS 158FAS 159 permits an entity to elect to measurebdigtems at fair value air value
option”) including many financial instruments. The provisaf SFAS 159 are effective for the Company asaofidry 1, 2008. If the fair val
option is elected, the Company will report unreadizyains and losses on items for which the fainevaption has been elected in earnir
each subsequent reporting date. Upfront costseaslirelated to an item for which the fair valudapts elected shall be recognized in earn
as incurred and not deferred. The fair value optiaay be applied for a single eligible item with@lécting it for other identical items, w
certain exceptions, and must be applied to theeentigible item and not to a portion of the eligilitem. The Company is currently evalua
the irrevocable election of the fair value optiamguant to SFAS 159.

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157r “Falue Measurements” (“SFAS 157"hich defines fair value, establishe



framework for measuring fair value in generally guted accounting principles and expands disclosaest fair value measurements. S|
157 is effective for the Company beginning on Jaynda 2008. The requirements of SFAS 157 will bplieg prospectively except for cert
derivative instruments that would be adjusted thlothe opening balance of retained earnings irp#r®d of adoption. In February 2008,
FASB issued Staff Position No. FAS 157-2 which e for a one-year deferral of the effective ddt8FAS 157 for noriinancial assets ai
liabilities that are recognized or disclosed at failue in the financial statements on a nonrengrbasis, except those that are recogniz
disclosed at fair value in the financial statemems recurring basis. The Company is evaluatiegripact of the adoption of SFAS 157 ot
financial statements.

ShareBased Payment

The Company adopted FASB 123R effective Januar®006 under the modified prospective method, whietognizes compensation ¢
beginning with the effective date (a) based onrégriirements of FASB 123R for all shdrased payments granted after the effective dat
to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled dftar date and (b) based on the requirements ofBF8&tement No. 123 for all awa
granted to employees prior to the effective datEASB 123R that remain unvested on the effectivte.dBhe only cumulative effect of initia
applying this Statement for the Company was toassify $5,724,000 of previously recorded unearr@dpensation into paidh capital. Th
Company has estimated that an additional $5,827y0il0be expensed over the applicable remainingtingsperiods for all sharbase
payments granted to employees on or before DeceB8he2005 which remained unvested on January 16.208e Company anticipates t
more compensation costs will be recorded in theréuif the use of options and restricted stocksufit employees and director compens:
continues as in the past.

41




Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures during 2007, 2006 and 2086 $31,000, $85,000 and $35,000, respectivedypital expenditures in ez
such year were attributable to the purchase ohsfieequipment and improvements to the Culvediama facility.

Impact of Inflation

We believe that inflation did not have a matenapact on its operations for the periods reported.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

Some of the securities that we invest in may béestitto market risk. Our primary objective in owrsb management activities it
preserve principal while at the same time maxingzimcome we receive from our investments. A chaingthe prevailing interest rates n
cause the principal amount of our investments teotfiate. We have no holdings of derivative finahaiad commodity instruments. As
December 31, 2007, our investments consisted pityr@rinvestments in corporate and government s@ed obligations or in money mat
accounts and checking funds with variable, market ratestdriest.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

This item is submitted as a separate section sfRleport commencing on page F-1.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurdg have carried out an evaluation, under the sigiervand with the patrticipatic
of our management, including our Chief Executivdic@f and Chief Financial Officer of the effectivass of the design and operation of
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 1344. Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Execufiiécer and Chie
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosuretoois and procedures are effective in timely atgrtihem to material information relating
the Company (including our subsidiary) requirecbincluded in our periodic Securities and Excha@genmission filings. No significa
changes were made in our internal controls or heofactors that could significantly affect thesntrols subsequent to the date of t
evaluation.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting. Our management is responsible for establishimgraaintainin
adequate internal control over financial reportimgternal control over financial reporting is defdh in Rule 13a-15(f) and 151b(f)
promulgated under the Exchange Act as a procesgndésd by, or under the supervision of, our ppatiexecutive and principal financ
officers and effected by our board of directorsnagement and other personnel, to provide reasorasigrance regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsi@tements for external purposes in accordantte generally accepted accounting princi
and includes those policies and procedures that:

» Pertain to the maintenance of records that in reslsle detail accurately and fairly reflect the saetions and disposition
our assets;

« Provide reasonable assurance that transactionseaoeded as necessary to permit preparation ohdiaé statements
accordance with generally accepted accounting iples, and that our receipts and expenditures amegbmade only i
accordance with authorizations of our managemethténectors; and

» Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventitimely detection of unauthorized acquisition, wsedisposition of ot
assets that could have a material effect on ttentiial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @eteisstatements. Therefore, e
those systems determined to be effective can peosidy reasonable assurance with respect to finhatatement preparation and presente
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivemde future periods are subject to the risk thattrmds may become inadequate becau:
changes in conditions, or that the degree of campég with the policies or procedures may detemorat

Our management assessed the effectiveness of teunah control over financial reporting as of De@®m31, 2007. In making tt
assessment, management used the criteria setbprthe Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of Theadway Commission (COSO)
Internal Control — Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, management believeashaftDecember 31, 2007, our internal control diveancial reporting is effectiy
based on those criteria.

This annual report does not include an attestateport of our registered public accounting firm astjng internal control ov

financial reporting. Managemestteport was not subject to attestation by ourstegéd public accounting firm pursuant to temporaigs o
the Securities and Exchange Commission that persnid provide only management’s report in this ahmneport.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial RepogirThere was no change in our internal control ovearicial reporting th
occurred during the period covered by this Repuat has materially affected, or is reasonably Yikel materially affect, our internal cont
over-financial reporting.

ltem 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
Not Applicable.
PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE
Directors and Executive Officers
Our directors and executive officers are identifieditem 1. Business”.
Corporate Governance

Audit Committee

During 2007, the members of Audit Committee of Bward of Directors were William A. Sumner, Chairméammanuel Thangar
and Bruce F. Wesson. On January 24, 2008, the Algailiimittee was reconstituted and effective at slath, the members are George K. F
Chairman, William A. Sumner and William G. Skelljhe Audit Committee is responsible for selecting @ompanys registered independ
public accounting firm, approving the audit fee ghlg to the auditors, working with independent tardi and other corporate officie
reviewing the scope and results of the audit by, thie recommendations of, our independent audiggmstoving the services provided by
auditors, reviewing our financial statements arbréing on the results of the audits to the Boaegiewing our insurance coverage, finar
controls and filings with the SEC, including, meetiquarterly prior to the filing of our quarterlyné annual reports containing finan
statements filed with the SEC, and submitting t® Board its recommendations relating to our finanoeéporting, accounting practices .
policies and financial, accounting and operatiauatrols.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comenittembers during 2007, our Board reviewed and aedlyhe standards -
independence provided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rul®@0{2)(15) and applicable SEC regulations. Basedh@analysis, our Board
determined that Mr. Sumner was an independent meoflibe Audit Committee, and that Messrs. Wesswh Bhangaraj did not satisfy st
standards for independence as a result of theitigos in entities having a controlling interest@CE Holdings, LLC, our 786 shareholde
GCE Holdings, LLC was the assignee of all our pref# shares previously held by each of Care Capitedstments Il, LP, Essex Woodla
Health Ventures V, L.P. and Galen Partners Ill,.lltPview of the controlling interests in GCE Haids, LLC held by each of Galen Partt
I, L.P., of which Mr. Wesson is a general partreand Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P.,ltwMr. Thangaraj is a general parti
each of Messrs. Wesson and Thangaraj fail to gatfi&f standards for independence set forth inigtimd standards of the NASDAQ Cap
Market and applicable SEC regulations. Nevertheless Board valued the experience of Messrs. WeasonThangaraj in the review of
financial statements in 2007 and believes that eeah able to exercise independent judgment in #ropnance of his duties on the At
Committee during 2007.

In assessing the independence of the Audit Comendte currently comprised, our Board reviewed aralyaed the standards
independence provided in NASDAQ Marketplace Rul®0{2)(15) and applicable SEC regulations. Basedh@nanalysis, our Board F
determined that each of Messrs. Ross, Sumner agltly Skatisfies such standards for independence.Board also determined that Mr. Ros
a “financial expert” as provided in NASDAQ Markedpe Rule 4350(d)(2)(A) and SEC regulations.

The Charter of our Audit Committee is availablecam website, www.acurapharm.com, under the linkhf&/Audit Charter.”

44




Compensation Committee

During 2007, the members of Compensation Commadafdabe Board of Directors were Andrew D. ReddickgcHard J. Markham al
William G. Skelly. On January 24, 2008, the Compgiont Committee was reconstituted and effectiveuah date, the members are Richa
Markham, Chairman, Bruce F. Wesson and Immanuelngdraj. This committee is responsible for consgltiwith and makin
recommendations to the Board of Directors aboutcatkee compensation and compensation of employSeg item 11. Executiv
Compensation —Board Procedst a summary of the procedures for approving camp#on for our senior management and employees
Compensation Committee does not have a formalemritharter. See “ltem 11. Executive CompensatiofCempensation Discussion ¢
Analysis " below.

Although the listing standards of the NASDAQ Calpitéarket specify that the compensation of our exieeuofficers must k
determined, or recommended to the Board, eithea lgajority of independent directors or a compensatiommittee comprised solely
independent directors, we are relying on the “aadlgtd company’exemption provided in the listing standards of NHESDAQ Capital Marke
in having each of Messrs. Markham, Wesson and Tdrangs members of the Compensation Committee.

Nominating Committee

Currently our entire Board of Directors functiorssaur nominating committee. As needed, the Boalidpeiform the functions typic
of a nominating committee, including the identifioa, recruitment and selection of nominees forctb® to our Board. Three of our
members of the Board (Messrs. Sumner, Skelly argsRare "independent” as that term is defined uttderules of the NASDAQ Capi
Market and SEC regulations and participate with ¢hére Board in the consideration of director noegis. We believe that a nomina
committee separate from the Board is not necessathis time, given our relative size and the feour Board and that an additio
committee of the Board would not add to the effemiess of the evaluation and nomination process.Bdmard's process for recruiting
selecting nominees for Board members, if requiredyld be to identify individuals who are thoughttave the business background
experience, industry specific knowledge and geneepltation and expertise allowing them to contebas effective directors to ¢
governance, and who would be willing to serve aeators of a public company. To date, we have mgiaged any third party to assis
identifying or evaluating potential nominees. p@ssible candidate is identified, the individuall wieet with each member of the Board an
sounded out concerning his/her possible interest willingness to serve, and Board members woulctudis amongst themselves
individual's potential to be an effective Board ntem If the discussions and evaluation are posithve individual would be invited to serve
the Board. To date, no shareholder has presentedaaridate for Board membership for consideration we do not have a specific policy
shareholderecommended director candidates. The Board beli¢vggocess for evaluation of nominees proposedhayeholders would be
different than the process of evaluating any otlaexdidate.

Shareholder Communications to the Board

Shareholders who wish to send communications toBaard of Directors may do so by sending them ire ad our Secretary at t
address on the cover page of this Report. The epgadontaining such communication must contairearahotation indicating that the enclo
letter is a "Shareholder-Board Communication" ohd@holdemirector Communication" or similar statement thkgacly and unmistakab
indicates the communication is intended for the rBo&ll such communications must clearly indicalte tauthor as a shareholder and
whether the intended recipients are all membeth@Board or just certain specified directors. Gacretary will have the discretion to sct
and not forward to directors communications whibk Secretary determines in his or her discretien caammunications unrelated to
business or our governance, commercial solicitation communications that are offensive, obscenetterwise inappropriate. The Secre
will, however, compile all shareholder communicatiavhich are not forwarded and such communicatigh®e available to any director.

Code of Ethics

Our Code of Ethics applicable to our principal exae officer, principal financial officer, princgy accounting officer and all of ¢
other employees is available on our website, wwuwraggharm.com, under the link “Ethics/Audit Charter”
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Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 0f412% amended, requires our Directors and execaffieers, and persons who o
beneficially more than ten percent (10%) of our Guon Stock, to file reports of ownership and changfeswnership with the SEC. Copies
all filed reports are required to be furnished ® pursuant to Section 16(a). Based solely on tiperte received by us and on writ
representations from reporting persons, we beliBaeour Directors, executive officers and gre#tan ten percent (10%) beneficial owner
our Common Stock complied with all Section 16(&h§ requirements during the year ended Decembg2@17, except as noted below.

GCE Holdings LLC filed a late Form 3 and reportatelon Form 4 the conversion of preferred stock @dmmon stock in 2005. Es:
Woodlands Health Ventures Fund V, LP reported detehree Form 4s relating to the conversion by G@#lings LLC of preferred shares
common stock in 2005, the receipt of common stoc&atisfaction of interest payments on outstandioigs in 2005, 2006 and 2007, anc
receipt of a warrant to purchase common stock B¥20nmanuel Tharangaj, as a managing partner sé>E¥/oodlands Health Ventures F
V, LP, disclaimed beneficial ownership of secustigeld by Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, LRdpkto the extent of his pecuni
interest therein) but reported late on three Fosmefating to the above described transactionseék Woodlands Health Ventures Fund V,
To the extent, Galen Partners Ill, L.P., GalenriRag International , Ill, L.P, Galen Employee FuihdL.P. , Care Capital Offshore Investme
II, LP and Care Capital Investments Il, LP are deéro own beneficially the shares of the Compar§®mmon Stock held by GCE Holdii
LLC or are members of a group which in the aggregae deemed to own beneficially ten percent orenabthe Compang Common Stoc
they should have each filed Form 4s with respe¢héoreceipt of common stock in satisfaction oerest payments on outstanding note
2007.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Unless otherwise noted all share and share prideriation with respect to our common stock giveatffo a 1 for 10 reverse st
split that was effected December 5, 2007.

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Our executive compensation program consists @r(ipnnual salary and bonus compensation and (iijyecentives represented
the issuance of stock options and restricted stotts (“RSUs”). The salary, bonuses, and equity incentives serdalitoexecutive pay |
corporate performance.

Policies for Allocating Between Various Forms ofngeensatior

In the past few years, because we had insufficgash reserves, our ability to pay cash bonusesnanelase salaries was limited. A
result, we did not grant cash bonuses or increglseiass to our principal executives in 2004, 2002@06. Instead we sought to incentivize
senior management with equity compensation in ¢h@ fof stock options and RSUs.

In 2004 and 2005 we issued stock options to our@yeps with an exercise price at a discount taliee current trading price for ¢
common stock. Because our stock price is baseelatively low trading volume and a small publicdtpit can fluctuate widely at times. A
result, we determined that the issuance of RSUsepted a number of advantages. First, it allow® ueduce the dilutive effect of this equity-
based compensation, as there are fewer shareslyingea restricted stock award than an equivalémtisoption award. Second, the ves
schedule of the RSUs was structured to minimizepthtential excise tax under Section 280G of therlml Revenue Code upon a chang
control. Third, stock options issued at a discdatte unfavorable tax and accounting consequenoesttt: it is difficult to set an exercise pr
for options due to the low trading volume and smalblic float for our common stock.
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As a result, in 2005 we established a restrictedkstinit plan (the “2005 RSU Plandnd issued RSUs aggregating 2,750,000 sha
employees. Of such RSU awards, 30%, 24%, 16%, 686 5% were issued to Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Clam&eiser and Emic
respectively (the “named executive officerdt)is likely we will maintain a similar ratio of diribution of equity awards in the future, to tr
persons and/or persons in similar positions. Initeg RSUs with respect to 100,000 shares wereedso each of our two indepenc
directors in 2006. The number of RSUs we issued imffisenced by the closing price of the stock utgeg the RSUs on the date of gri
50,000 shares remain available for issuance under2005 RSU Plan. As such, any significant furtaerards of RSUs would require
amendment to the 2005 RSU Plan to increase the ewaflshares available under the plan.

Following the completion of our Unit Offering in Aust 2007 and the consummation of the King Agreé¢rireBecember 2007, o
cash position improved and we were able to increatsies and grant bonuses to our employees assdisd below under the captioSalary
and Bonus. While we also intend to award equibased compensation, our objective is to award bashises and grant salary increases ¢
annual basis going forward. The amounts and tinnhgny such awards will be subject to availablehcesserves and the satisfactior
employee performance objectives established byChigf Executive Officer and the Compensation CortemitOur equitypased compensati
going forward is targeted to allow senior managenasra group to own between 5% and 10% of our and&tg common stock, so as to a
their interests with shareholders’ interests.

In 2007, no stock options or RSU awards were madsehior management. In view of our improved casenves following tt
closing of the King Agreement, and recognizing thatsalary increases or bonuses had been awardeditr management over the prior
years, the Compensation Committee and the Boasdrdited that salary increases and bonuses forreaokd execute officer was appropri
As part of its analysis the Compensation Committee the Board considered the stock option and R8&fds previously made to the nar
executive officers in 2004 and 2005 and determthatiadditional equity incentive compensation waiswarranted in 2007.

Salary and Bonus

Each of Andrew Reddick, Ron Spivey and Peter Clemare parties to employment agreements, describeléruthe captic
“Employment Agreementsbelow, which provide the minimum annual base satarpe payable to such officers, subject to inareatsth
discretion of the Board. Effective January 1, 20@8, Reddick’s, Spivey’s and Clemersilaries were increased to $365,000 (from $300,
$315,000 (from $260,000) and $205,000 (from $180)00espectively. In addition, the employment agreets provide for annual bor
payments, in the discretion of the Compensation @ittee or the Board, subject to the satisfactioswath targets, conditions or paramete
may be agreed upon from time to time by the emm@md the Compensation Committee. In determiniagéiary increase for each of Mes
Reddick, Spivey and Clemens, the Compensation Ctaeerand the Board considered that, due to ouffingnt cash reserves, such execu
officers had not received any salary increase arubes during the prior four years. The amount ef ghlary increases were based
percentage increase, on average, slightly grelager the Consumer Price Index year for each dutiegdur year period ended Decembet
2007. In addition, in December 2007, Messrs. Reddipivey and Clemens were awarded bonuses of @880$650,000 and $180,0
respectively. These amounts were based on a pageeof such executivebase salary, ranging from 25% to 70%, for eaetn gtaring the fot
year period ended December 31, 2007 (corresportdirige period over which no bonuses were paid thosenanagement because of
limited cash reserves). The salary and bonus peebce targets for Messrs. Reddick, Spivey and Qlenfier 2008 consist of advancing
Acurox™ (oxycodone HCI and niacin) Tablets and otheducts using our Aversion®@echnology through proof of concept and clin
developments, implementing the King Agreement,ngieg of additional products to King through thesexse of Kings options under ti
King Agreement and licensing products derived fraum Aversion® Technology outside of North America.

No compensation will be earned with respect to dopmance measure unless a performance "floortHfat measure is exceeded;
incentive opportunity with respect to a measuré gl earned if the target is achieved; achieverhetween the floor and the target results
lower amount of award with respect to that perfaroga measure. An amount larger than the incentiorpnity for each performan
measure can be earned, up to and possibly exceadipgcified limit, for exceeding the target foattimneasure. In setting compensation le
the Compensation Committee compares our Compangotopanies of comparable business focus, marketatiaption, technologic
capabilities and market in which we compete forceiges. As part of this process, the Compensaliommittee and the Board does not
the compensation levels of comparable companieBeashmarks, rather as a factor in evaluating thepemsation levels of the nam
executive officer. To date, compensation consudtdrdve not been retained by the Compensation Cdeemitr the Board as part of 1
process.
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In ascertaining the achieved level of performangairest the targets, the effects of certain extriaarg events, as determined by
Compensation Committee, such as (i) major acqaistiand divestitures, (ii) significant otime charges, and (iii) changes in accour
principles required by the Financial Accountingristards Board, are "compensation neutral” for ther y® which they occurred; that is, tt
are not taken into account in determining the de¢wpenhich the targets are met in that year.

The Compensation Committee may, after a reviewnokxecutive’'s performance, recomment the Board that a bonus awarc
made to such executives based upon otheremmmmerated performance targets (whether or not @heyparties to employment agreeme
This could result in the award of salary increaselsonuses above a targeted range amount. In 280&flected in the Summary Compens:
Table, bonuses were paid after the closing of timg lAgreement.

For those named executive officers not subjecinteraployment contract (Messrs. Emigh and Seiskee) Qompensation Commit!
will set the annual salary for such named executflieers between December and March and estapbséntial bonus compensation that ¢
executives may earn based upon quantitative anappficable, qualitative performance goals esthblisby the Compensation Commit
Effective January 1, 2008, Messrs. Emigh’s and e3&isalaries were increased to $160,000 (from $100,80d $160,000 (from $133,0C
respectively. In determining the salary increaseefach of Messrs. Emigh and Seiser, the Compems@ionmittee and the Board conside
that, due to our insufficient cash reserves, su@t@tive officers had not received any salary iasesor bonuses during the prior four ye
The amount of the salary increases were basedpencantage increase, on average, slightly gre@aerthe Consumer Price Index for each
during the four year period ended December 31, 200&ddition, in December 2007, Messrs Emigh apivey were each awarded bonuse
$140,000. This amount was based on a percentagechf executives base salary, ranging from 26% to 32%, for eacr jre the four ye:
period ended December 31, 2007 (correspondinget@dhiod over which no bonuses were paid to senemagement because of our lim
cash reserves).

Stock Options

One longterm component of our executive compensation prageansists of stock option grants. The options galyepermit the
option holder to buy the number of shares of oum@mn Stock covered by the option (an "option exeriat a price fixed at the time of gri
While we have historically granted stock optionsihg an exercise price equal to the fair marketigadf our Common Stock on the dat
grant, during 2004 and 2005, we issued stock optiorour employees at a discount to the tradingepof our common stock. The vesting
these options during 2006 and 2007 is reflectetthén“Option Awards”options column of the Summary Compensation Tablevhdt is oul
expectation that discounted stock option grants agitur only on an isolated basis in the future rehgircumstances warrant. With respet
stock options grants having an exercise price egutile market price of our Common Stock on the aditgrant, such options generally ¢
value only to the extent our stock price excee@sajtion exercise price during the life of the optiGenerally, a portion of the options \
over a period of time if the option holder remaimsemployee and expire no later than ten years gddat. Executives will generally be sub
to limitations in selling the option stock immedit due to securities law considerations, and foegewill have an incentive to incre:
shareholder value. As of December 31, 2007, Messddick and Spivey were fully vested in their &toptions. Stock options for 9,3
6,225, and 6,225 shares remain to vest for Me§desnens, Emigh and Seiser, respectively. In 200@aduitional option grants were mad:
the named executive officers as the Compensationn@itiee and the Board elected to grant salary asge and bonuses instead based ¢
improved cash position and the absence of the aefasdch cash incentives during the prior four gear

Timing Policies with Respect to Options
We have no plan or practice to time option grantsaordination with the release of npaoblic information and we do not time
release of nopublic information to affect the value of executim@mpensation. Option grant dates for options ddoenew executive office

will likely be the date of their employment or exéon of their agreements. Any such options maysbaed at a discount to take into acc
the limited public float and the wide ranges in stock price.

48




Restricted Stock Uni

Another component of our executive compensatiorgfamm is the grant of RSUs under our 2005 RSU PAaRRSU represents
contingent obligation to deliver a share of our coon stock to the holder of the RSU on a distrihutitate. Each RSU award made to
executives in 2005 vested otterd (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tihlgrincrements on the first day of each month beigic
January 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. Wdssile the vested shares underlying the RSU awardbe earlier of (i) a Change
Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Plan), oriifour annual installments starting on Januar2@11. In the event of a Change of Con
our issuance of the vested shares shall be maddump sum distribution. In the absence of a Chasfg€ontrol, the issuance of the ves
shares shall be made in four (4) equal installmenteach of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, ady2013 and January 1, 2014. Upon
distribution of the vested shares underlying théJRSvards, the recipients must submit to us thevpére of $0.01 per share. In 2005,
granted Messrs. Reddick, Spivey, Clemens, SeisgrEamigh RSU awards with respect to 825,000, 66Q,dd0,000, 165,000 and 137,
underlying shares, respectively. In the case ofdeReddick, Spivey and Clemens, such awardeflexted in their employment agreeme
The vesting during 2006 and 2007 of the RSUs gcaim@005 is reflected in the “Stock Awardsilumn of the Summary Compensation Te
below. As of December 31, 2007, all named execudffieers were fully vested in their RSUs. In 2087 additional RSUs were granted to
named executive officers as the Compensation Caeenédnd the Board elected to grant salary increasdsbonuses instead based or
improved cash position and the absence of the aefasdch cash incentives during the prior four gear

Termination/Severance Benefits

The employment agreement of each of Messrs. Red@ielknens and Spivey provides severance benefiterwertain circumstanc
The severance benefits provided to each such axediiffer, but include payments of a pro rata b®ou non equity incentive compensat
one to two years of salary and one to two yearseokfits. See “Employment Agreements” a@uéntifying Termination/Change of Cont
Payments’in this Item 11. We believe severance arrangenfenthe highest level officers help them to focusstbeir respective job functio
even while we are experiencing some financial diffies and gives them comfort that we will nothlily terminate their employment. \
believe these severance benefits were necessaiy able to initially hire and to retain these exe@s. In turn Messrs. Reddick, Spivey
Clemens have agreed after their employment witkends under certain circumstances not to compesslait our employees for hire fol
limited period of time. We believe that such nomgete and noselicit provisions are important to protect our ibess. The severar
benefits are standard in employment contracts are the results of negotiations between us anexecutives.

The other executive officers named in the Summamn@ensation Table have no contractual severanaitseifi terminated by the
Company other than acceleration of vesting of tR&Us.

Retirement Plan

Beginning in 1998, we have maintained a 401(k) plaat allows us to make both discretionary and matg contributions, but v
have not done so since inception. We have no pemdans or norgualified deferred compensation plans and, aswdtrése columns relatir
to such plans in the Summary Compensation Tablblarg.

Change in Control

Currently unexercisable options vest with respectli underlying shares upon a change of contrel defined in employme
agreements, in the case of Messrs. Reddick, SgimdyClemens, and in stock option agreements, icdse of Messrs. Emigh and Seiser
all named executive officers. In addition, discashbptions that are subject to Section 409A ofitibernal Revenue Code of 1986, as ame
(“Section 409A), become exercisable upon a changerdfol that qualifies as a change of control uriection 409A. In addition, RSUs v
with respect to all underlying shares upon a chaig®ntrol and are distributed upon a change otrob (provided the requirements of Sec
409A are met). In addition, Messrs. Reddick, Spiaaeg Clemens receive severance and bonuses ift¢h@eynate their employment afte
change of control (as defined in their employmegreaments), or we terminate their employment atehange of control. We feel our cha
of control provisions incentivize our executivestek opportunities for us and realize benefitsifeochange of control transaction even the
such change of control may lead to the terminadiotheir positions.
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Tax Reimbursements

Because of the scalled "parachute" tax imposed by Internal Revefoele Section 280G, our named executive officers g
subject to such tax upon the exercise of optiors distributions under RSUs upon a change of cont@ currently have no agreement
reimburse our named executive officers for any $argosed as a result of these additional exciestaNe will pay taxes incurred by Mes
Reddick and Spivey on a lump sum distribution & Walue of twelve months of benefits, which theymkect in lieu of continued benefits,
the event their employment terminates under cediadumstances.

Perquisites and Other Benef

Our named executive officers receive no perquisiés have not made either discretionary or matckimgtributions to their 401(
plans, although our plan provides that we may dd>so named executive officers are not provide® alibwances and they receive no cou
club or golf club memberships. We may, however sgber such perquisites in the future.

Board Proces:

The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directgproves all compensation and awards to the naxecltive officers ar
thereafter submits its recommendation to the fulai® for approval. All such decisions are made whth consultation of the Chief Execut
Officer, except those relating to the compensatibthe Chief Executive Officer. With respect to ltaw equity compensation awards to
other employees, the Compensation Committee maossnmendations of bonus awards, salary increagagy ggrants to the Board, with t
Board approving such awards. Except for salarysadjants and cash bonus and equity awards to tref Ekécutive Officer, these items
generally based upon the recommendation of the fChBiecutive Officer. For example, in 2007, the CGhiexecutive Officer mac
recommendations with respect to bonuses and sedargases for all other employees (other than Hiinaad the Compensation Commit
and Board adopted such recommendations. With respealary adjustments and cash bonus and edeitysito the Chief Executive Offic
the Compensation Committee (excluding Mr. Reddedtpblishes such awards for the Chief Executivéc@ffsubject to review and appro
of the Board .

Summary Compensation Table and Discussion of Employent and Incentive Arrangements
The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us for services rendered inaghcities to us during the fis
years ended December 31, 2006 and December 31,t@@0 Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financialf@ér and our next three most hig

compensated executive officers (collectively, tharfied executive officers”) whose total annual camspgon for 2006 and/or 2007 excee
$100,000:
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Summary Compensation Table

Name and Base Stock Option

Principal Salary Bonus Awards 1 Awards 2 Total

Position Year $) ($) $) ($) ($)
Andrew D. Reddick 2006 300,00( — 1,375,001 $ 77,00( 1,752,00!
President & CEO 2007 300,00( 850,00( 264,00( 0 1,414,001
Peter A. Clemens 2006 180,00( — 733,00( 23,00( 936,00(
SVP & CFO 2007 180,00( 180,00( 141,00( 11,00( 512,00(
Ron J. Spivey 2006 260,00( — 1,110,001 166,00( 1,536,00!
SVP and Chief
Scientific Officer 2007 260,00( 650,00( 211,00( 0 1,121,001
James F. Emigh 2006 140,00( — 229,00( 16,00( 385,00(
VP, Marketing &
Administration 2007 140,00( 140,00( 44,00( 7,00( 331,00(
Robert A. Seiser 2006 133,00( — 275,00( 16,00( 424,00(
VP, Corporate
Controller & Treasurer 2007 133,00( 140,00( 53,00( 7,00( 333,00(

1. The 2006 and 2007 entries reflect the vestingaich of 2006 and 2007 of outstanding RSUs witpeetsto 275,000, 146,600, 220,000,
45,833 and 55,000 underlying shares for MessrsdiRkdClemens, Spivey, Emigh and Seiser, respdgtilde dollar amount provided is the
compensation cost for such awards recognized ir6 20@ 2007 in accordance with FAS 123R, as refieaieour financial statements
disregarding the risk of forfeiture relating to\see — based vesting conditions.

2. The 2006 entries reflect the vesting in 200@®wtstanding options with respect to 150,000, 9,333,333, 6,225 and 6,225 underlying
shares for Messrs. Reddick, Clemens, Spivey, Eraigh Seiser, respectively. The 2007 entries refleetvesting in 2007 of outstanding
options with respect to 9,375, 6,225 and 6,225 uyidg shares for Messrs Clemens, Emigh and Seisspectively. The dollar amount
reported is the compensation cost for such awardsgnized in 2006 and 2007 in accordance with FASR] as reflected in our financial
statements.

Other Compensatory Arrangements
The named executive officers participate in medidahtal, life and disability insurance plans pd=d to all of our employees.
Employment Agreements

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emmlest Agreement effective as of August 26, 200%rasnded, which provid
that Mr. Reddick will serve as our Chief ExecutiWfficer and President for a term expiring Decent®Er2008. The term of the Employm
Agreement provides for automatic one (1) year reaigw the absence of written notice to the cogtfeom us or Mr. Reddick at least nin
(90) days prior to the expiration of the initialrte or any subsequent renewal period. Mr. Reddidkase salary under the Employn
Agreement is $365,000 (increased by the Board $800,000 effective January 1, 2008). Pursuantéd=timployment Agreement, Mr. Redd
is entitled to an annual bonus based on the admientof such targets, conditions, or parameteraashbe set from time to time by the Bc
of Directors or the Compensation Committee of tloaf8 of Directors. For our 2007 fiscal year, Mrdlliek was awarded a bonus of $850,
due to, among other reasons, the successful cdoplef our Unit Offering and the King Agreement. ertEmployment Agreement a
provides for our grant to Mr. Reddick of stock op exercisable for up to 875,000 shares of Com&took at an exercise price of $1.30
share. The stock options provide for vesting of,800 shares on the date of grant of the optiorh) thié balance vesting in monthly increm
of 25,000 shares at the expiration of each momiblyod thereafter commencing with the month endingust 31, 2004. The exercise pric
$1.30 per share represents a discount to the faikehvalue of our common stock on the date oftg@n August 12, 2004, the date of grar
the stock options, the average of the closing bidl @sked prices for our Common Stock was $4.35a@&z 450,000 of the discounted opt
are subject to Section 409A, in 2007, we establishe exercise schedule to comply with Section 46®&Asuch 450,000 options so that
options are exercisable (subject to earlier exability as set forth in the table below entitledvéats Affecting Option Vesting and Exerciye”
in four equal installments on January 1 of eacBGdf1, 2012, 2013 and 2014, provided that such eptinay be exercised only in the calel
year in which they first become exercisable, andadnevent later than August 11, 2014. The Employmemeement also acknowledges
grant to Mr. Reddick of a Restricted Stock Unit Adi@roviding for our issuance of up to 825,000 skaf our Common Stock. The Restrit
Stock Unit vested onthird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tiMgrincrements on the first day of each month beigig January
2006 and ending December 1, 2007. The vested shadeslying the Restricted Stock Unit Award will lssued by us on the earlier of (
Change in Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Rlan)ii) January 1, 2011. In the event of a Chamg€ontrol, we will issue the vest



shares in a lump sum distribution. In the abserice Ghange of Control, the issuance of the vestedes shall be made in four
equal installments on each of January 1, 2011 afgriy 2012, January 1, 2013 and January 1, 20fdn lissuance of the shares underlying
Restricted Stock Unit Award, Mr. Reddick must remoitus the par value of $0.01 per share. On Dece2ibe2005, the date of grant of
Restricted Stock Unit Award, the average of thesiclg bid and asked prices of our common stock v8a33% as reported by the OTCBB. |
Reddick has no rights as a stockholder, includioglividend or voting rights, with respect to theasds underlying the Restricted Stock |
Award until we issue the shares. The EmploymenteAgrent contains standard termination provisiordudting upon death, disability, 1
Cause, for Good Reason and without Cause. In teetelie Employment Agreement is terminated duesttidor disability, we are requirec
pay Mr. Reddick, or his designee, a pro rata portibthe annual bonus that would have been payali&r. Reddick during such year assun
full achievement of the bonus criteria establisf@dsuch bonus.
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In the event that the Employment Agreement is teataid by us without Cause or by Mr. Reddick for G&mason, we are requirec
pay Mr. Reddick an amount equal to the bonus fohstear, calculated on a pro rata basis assumihgduievement of the bonus criteria
such year (to the extent it has not already beat),p@s well as Mr. Reddick's base salary for oeary{such salary amount being the "Sevet
Pay"). In case of termination without Cause, sualesance is payable in equal monthly installmerts a period of twelve (12) months, an
the case of termination by Mr. Reddick for Good $em onehalf of such severance is payable six months &tenination, and the remaini
half of such severance is payable thereafter im&xthly installments. In addition, Mr. Reddickashis option entitled to continued cover
under our then existing benefit plans, includingdioal and life insurance, for twelve (12) monthsnirthe date of termination or the valus
such benefits payable in a lump sum thirty daydeofination together with amount needed to pay nimedax on such lump sum. 1
Employment Agreement permits Mr. Reddick to terrténthe Employment Agreement in the event of a ChangControl (as defined in t
Employment Agreement), in which case such termimais considered to be made without Cause, emfithtr. Reddick to the benef
described above, except that (i) the SeverancesHagyable in a lump sum within six months after tlate of termination, and (ii) with optic
being treated as set forth in the table below ledtit'Events Affecting Option Vesting and Exercis€he Employment Agreement restricts
Reddick from disclosing, disseminating or using i@ personal benefit or for the benefit of oth@mfidential or proprietary information |
defined in the Employment Agreement) and, providedhave not breached the terms of the Employmen¢exgent, from competing with
at any time prior to one year after the terminatdrhis employment with us. In addition he has adraot to (and not to cause or direct
person to) hire or solicit for employment any ofr @mployees or those of our subsidiaries or aféla(i) for six (6) months following tl
termination of his employment by us without Causép him for Good Reason, prior to a Change of @uin(ii) for twelve (12) montt
following the termination of his employment for Gay prior to a Change of Control, or (iii) twerfour (24) months following a Change
Control. The table entitled “Events Affecting Opti&¥esting and Exercise,” below summarizes the mgsiind exercisability of Mr. Reddick’
options following a number of termination scenawos Change of Control.
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Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to aplByment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004,aamended, which provic
that Dr. Spivey will serve as our Senior Vice Pdesit and Chief Scientific Officer for term expirii@ecember 31, 2008. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€ar renewals in the absence of written noticthéocontrary from us or Dr. Spivey
least ninety (90) days prior to the expirationtwd tnitial term or any subsequent renewal periad.9pivey’s base salary under the Employn
Agreement is $315,000 (increased by the Board 860,000 effective January 1, 2008). Pursuantadinployment Agreement Dr. Spive'
eligible for annual bonuses based on the achieveofesuch targets, conditions, or parameters as beaget from time to time by the Boartc
Directors or the Compensation Committee of the BadrDirectors. In 2007, Dr. Spivey was awardedaus of $650,000 due to, among o
reasons, the completion of our Unit Offering anel iling Agreement. The Employment Agreement alsviges for our grant to Mr. Spivey
stock options exercisable for up to 700,000 shafeSommon Stock at an exercise price of $1.30 peres The stock option provides
vesting of 100,000 shares on October 1, 2004, 33sBares on each January 1, 2005, April 1, 200%,1J1®005 and October 1, 2005, 388,
shares on January 1, 2006 and 77,800 on April @6 20he exercise price of $1.30 per share represediscount to the fair market value of
common stock on the date of grant. Because 60@0@te discounted options are subject to Sectidd4@ 2007, we established an exer
schedule to comply with Section 409A for such 600,0ptions so that the options are exercisablgésttn earlier exercisability as set fortt
the table below entitled “Events Affecting Optioreadting and Exercise’ip four equal installments on January 1 of eacQif1, 2012, 201
and 2014, provided that such options may be exadadmly in the calendar year in which they firsttrae exercisable, and in no event |
than their expiration dates. The Employment Agre@na¢éso acknowledges the grant to Dr. Spivey okatfcted Stock Unit Award providil
for our issuance of up to 660,000 shares of our i@omStock. The Restricted Stock Unit vests tried (1/3) upon grant and the balanc
equal monthly increments on the first day of eacmnti beginning January 1, 2006 and ending Decethkizd07. The vested shares underl
the Restricted Stock Unit Award will be issued tsyan the earlier of (i) a Change in Control (adraef in our 2005 RSU Plan), or (ii) Janu
1, 2011. In the event of a Change in Control, wik igssue the vested shares in a lump sum distobutin the absence of a Change in Cor
the issuance of the vested shares shall be maderir{4) equal installments on each of JanuaryOlL12 January 1, 2012, January 1, 2018
January 1, 2014. Upon issuance of the shares yintlpthe Restricted Stock Unit Award, Dr. Spiveyshtemit to us the par value of $0.01
share. On December 22, 2005, the date of grarheoReestricted Stock Unit Award, the average ofdlusing bid and asked prices of
common stock was $3.33, as reported by the OTCBBSPivey has no rights as a stockholder, includiogdividend or voting rights, wi
respect to the shares underlying the RestrictedkStimit Award until we issue the shares. The Emplept Agreement contains stanc
termination provisions, including upon death, dikgh for Cause, for Good Reason and without Causethe event that we terminate
Employment Agreement without Cause or Dr. Spivaynirates the Employment Agreement for Good Reas@nare required to pay [
Spivey an amount equal to the bonus for such yedeulated on a pro rata basis assuming full aem@nt of the bonus criteria for such y
(to the extent it has not already been paid), dsageDr. Spivey's base salary for one year (s@targ amount being the "Severance Pay"
case of termination without Cause, such severanpayable in equal monthly installments over aquedf twelve (12) months, and in the ¢
of termination by Dr. Spivey for Good Reason, dradf- of such severance is payable six months &éfenination, and the remaining hall
such severance is payable thereafter in six eqoathty installments. In addition, Dr. Spivey is iéletl to continued coverage under our 1
existing benefit plans, including medical and liflsurance, for twelve (12) months from the datéeofination. The Employment Agreem
permits Dr. Spivey to terminate the Employment Agnent in the event of a Change in Control for Gétehson (as defined in !
Employment Agreement), entitling Dr. Spivey to tienefits described above, except that (i) the Sener Pay is payable in a lump sum wi
six months after the date of termination, and djptions granted to Dr. Spivey vest and become &able as set forth in the table be
entitled, “Events Affecting Option Vesting and Egise.” The Employment Agreement restricts Dr. Spivey frdisclosing, disseminating
using for his personal benefit or for the benefibthers, confidential or proprietary informaticas(defined in the Employment Agreement)
provided we have not breached the terms of the &mnmtnt Agreement, from competing with us at anyetiprior to one year after t
termination of his employment with us. In additid®r, Spivey has agreed not to (and not to causdirect any person to) hire or solicit
employment any of our employees or those of ousislidries or affiliates (i) for six (6) months foWing the termination of his employment
us without Cause or by him for Good Reason, prioatChange of Control, (ii) for twelve (12) montfdlowing the termination of h
employment for Cause, prior to a Change of Contoljii) twenty-four (24) months following a Chaa@f Control. The table entitledEVent:
Affecting Option Vesting and Exercise,” below, suammes the vesting and exercisability of Mr. Sphgepptions following a number
termination scenarios or a Change of Control.
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Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an EmpdoyrAgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, asrated, which provides tt
Mr. Clemens will serve as our Senior Vice Presidemd Chief Financial Officer for a term expiring denber 31, 2008. The term of
Employment Agreement provides for automatic oney€8r renewals in the absence of written noticiaéocontrary from the Company or |
Clemens at least ninety (90) days prior to the rtipn of any renewal period. Mr. Clemens currease salary under the Employrr
Agreement is $205,000 (increased from $180,00@& &k January 1, 2008). Under the Employment Agegimhe may also receive an ani
bonus to be determined based on the satisfactisudi targets, conditions or parameters as mayebamdined from time to time by t
Compensation Committee of the Board of Directans2007, Mr. Clemens was awarded a bonus of $180j0@do, among other reasons,
completion of our Unit Offering and the King Agreent. The Employment Agreement also provides forgttaat of stock options on March
1998 to purchase 30,000 shares of our common stbak exercise price of $23.75 per share, whiclooegtvest in equal increments of 2,
option shares at the end of each quarterly pengihd the term of the Employment Agreement (as stedting schedule may be amende
mutual agreement of Mr. Clemens and the Board oéddors) In addition, in August 2004, the Compamnged stock options to Mr. Clem
to purchase 37,500 shares of Common Stock at aviseerice of $1.30 per share, which exerciseeprépresents a discount to the fair me
value of our common stock on the date of granthSatock options vest in four equal portions até¢he of each annual period commen
March 9, 2005. Such stock options are exercisahibjéct to earlier exercisability as set forth lie table below entitledEvents Affectini
Option Vesting and Exerciseif) four equal installments on January 1 of eacBQff1, 2012, 2013 and 2014, provided that such egtioay b
exercised only in the calendar year in which thest become exercisable, and in any event no tatar their respective expiration dates.
Employment Agreement also acknowledges the gramirtoClemens of a Restricted Stock Unit Award pding for our issuance of up
440,000 shares of our Common Stock. The Restrigtedk Unit vests on#iird (1/3) upon grant and the balance in equal tigrincrement
on the first day of each month beginning Januar@)6 and ending December 1, 2007. We will issuewbsted shares underlying
Restricted Stock Unit Award on the earlier of (iEhange in Control (as defined in our 2005 RSU Rlan(ii) January 1, 2011. In the even
a Change in Control, we will issue the vested share lump sum distribution. In the absence ohar@e in Control, our issuance of the ve
shares shall be made in four (4) equal installmentgach of January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, dardy£013 and January 2014. Upol
issuance of the shares underlying the RestricteckS#nit Award, Mr. Clemens must remit to us the palue of $0.01 per share. On Decen
22, 2005, the date of grant of the Restricted Stdait Award, the average of the closing bid andealsgrices of our common stock was $2
as reported by the OTCBB. Mr. Clemens has no rigista stockholder, including no dividend or votiights, with respect to the sha
underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Award until vesue the shares. The Employment Agreement canstamdard termination provisio
including upon death, disability, for Cause, fora@dReason and without Cause. In the event the Emynt Agreement is terminated by
without Cause or by Mr. Clemens for Good Reasonaveerequired to pay Mr. Clemens an amount equ&Biid®,000 or twice his then bi
salary, whichever is greater, payable in the cdgermination without Cause in a lump sum within @@ys following termination and in t
case of termination for Good Reason, six monther aérmination and to continue to provide Mr. Clemeoverage under our then exis
benefit plans, including medical and life insuranfoe a term of 24 months. The Employment Agreenparmits Mr. Clemens to terminate
Employment Agreement in the event of a Change int@b (as defined in the Employment Agreement)winich case he would receive
same payments as on a termination for Good RedsmnEmployment Agreement also restricts Mr. Clemfems disclosing, disseminating
using for his personal benefit or for the benefibthers confidential or proprietary informatiors(@defined in the Employment Agreement) i
provided we have not breached the terms of the &mpént Agreement, from competing with us at anyetmnior to two years after the ear
to occur of the expiration of the term and the ieation of his employment. In addition, for a petiof two (2) years from and after
effective date of the termination of his employmerith us (for any reason whatsoever), (i) inducetempt to influence any employee of
Corporation or any of its subsidiaries or affilgte leave its employ, or (ii) aid any person, hass, or firm, including a supplier, a compet
licensor or customer of or our manufacturer for@weporation, in any attempt to hire any person whall have been employed by us or ar
our subsidiaries or affiliates within the periodasfe (1) year of the date of any such requestedTéie table entitledEvents Affecting Optio
Vesting and Exercise,” below, summarizes the vgstind exercisability of Mr. Clemesi'options following a number of termination sceos
or a Change of Control.

EVENTS AFFECTING STOCK OPTION VESTING AND EXERCISE
(FOR MESSRS. REDDICK, SPIVEY AND CLEMENS)

Vesting of Exercisability of Options not Exercisability of Options Subject
All Options subject to Section 409A to Section 409A

Termination due to Death No additiong Vested options immediately exercise Vested options immediately exercisable
vesting for one year following termination the lesser of (a) one year follow

termination or (b) the last day of the y
in which they become exercisable

Termination by Company Withc All options fully Vested options immediately exercise Vested options exercisable commen

Cause or by Employee for Gc¢ vest for one year following termination six months after termination for the les
Reason or following Change of (a) one year following termination or
Control (not qualifying und the last day of the year in which t

Section 409A) become exercisable



Termination due to Disability No additiong Vested options immediately exercise Vested options exercisable commen
vesting for one year following termination six months after termination for the les
of (a) one year following termination or
the last day of the year in which t
become exercisable

Termination by the Company i No additione Vested options immediately exercise Vested options exercisable commen

Cause or by executive other tl vesting for 40 days following termination six months after termination for the les

for Good Reason of (a) 40 days thereafter or (b) the last
of the calendar year in which they f
become exercisable

Change of Control, Qualifyir Options fully Vested options immediately exercisableVested options exercisable upon Chang

under Section 409A vest Control qualifying under Section 40!
during the year in which the Change
Control occurs

Messrs. Seiser and Emigh are not parties to emmayagreements.
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Stock Option Plans

We currently maintain two stock option plans addpite 1995 and 1998, respectively. In the past weduand may continue to u
stock options to attract and retain key employedbé belief that employee stock ownership andkstelated compensation devices encou
a community of interest between employees and bblters.

The 1995 Stock Option Plan

The 1995 Stock Option Plan was approved by ourestudgiers in September, 1995. As of December 317 #ientive stock optiol
(“ISO's”) to purchase 26,251 shares and gaalified options to purchase 10,639 shares wetgtanding under the 1995 Stock Option Pla
May, 2005 the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired ardrémaining unissued shares allocated to the Péaa terminated. The average per s
exercise price for all outstanding options under1B95 Stock Option Plan is approximately $15.82.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan

The 1998 Stock Option Plan was adopted by the BofaRrectors in April, 1998 and approved by ouas#holders in June, 1998. °
1998 Stock Option Plan permits the grant of IS@d aonqualified stock options to purchase shares of cam@on Stock. The 1998 Stc
Option Plan was amended by the Board of Director&gril, 1999 to increase the number of shareslabta for the grant of options under
Plan from 260,000 to 360,000 shares. Our sharet®lddified the Plan amendment on August 19, 199%& 1998 Stock Option Plan v
further amended by Board of Directors in April, 20 increase the number of shares available fantgof options under the Plan fr
360,000 to 810,000 shares. Our shareholders rhtifie Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 199& &ption Plan was further amen
by the Board of Directors on May 5, 2004 to inceedise number of shares available for grant of ogtionder the Plan from 810,00C
2,000,000 shares. Our shareholders ratified tha Btaendment on August 12, 2004. The 1998 Stocko®ian was further amended
February 8, 2006 to make such plan compliant witin 409A of the Internal Revenue Code, as ann@ear shareholders ratified
amendment on December 14, 2006. As of Decembe2®X, stock options to purchase 1,821,609 shar€oofmon Stock had been grar
under the 1998 Stock Option Plan. Of such opticemty, 85,982 are 1ISOs and 1,735,627 are quaiified options. The average per sl
exercise price for all outstanding options under 1898 Stock Option Plan is approximately $2.27.eMercise price of an ISO was set at
than 100% of the fair market value of the undedyidommon Stock. The exercise price of malified options exercisable for 1,699,
shares of common stock has been set at less tedaithmarket value on the date of grant of theaulyihg Common Stock. Subject to the te
of the 1998 Stock Option Plan, the Board of Direstor a Committee appointed by the Board detersnihe persons to whom grants are n
and the vesting, timing, amounts and other termsuch grant. An employee may not receive ISO'saisadle in any one calendar year
shares with a fair market value on the date of igiarexcess of $100,000. No quantity limitationplgpto the grant of nomualified stoc
options.
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Options issued to date at a discount under the 83@& Option Plan, which had not vested as of Ddxar 31, 2004, are exercise
(subject to earlier exercise as described belovigun equal installments on January 1 of each df12@012, 2013 and 2014. These option:
exercisable earlier than stated above upon a girgifchange of control and upon termination of evgpient (generally for a period of
days), subject in the case of termination, to ao®ittm waiting period prior to exercise for Messrgi&iek, Clemens, Spivey, Seiser and Enr
In no event are these options exercisable outbigledlendar year in which they first become exaltés See Events Affecting Option Vestir
and Exercise” above for the vesting and exercisgtibns granted to Messrs. Reddick, Spivey andth€fes.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors apgafoaur 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan (tB805 RSU Plan”for oul
employees and noemployee directors. The RSU Plan was amended bRBalaed of Directors on October 26, 2006 to alloansfer of RSL
under limited circumstances. A RSU represents tmilegent obligation of the Company to deliver arghof our common stock to the hol
of the RSU on a distribution date. RSUs for up tmiBion shares of common stock are authorizedigesuance under the 2005 RSU Plan.
believe that the 2005 RSU Plan did not require edt@der approval. Nevertheless, on December 146,200 shareholders ratified the 2
RSU Plan, as amended, at our 2006 Annual SharelsbMeeting.

The purpose of the 2005 RSU Plan is to attractjvatet and retain experienced and knowledgeable @rapk by offering additior
stock based compensation and incentives to detepatentially enhance their compensation and toemge stock ownership in the Comp
and to attract and retain qualified nemployee directors. The 2005 RSU Plan is intendesbiply with Section 409A of the Internal Reve
Code of 1986, as amended and is designed to cottimmcompensation deferred under the Plan whiculigect to Code Section 409A is
included in the gross income of 2005 RSU Plan giadnts until such time as the shares of commorkstoderlying RSUs are distributec
set forth in the Plan and Code Section 409A.

The RSU Plan is administered by our Board of Doecbr a Committee appointed by the Board of DaectHowever, with respect
non-employee directors, the Board administers tlam,Pand the Committee has no discretion with retspe any grants to noemploye:
directors. RSUs granted under the RSU plan vesa aghedule determined by the Board of Directorsumh Committee as set forth i
restricted stock unit award agreement. Unless wtiserset forth in such award agreement, the RSUg Wast upon a change in control
defined in the 2005 RSU Plan) of the Company omutgsmination of an employeeemployment without cause or due to death or disa
and in the case of a non-employee director, suckops death or disability or if such person is not reimated as a director (other than
“cause” or refusal to stand for stection) or is not elected by our stockholdersydminated. Vesting of an RSU entitles the holteraof tc
receive a share of common stock of the Companydistabution date (after payment of the $0.01 yeue per share).

Absent a change of control, ofeirth of vested shares of common stock underlndRSU award will be distributed (after payn
of $0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of e&@011, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in cowitours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award willisibuted at or about the time of the changeantiml. No dividends accrue on the sh.
underlying the RSUs prior to issuance. The recigief RSU awards need not be employees or direofdree Company on a distribution date.

RSUs may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypotcaansferred, or disposed of in any manner byréipients other tharby will
or by the laws of descent or distribution and }dale spouse, children or grandchildren of the dearthe "Immediate Family Members"), (i
trust or trusts for the exclusive benefit of sustmediate Family Members, or (iii) a partnershipviich such Immediate Family Members
the only partners, provided that (x) there may beconsideration for any such transfer, (y) subsegtransfers of transferred RSUs shal
prohibited except those made by will or by the lafglescent or distribution, and (z) such transgfeapproved in advance by the Committet
Board in absence of a Committee). A married recipimay generally designate only a spouse as a io&rgfunless spousal consen
obtained.

56




Recipients of RSUs generally will not recognizeome when they are awarded RSUs (unless they aercbgnize income |
making a Section 83(b) election). RSU recipient recognize ordinary income in an amount equahmfair market value of the shares of
common stock issued pursuant to a distribution uttteRSU. We will generally be entitled to a taeddction in the same amount.

As of December 31, 2007 we had granted RSUs pmoyithr our issuance of up to an aggregate of 20@8Dshares of our comm
stock. 2,750,000 of such RSU Awards vest tiried (1/3) on grant and the balance vest in eguahthly increments on the first day of e
month beginning January 1, 2006 and ending Decerhp2007. The remaining 200,000 RSU Awards ves#&@ 7B shares on grant and
balance vested in equal monthly increments onitheday of March 1, 2006 and ending December 0,720

Outstanding Equity Awards at 2007 Year End and Optbn Exercises in 2007

The following table presents information regardmgstanding stock awards at December 31, 2007doh ef the named execut
officers: All RSU awards granted to named executiffcers had vested at December 31, 2007.

OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT 2007 YEAR-END

Option Awards

Number of Number of
Securities Securities
Underlying Underlying Option
Unexercised Unexercised Exercise Option
Options (#) Options (#) Price Expiration
Name Exercisable Unexercisable 6)) Date
Andrew D. Reddick 875,00( — $ 1.3C 08/12/201.
Peter A. Clemens 30,00( — % 23.7¢ 02/19/200:
10,00( — % 11.2¢ 03/08/200!
12,50( — % 18.7¢ 02/17/2011
10,00( — % 11.12¢ 06/29/2011
28,12¢ 9,37t % 1.3C 03/09/201.
Ron J. Spivey 300,00 $ 1.3C 04/15/201.
400,00( — % 1.3C 12/09/201!
Robert A. Seiser 4,00( — % 25.0( 05/29/200:
1,60(C — % 11.2¢ 03/08/200!
3,00( — 3 18.7¢ 02/17/2011
4,00( — % 11.12¢ 06/29/2011
2,50( — 3 24.6( 11/15/201.
18,67¢ 6,22t $ 1.3C 03/09/201.
James F. Emigh 1,00(C — $ 25.0( 05/29/200:
1,00(C — 3 15.0(C 10/13/200:
1,60(C — $ 11.2¢ 03/08/200!
5,00( — % 18.7¢ 02/17/2011
4,00( — $ 11.12¢ 06/29/2011
2,50( — % 24.6( 11/15/201.
18,67¢ 6,22t $ 1.3C 03/09/201-
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The following table presents information regardihg value realized on the vesting during 2007 ofJR®/ards to the named
executive officers. No stock options were exercisgthe named executive officers during 2007.

OPTION EXERCISE AND STOCK VESTED IN FISCAL YEAR 200 7

Stock Awards
Value Realized on Vesting

Name Number of Shares Vested (Y ($) @

Andrew D. Reddick 275,000 $ 3,331,62!
Peter A. Clemens 146,66 1,776,85!
Ron J. Spivey 220,00( 2,665,30!
James F. Emigh 45,83 555,26
Robert A. Seiser 55,00( 666,32!

(1) The vested shares underlying the RSUs willdseiéd by us on the earlier of (i) a Change of @brfrs defined in our 2005
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan), or (ii) in foannual installments starting on January 1, 201thénevent of a Change of Control, our
issuance of the vested shares shall be made m@dum distribution. In the absence of a Changeauitrol, the issuance of the vested shares
shall be issued in four (4) equal installments anheof January 1, 2011, January 1, 2012, Janua2@3 and January 1, 2014. Upon our
distribution of the vested shares underlying théJRShe recipients must submit to us the par vafu0.01 per share. The recipients of the
RSUs have no rights as a stockholder, includindiximlend or voting rights, with respect to the sfsaunderlying such awards until the shares
are issued by us.

(2) Value is determined by subtracting the $.01vzdue required to be paid on exchange of eachesfoarRSUs from the closing
price of our Common Stock on the OTCBB on eachirngstate and multiplying the result by the numbiestmares underlying the RSUs that
vested on such date and then aggregating thosksresu

Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table includes information as of Detger 31, 2007 relating to our 1995 and 1998 Stopkod Plans and our 20
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, which comprideo&lour equity compensation plans. The table mesithe number of securities to be is:
upon the exercise of outstanding options and Hisfions under outstanding Restricted Stock Unit Alsaunder such plans, the weighted-
average exercise price of outstanding options dmd rftumber of securities remaining available forufetissuance under such eq
compensation plans:
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Equity Compensation Plan Information

Number of Securities

Number Of Securities Remaining Available for
to Be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Future Issuance Under Equ
Exercise of Exercise Price of Compensation Plans
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, (Excluding Securities
Warrants and Rights Warrants and Rights Reflected in Column(a)
Plan Category (€) (b) (c)
Stock Option Equity Compensation Plg
Approved by Security Holders 1,858,49' $ 2.5t 102,66¢
Stock Option Equity Compensation Ple
Not Approved by Security Holders 0 0 0

Restricted Stock Unit Equity
Compensation Plans Approved by Sect
Holders 2,950,001 0.01 50,00(
Restricted Stock Unit Equity
Compensation Plans Not Approved b
Security Holders 0 0 0

TOTAL 4,808,49: $ 0.9¢ 152,66¢

Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

Messrs. Emigh and Seiser

Options. If a change of control occurs (which causts a change of control under the stock optigreements) previously unves
options vest with respect to all underlying sharetating to 6,225 shares for each of Messrs. Enaigth Seiser, as of December 31, 2
Messrs. Emigh and Seiser would realize a beneffs412 and $442, respectively, from such optionimgsif such change of control h
occurred on December 31, 2007. Upon the occurrefice change of control that meets the requiremehtSection 409A of the Interr
Revenue Code or upon termination of employmentkstptions granted to each of Messrs. Emigh andeBeéo purchase 24,900 share
common stock become exercisable in full.

RSUs. As of December 31, 2007, all RSUs grantéddssrs. Emigh and Seiser had vested. Upon the recma of a change of cont
that meets the requirements of Section 409A ofriteynal Revenue Code, the RSUs are fully disteblé for shares upon payment of the $.01
par value per share, instead of under their nodisadibution schedule.

The dollar benefits described above are the congtiemscost for such awards that would have beeogrized in 2007 in our financ
statements in accordance with FAS 123R, had sumderated vesting/distribution occurred.

Messrs. Reddick, Spivey and Clemens

Based upon a hypothetical triggering date of Deaa3i, 2007, the quantifiable benefits for MesArdrew Reddick, Peter Cleme
and Ron Spivey upon a termination/change of comimlld have been as set forth the table below:
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Medical,

Dental,
Value of Health,
Options Disability and

Triggering Vesting Life Insurance Total
Event Executive Severance Bonus (4) Benefits (7)
Termination by
Company without
Cause or by Andrew D. Reddick 300,00((1)(8) —(3) (5) 26,27((6) 326,27(
Employee for Good
Reason or after Ron J. Spivey 260,00((1)(9) —(3) (5) 7,875(6) 267,87!
Change of Contrc Peter A. Clemens 360,00((2)(10) —@3) 66€ 52,54((11) 413,20t
Termination for Andrew D. Reddick — —(3) — — —
Death Ron J. Spivey — — — — —

Peter A. Clemens — — — — —
Termination for Andrew D. Reddick — —(3) — — —
Disability Ron J. Spivey — — — — —

Peter A. Clemens — — — — —
Termination Andrew D. Reddick — — — — —
with Ron J. Spivey — — — — —
Cause Peter A. Clemens — — — — —
Change of Control Andrew D. Reddick — — (5) — —
Without Ron J. Spivey = — (5) — —
Termination Peter A. Clemens — — 66€ — 66€

The terms "Change of Control", "Cause", and "Goed$dn" have the meanings in the listed executamigloyment agreements.

(1) In the case of termination without Cause, pé&yab 12 monthly installments. In the case of teration for Good Reason, one half of
amount is payable six months and one day afterit@tion, and remaining amount is payable thereaftesix monthly installments. In the

case of termination after a Change of Control, amh@ipayable in a lump sum six months and oneadi@y termination.

(2) In the case of termination without Cause, p&yab a lump sum within 30 days after terminatitm.the case of termination for Good
Reason and termination after Change of Control,uarnis payable in a lump sum six months and oneadi@y termination.

(3) Payable in a lump sum within 30 days after taation. Because bonuses were paid prior to DeceBibe2007, named executives would
not have been entitled to any additional bonuses tigrmination at December 31, 2007.

(4) The dollar amount reported is the compensatmst for such awards that would have been recodniz€007 in our financial statements
in accordance with FAS 123R had the unvested stptikns at December 31, 2007 vested at such da&Enployment Agreements” for a
description of the exercise periods following taration.

(5) Messrs. Reddick and Spivey have no outstandimgested options. See “Employment Agreements” fecubsion of option vesting and
exercisability upon termination.

(6) Represents the value of medical, dental, disalsind life insurance for the twelve months folimg termination and a tax gross up for
such amounts. Payable in lump sum within 30 dater &rmination. Assumes executive has selecteg lsam payment option, in lieu of

continued benefits. This amount is estimated.

(7) Excludes accrued vacation.
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(8) Represents one year of salary, at the ratéfeéateon December 31, 2007. Effective January D80/4r. Reddick’s salary was increased to
$365,000 per annum.

(9) Represents one year of salary, at the ratéfécteon December 31, 2007. Effective January D820r. Spivey’s salary was increased to
$315,000 per annum.

(10) Represents two years of base salary, at tieeimaeffect on December 31, 2007. Effective Japudar2008, Mr. Clemens salary was
increased to $205,000 per annum.

(11) Represents the estimated value of medicatafietisability and life insurance for the twentyuf months following termination. Payable
in lump sum within thirty days after termination.

Director Compensation
The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by us to our Directors (other thardrdw Reddick, who:
compensation, is reflected in the Summary Compa@rsdiable) for services rendered in all capacitiesus during the fiscal year enc

December 31, 2007:

2007 DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

Fees Earned

or Paid in Stock Awards  Option Awards Total
Director Cash ($) $) W ($) @ (%)
William G. Skelly 11,50( — — 11,50(
William A. Sumner 12,00( — — 12,00(
Bruce F. Wesson 5,25( — — 5,25(
Richard J. Markham 6,25( — — 6,25(
Immanuel Thangaraj ) — — —

(1) Messrs. Skelly and Sumner each held fully \ieR&Us with respect to 100,000 underlying sharexfedDecember 31, 2007. Messrs.
Wesson, Markham and Thangaraj held no RSUs. THardmhount provided is the compensation cost fehsawards recognized in 2007 is
as reported in our financial statements in accareavith FAS 123R.

(2) Messrs. Skelly, Sumner, Wesson, Markham andhd&i@j, held vested options with respect to 29,000, 15,000, 0 and 10,000
underlying shares, respectively, as of DecembeRBQ7. The dollar amount provided is the compeasatbst for such awards recognized in
2007 is as reported in our financial statementcordance with FAS 123R.

(3) Fee waived.

Under the Director compensation program in effe006 and 2007, noemployee Directors received $500 for each meetitemnde:
($250 in the case of telephonic meetings) and ermaployee Directors who served on any of the Comeesttestablished by the Boarc
Directors received $250 for each Committee meetittgnded unless held on the day of a full BoardtimgeNonemployee Directors we
eligible to receive, at the discretion of the Bgaad annual grant of options to purchase 5,000eshaf our common stock. No such op
grants were made to any Director in 2006 or 200&.algo reimbursed Directors for travel and lodgimgenses, if any, incurred in connec
with attendance at Board meetings.

In January 2008, in order to retain and attracekaot directors, our Board amended the Directongensation program to provide
a $20,000 annual retainer for each mwnployee Director (and an additional annual retaimfe$5,000 for the chairperson of the A
Committee and $2,500 for each other Committee pbeson), a $1,000 fee for each Board meeting agtén person ($500 if attenc
telephonically), and a $500 fee for each Committeeting attended ($250 if attended telephonicallJhe annual retainer fees are payab
four equal installments at the end of each caleqdarter during the yearln addition, nonemployee Directors will receive an annual grai
options to purchase 15,000 shares of our commak.sfithe stock options have a term of 10 years ank lan exercise price equal to
closing price of our common stock on the first ingdday of the year of grant as reported by the RA® Capital Market, except in the cast
the stock option grants for 2008, in which caseekercise price was equal to the last sale pricedo common stock on January 24, 2008
date of adoption by the Board of the new board @msption program) as reported by the OTC Bulletiarl. The stock options vest in ec
installments at the end of each calendar quartenglthe year of grant. Directors who are also employees receive no additional or spe
remuneration for their services as Directors. W&o ajontinue to reimburse Directors for travel aadging expenses, if any, incurrec
connection with attendance at Board meetings.
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In addition, on February 11, 2006, we granted ttheaf Messrs. William Sumner and William Skelly Reted Stock Unit Awarc
providing for our issuance of up to 100,000 sharesur common stock. The Restricted Stock Unit Adgaare made pursuant to our 2
Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan and are in corrsitien of the services provided to us by Messraiser and Skelly as independent mem
of the Board and as representatives of the Indeggerndommittee of the Board of Directors for varignaterial transactions undertaken b
during the period 2002 through 2005, including,hwitt limitation, our debenture offerings in 2002182004, the conversion of our prefer
stock into common stock and various bridge loanarfcing transactions, as well as for their contihservice as directors of the Company.
Restricted Stock Unit Awards to each of Messrs. @@mand Skelly vested 38,889 shares on grant amddlance vest in equal mont
installments on the first day of each month begigriflarch 1, 2006 and ending December 1, 2007. Eseed shares underlying the Restri
Stock Unit Awards will be issued by us on the eartf (i) a Change in Control (as defined in oub2@Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan),
(i) ) in four annual installments starting on Janul, 2011. In the event of a Change in Contr@,will issue the vested shares underlying
Restricted Stock Unit Award in a lump sum distribat In the absence of a Change in Control, theaisse of the vested shares shall be 1
in four (4) equal installments on each of Januar2Qil1, January 1, 2012, January 1, 2013 and Jadu2014. Upon the issuance of the ve
shares underlying the Restricted Stock Unit Awaldisssrs. Sumner and Skelly must pay us the $0.0%gbae per share.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

During 2007 our Compensation Committee consisteMedsrs. Markham, Skelly and Reddick. Except for Reddick, who is ol
President and Chief Executive Officer, there weseQompensation Committee interlocks or insideripigdtion in compensation decisio
See Employment Agreements” for a discussion of Réddick’s employment agreement.

Compensation Committee Report

The following report of the Compensation Commitie@ot deemed to be “soliciting material” or to‘ieed” with the Commission «
subject to Regulation 14A or 14C [17 CFR 240.14#-1seq. or 240.14c-1 et seq.], other than as specified, or to the liabilitefsSection 1
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78r].

The Compensation Committee has reviewed and disdub® Compensation Discussion and Analysis in Raport with Compar
management. Based on such review and discussibesCompensation Committee recommended to the Bo&r®irectors that th
Compensation Discussion and Analysis be includati;Report.

Richard J. Markham, Bruce Wesson and Immanuel Tdyang

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regamlithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stockof$ebruary 1, 2008, f
individuals or entities in the following categori€g each of the Company's Directors and nomirfee®irectors; (ii) the Companyg’ principa
executive officer, the Compars/principal financial officer and the next thregtnst paid executive officers of the Company whiotsd annue
compensation for 2007 exceeded $100,000 (the "naamedutive officers"); (iii) all Directors and exguve officers as a group; and (iv) e
person known by the Company to be a beneficial ovafienore than 5% of the Common Stock. Unless iaidid otherwise, each of -
shareholders has sole voting and investment pouterraspect to the shares beneficially owned.
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PERCENT

AMOUNT OF

NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED CLASS (1)
GCE Holdings LLC,

c/o Galen Partners I, L.P.

680 Washington Boulevard, Stamford, CT 06901 34,564,95(2) 77.1%
Vivo Ventures Fund VI, L.P.

575 High St, Suite 201

Palo Alto, CA 9430131 2,450,00((3) 5.7%
Andrew D. Reddick 875,00((4) 2.C%
Ron J. Spivey 700,00((5) 1.6%
William G. Skelly 33,33%(6) *
Bruce F. Wesson —(2)(7) *
William A. Sumner 24,00((8) *
Peter A. Clemens 105,08((9) *
Richard J. Markham —(2)(10) *
Immanuel Thangaraj —(2)(12) *
Robert A. Seiser 40,00((12) *
James F. Emigh 44,50((13) *
George K. Ross 5,00((14) *
All Officers and Directors as a Group (11 persons) 1,826,91.(15) 4.1%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding slvditbe Company's Common Stock.

1)

(2)

3)

Shows percentage ownership assuming (i) such partyerts all of its currently convertible secustier securities convertible within
days of February 1, 2008 into the Company's comstook, and (ii) no other Company securityholdervasts any of its convertib
securities. No shares held by any Director or nametutive officer has been pledged as collate@lirsty.

GCE Holdings LLC, a Delaware limited liability cormpy, was the assignee of all of the our prefertedks(prior to its conversion in
common stock) and bridge loans entered into in 20086 and 2007 (prior to their conversion into coom stock and warrants) forme
held by each of Galen Partners Ill, L.P., Galentrigais International Ill, L.P., Galen Employee FUHdL.P. (collectively, “Galen},
Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capital Gffghinvestments Il, LP (collectively, “Care Capijahnd Essex Woodlands He:
Ventures Fund V, L.P. (“Essex"fzalen, Care Capital and Essex own approximatel989.30.6% and 29.6%, respectively, of
membership interests in GCE Holdings LLC. The feflog natural persons exercise voting, investmet @dispositive rights over o
securities held of record by GCE Holdings LLC: @alen Partners lll, L.P., Galen Partners Intermadidll, L.P. and Galen Employ
Fund IlI, L.P.: Bruce F. Wesson, L. John Wilkensbayvid W. Jahns, and Zubeen Shroff; (ii) Care Gdpitvestments Il, LP and C:
Capital Offshore Investments I, LP: Jan Leschlichard Markham, Argeris Karabelas and David Ramsayt (iii) Essex Woodlan
Health Ventures Fund V, L.P.: Immanuel Thangaramds L. Currie and Martin P. Sutter. Pursuant Yoting Agreement among
GCE Holdings LLC and certain other shareholdersEG4bldings LLC has the right to designate thredhaf seven members of -
Companys Board of Directors. The Board designees of GCHdiHgs LLC are Immanuel Thangaraj, Richard Markhand Bruc
Wesson. Amounts for GCE Holdings, LLC include 1,483 shares underlying warrants, exercisable d033er share.

Includes shares held by an affiliated fund. Inchigearrants to purchase 450,000 shares exercistlfi8.40 per share held by Vi
Ventures Fund VI, L.P. and an affiliated furidumber of shares give effect to the transfer ofravas to purchase 496,364 and 3
shares from Vivo Ventures Fund VI, L.P. and Vivontges VI Affiliates Fund, L.P., respectively, toawant Strategies Fund, LLC
November 30, 2007 but are otherwise current asovelber 20, 2007
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(4)

()

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

(15)

Includes 875,000 shares subject to currentira@sable stock options. Excludes 825,000 resttisteck unit awards (“RSUsQranted t
Mr. Reddick. Mr. Reddick has no rights as a stotd#téig including no dividend or voting rights, withspect to the shares underlying
RSUs until the shares are issued by the Comparsupnt to the terms of Company’s 2005 RestrictedkStinit Plan.

Includes 700,000 shares subject to currently esabbé stock options. Excludes 660,000 RSUs graot@&it. Spivey. Dr. Spivey has
rights as a stockholder, including no dividend oting rights, with respect to the shares underlyhmg RSUs until the shares are is¢
by the Company pursuant to the terms of CompadRestricted Stock Unit Plan.

Includes 29,000 shares subject to currently exalptgsstock options. Excludes 100,000 RSUs gramtedrt Skelly. Mr. Skelly has r
rights as a stockholder, including no dividend oting rights, with respect to the shares underlyiregRSUs until the shares are iss
by the Company pursuant to the terms of the Conip&005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

Mr. Wessors holdings do not include securities held by GCHipi83,886 shares; (ii) 470,184 shares underlyirggrants; or (iii
15,000 shares underlying options, held by Galen.

Includes 5,000 shares subject to currently exdstasstock options. Excludes 100,000 RSUs grantédrtdSumner. Mr. Sumner has
rights as a stockholder, including no dividend oting rights, with respect to the shares underlyiregyRSUs until the shares are iss
by the Company pursuant to the terms of the Conip&805 Restricted Stock Unit Plan.

Includes 100,000 shares subject to stock optiomscesable with 60 days of March 1, 2008. Excludé6,d00 RSUs granted to I
Clemens. Mr. Clemens has no rights as a stockholdguding no dividend or voting rights, with resp to the shares underlying
RSUs until the shares are issued by the Comparsupuat to the terms of Compary2005 Restricted Stock Unit Plan. Includes 4
shares held by minor children.

Mr. Markhams holdings do not include amounts held by GCE i.1il,689 shares; or (ii) 15,000 shares underlywagrants, held
Care Capital.

Mr. Thangaraj's holdings do not include G&Hioldings or (i) 136,178 shares; (ii) 34,500 skarederlying warrants; or (iii) 10,0
shares underlying options, held by Essex.

Includes 40,000 shares subject to stock optionscesable within sixty days of March 1, 2008. Exasdl 65,000 RSUs granted to
Seiser. Mr. Seiser has no rights as a stockhoidelyding no dividend or voting rights, with respeg the shares underlying the R¢
until the shares are issued by the Company pursadhe terms of Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Blan.

Includes 40,000 shares subject to stock optionsceeable within 60 days of March 1, 2008. Exclud&5,500 RSUs granted to !
Emigh. Mr. Emigh has no rights as a stockholdesluiding no dividend or voting rights, with respéatthe shares underlying the R¢
until the shares are issued by the Company pursadhe terms of Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Blan.

Includes 5,000 shares which Mr. Ross has the t@latquire within 60 days of February 1, 2008 tigloexercise of outstanding st
options.

Includes 36,103 shares which Directors and exeeutiificers have the right to acquire within 60 dajsFebruary 1, 2008 throu
exercise of outstanding stock options.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

GCE Holdings LLC, our 78%stockholder (“GCE”")s the assignee of all of our shares of prefertedks(prior to their conversion ir
common stock) formerly held by each of Galen Pastrid, L.P., Galen Partners International Ill, L.Rsalen Employee Fund III, L.
(collectively, “Galen”), Care Capital Investments LP, Care Capital Offshore Investments Il, LP ligctively, “Care Capital”)and Esse
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P., (“Essex” ancetbgr with Galen and Care, the “VC Investor&alen, Care and Essex own 39.8%, 3(
and 29.6%, respectively, of the membership intere&CE. Messrs. Wesson, Markham and Thangaraly ad@irector, exercise investm
control over the membership interests in GCE hgidSlalen, Care and Essex, respectively, and corneipgly exercise investment cont
over our common stock held by GCE.

As a condition to the completion of our 2004 debhentoffering, we, the investors in our 2004 debesguand the holders of ¢
outstanding 5% convertible senior secured debesntdue March 31, 2006 issued by us during the pdrimd 1998 through 2003 execute
certain Voting Agreement dated as of February 642@he "Voting Agreement"). The Voting Agreementyided that each of Galen, Care
Essex (collectively, the "Lead 2004 Debenture Itwes) had the right to designate for nominatioe omember of our Board of Directors, i
that the Lead Debenture 2004 Investors collectivaby designate one additional member of the Boeoflectively, the "Designees").
connection with the conversion of our preferredreBanto common stock completed in November 20@5 Moting Agreement was amende
reflect the conveyance by each of Galen, Care aséxEof their holdings in our preferred sharesopio their conversion into common sta
to GCE. After giving effect to a further amendmentlanuary 2008, the Voting Agreement, as amengieyjdes that our Board of Direct:
shall be comprised of not more than seven (7) mesnltigree (3) of whom shall be designees of GCE,afrwhom shall be our CEO and tt
of whom shall be independent directors. The desiginé GCE are Messrs. Wesson, Markham and Thangaraj

We were a party to a certain loan agreement witt ed the VC Investors and certain of our otherrshalders dated February

2004 (the "$5.0 Million Secured Term NoteThe $5.0 Million Secured Term Note was in the ppatamount of $5.0 million and was sect
by a lien on all of our assets and the assets o§wasidiary. On June 28, 2007, the $5.0 MilliomBed Term Note was amended to exten
maturity date from June 30, 2007 to September 807 Z&and further amended on August 20, 2007 to extiea maturity date from Septem
30, 2007 to December 31, 2008. In addition, the si0, 2007 amendment to the $5.0 Million Secdredn Note reduced the interest

from a variable rate of prime plus 4.5%, to a fixate of 10.0% per annum and to provide for intepagments in the form of cash instea
our common stock. During September 2007 approxin&@,000 of principal was repaid under the $5.0libh Secured Term Note leaving
principal balance of $4,992,000. In accordance withterms of the $5.0 million Secured Term NoteDawember 7, 2007, simultaneous \
our receipt of the norefundable $30 million upfront cash payment recéifrem King under the King Agreement, we satisfiedull all of our
obligations under the $5.0 Million Secured Term&lot

During the period from June 2005 through July 20@¥ borrowed an aggregate of $10.544 million pursuana series of lo¢
agreements between us, the VC Investors and cettaém shareholders (th8tidge Loans). We used the net proceeds from tiggBr_oans t
develop our Aversion® echnology and fund related operating expenses.Brfuge Loans carried an interest rate of 10%, pbygquarter!
which, pursuant a November 2006 amendment, washpgyat the Compang’option, with shares of its Common Stock. The geidloans, ¢
amended in March 2007, had a scheduled maturity ofaGeptember 30, 2007. In accordance with the&ersion provisions contained in-
Bridge Loans, the outstanding $10.544 million pipat balance under Bridge Loans was converted dniounits upon the closing of our U
Offering described below. As a result, the Bridgeh Agreements and all related security agreensemtguaranties were terminated.

During 2007, we paid an aggregate of $145,000 &h éaterest under the Bridge Loans (of which $43,6@s paid to each of Gal
Care and Essex) and issued an aggregate of 47had€ssof our common stock in satisfaction of irdepayments under the Bridge Loans
which 15,300 shares were issued to each of Galere &d Essex)(on a post reverse stock split basis)

On August 20, 2007, we entered into a Securitigslase Agreement with GCE Holdings LLC, our cotitngl shareholder, and t
investors named therein (collectively, the “Univéistors”).Pursuant to the Agreement, the Unit Investors pasel in the aggregate (on a |
reverse stock split basis) 2,365,185 of our Uriithits”), at a price of $10.80 per Unit (the “Ur@tffering”). Each Unit consisted of four sha
of common stock and a warrant to purchase one stiam@mmon stock (the “Warrants,388,889 of the Units were issued for cash, wit
balance of 996,296 Units issued to GCE Holdings LB€ assignee of the Bridge Loans from the VC ltorss in consideration of t
conversion of an aggregate of $10.544 million img@pal amount under our outstanding Bridge LoaFise net cash proceeds to us ¢
expenses of the Unit Offering were approximatel.8Imillion.
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The Warrants issued in the Unit Offering are imnaégly exercisable at a price $8.40 per share (on a post reverse stock splis)
and expire August 20, 2014. The Warrants may becesezl for cash, or on a cashless basis commen&dglays after the closing if at the ti
of exercise the shares underlying the Warrantaareovered by an effective registration statenfieed with the SEC.

At the time of issuance, the common stock and shafeommon stock underlying the Warrants sold yams to the Unit Offerin
were not registered under the Securities Act 0f313% amended, and may not be offered or soldenUthited States in the absence o
effective registration statement or exemption froegistration requirements. In accordance with #guirements of the Securities Purct
Agreement, we filed a registration statement whita 8EC for purposes of registering the resale e@ktiares of common stock issued as pi
the Units and the shares of common stock issuadile exercise of the Warrants (the “Registratione®t@nt”). The Registration Statement v
declared effective by the SEC on November 20, 20804 must exercise best efforts to keep the Registr&tatement effectiventil the earlie
of (i) the date that all shares of common stock simares of common stock underlying Warrants covesethe Registration Statement h
been sold, or (ii) the fifth anniversary of the Rgtion Statementprovided that the period during which the Registn Statement must
kept effective can be shortened to not less thanywars by agreement of holders of registrablergezs Shares of common stock eligible
sale under Rule 144(k) of the Securities Act of 398s amended, need not be included in the Retigstr&tatement. Under cert
circumstances, if shares are excluded from the dRagjon Statement by the SEC, we may be requicedilé one or more addition
Registration Statements for the excluded shares.

Subject to certain exceptions, for each day thataiveo keep the Registration Statement effective,must pay each Investor 0.059
the purchase price of securities covered by thadiagion Statement and held by such Unit Inveatasuch time, up to a maximum of 9.99%
the amount paid by a Unit Investor for the Units.

The requirement in the Securities Purchase Agreeteefile the Registration Statement triggered giggyback registration rigt
granted to certain holders of shares of our comstonk and warrants exercisable for common stockyant to an Amended and Rest
Registration Rights Agreement dated as of Febr#rp004, as amended. GCE Holdings LLC, Galen Pextig L.P., Galen Partne
International 1ll, L.P., Galen Employee Fund Ill,A., Care Capital Investments Il, LP, Care Capitfishore Investments II, LP and Es
Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. exercised thigigyback registration rights under such AgreemaAsta result, an aggregate of 26,584

shares of common stock and shares underlying wiarifzeld by such shareholders (after giving effecotir 1 for 10 reverse stock s
effected December 5, 2007) were included in theidtegion Statement.

Our Board has not adopted formalized written peicand procedures for the review or approval cfteel party transactions. A
matter of practice, however, our Board has requihed all related party transactions, includingtheut limitation, each of the transacti
described above in this Item 13, be subject toemevand approval by a committee of independent tirecestablished by the Board. -
Board's practice is to evaluate whether a related pamgluding a director, officer, employee, GCE Holgkn Galen, Care, Essex or o1
significant shareholder) will have a direct or m&dit interest in a transaction in which we may lpady. Where the Board determined that :
proposed transaction involves a related party Bbard formally establishes a committee comprisddlg®f independent directors to revi
and evaluate such proposed transaction (the “Intbgre Committee”).The Independent Committee is authorized to reviewy and al
information it deems necessary and appropriatevéduate the fairness of the transaction to us amdsbareholders (other than the intere
related party to such transaction), including nreetvith management, retaining third party expeirtslgding counsel and financial advisor
determined necessary and appropriate by the IndepénCommittee) and evaluating alternative transast if any. The Independs
Committee is also empowered to negotiate the tefrsuch proposed related party transaction on @malh. The proposed related p:
transaction may proceed only following the approeald recommendation of the Independent Committedlowing the Independe
Committees approval, the related party transaction is stitigeéinal review and approval of the Board as alehwith any interested direc
abstaining from such action.
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Each of the transactions described above in tleisi 113 were subject to the review, evaluation, riagoh and approval of :
Independent Committee of the Board. In each of saske, the Independent Committee was comprisedesbid. Sumner and Skelly.

Director Independence

In assessing the independence of our Board membardgoard has reviewed and analyzed the standardedependence requir
under the NASDAQ Capital Market, including NASDAQakketplace Rule 4200(a)(15), and applicable SEQla¢igns. Based on tt
analysis, our Board has determined that each ofsMedVilliam A. Sumner, William Skelly and Georgeod® meet the standards
independence provided in the listing requiremeritthe NASDAQ Capital Market and SEC regulations. aésesult, three of our six Bo
members meet such standards of independence. Ahhbe listing standards of the NASDAQ Capital Markpecify that a majority of a list
issuer’s board of directors must be comprised dépendent directors, we are relying upon an exemgtr “controlled companiegirovidec
in the listing standards for the NASDAQ Capital Meir A “controlled companyls a company of which more than 50% of the votioger is
held by an individual, a group or another compd@gsed on GCE Holdings LL&’ownership of approximately 78% of our common lstoe
are considered a controlled company under the nflése NASDAQ Capital Market and are relying ughis exemption in having less tha
majority of independent directors on our Board.

With respect to our Board committees, our Board determined that the members of our Compensatiomritiee do not meet t
standards for independence described above.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our registered independent public accounting fiseTBDO Seidman, LLP. The fees billed by this firm2807 and 2006 were
follows:

2006 2007
Audit Fees $ 87,60 $ 85,82t
Audit-Related Fees - R
Total Audit and Audit-Related Fees 87,60( 85,82¢
Tax Fees 25,60( 30,16¢
All Other Fees 1,332 R
Total for BDO Seidman, LLP $ 114,53: $ 115,99:

Audit Fees include professional services rendarembnnection with the annual audits of our finahstatements, and the review of
financial statements included in our FormsQ@er the related annual periods. Additionally, AuElees include other services that onl
independent registered public accountirfgm can reasonably provide, such as services &dsdcwith SEC registration statements or ¢
documents filed with the SEC or used in conneatith financing activities.

Audit-Related Fees include the audits of employee bepleafits and accounting consultations related towatatg, financial reportin
or disclosure matters not classified as "Audit Fe&ax Fees include tax compliance, tax advice &ndplanning services. These serv
related to the preparation of various state andriddax returns and review of Section 409 comgkan

Audit Committee's Pre-Approval Policies and Procedres

Consistent with policies of the SEC regarding aurdibdependence and the Audit Committee Charter Atdit Committee has t
responsibility for appointing, setting compensatérd overseeing the work of the registered indegeinpublic accounting firm (the “Firn”
The Audit Committee's policy is to pre-approveaaltit and permissible non-audit services providgthle Firm. Preapproval is detailed as
the particular service or category of servicesiargkenerally subject to a specific budget. The A@dimmittee may also prapprove particul:
services on a case-logse basis. In assessing requests for servicebeb¥itm, the Audit Committee considers whether ssefvices ai
consistent with the Firms’ independence, whether the Firm is likely to pdevihe most effective and efficient service baspdnuthei
familiarity with the Company, and whether the seevtould enhance the Company's ability to managemtrol risk or improve audit quality.
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All of the auditrelated, tax and other services provided by BDQdiSan in 2007 and 2006 and related fees (as dedciibéhe
captions above) were approved in advance by thét Qanmittee.

PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) The following documents are filed as part @ tieport:
1. All Financial Statements: See Index to FinanStatements
2. Financial Statement Schedules: None

3. Exhibits: See Index to Exhibits
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 18{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, therednlp authorized.

Date: March 5, 2008 ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: ANDREW D. REDDICK

Andrew D. Reddick
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
registrant and in the capacities and on the datisated.

Signature Title(s) Date
/s/ Andrew D. Reddick President, Chief Executive Officer and March 5, 2008
Andrew D. Reddick Director

(Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Peter A. Clemens Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 5, 2008
Peter A. Clemens Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting

Officer)
/s/ William G. Skelly Director March 5, 200¢

William G. Skelly

/s/ Bruce F. Wesson Director March 5, 200¢
Bruce F. Wesson

/s/ William A. Sumner Director March 5, 2008
William A. Sumner

/s/Richard J. Markham Director March 5, 2008
Richard J. Markham

/s/ Immanuel Thangaraj Director March 5, 2008
Immanuel Thangaraj

/sl George K. Ross Director March 5, 2008
George K. Ross

69




INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public AccourfEimm
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equityfi¢ide
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

F-1

Page
F-2

F-3

F-4

F-5
F-6 - F-7

F-8-F-23




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingdrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
Palatine, Illinois

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Siabgids of December 31, 2007
2006 and the related consolidated statements ohtipes, stockholdergquity (deficit), and cash flows for each of theethyears in the peri
ended December 31, 2007. These financial statenaeatthe responsibility of the Compasyhanagement. Our responsibility is to expre:
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes consideration ¢érimal control over financial reporting as a bdsisdesigning audit procedures that
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thgppse of expressing an opinion on the effectiverméghe Companyg' internal control ov
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsapinion. An audit also includes examining, orst basis, evidence supporting the amc
and disclosures in the financial statements, asgp#ise accounting principles used and significesttmates made by management, as wi
evaluating the overall financial statement pred@rmaWe believe that our audits provide a reastnbasis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial stateteareferred to above present fairly, in all materéspects, the financial position of Ac
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Subsidiary at DecembeP@17 and 2006, and the results of its operationsits cash flows for each of the tt

years in the period ended December 31, 2007, ifoocmity with accounting principles generally acaegin the United States of Americ

As described in Note A.13 to the consolidated faiaihstatements, effective January 1, 2006, the fgzmy adopted the fair value methot
accounting provisions of Statement of Financial &etting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “ShareeB&&ayment”.

/s/ BDO Seidman, LL

Chicago, lllinois
March 5, 2008
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31, 2007 and 2006
(in thousands except share data)

2007 2006
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 31,36¢ $ 22¢
Collaboration revenue receivable 2,97 -
Prepaid clinical study costs 38¢ -
Prepaid insurance 20z 17¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 47 60
Deferred income taxes 9,60( -
Total current assets 44,58 467
Property, plant and equipment, net 1,04¢ 1,14¢
Deposits - 7
Total assets $ 45,62¢ $ 1,61¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities
Senior secured convertible bridge term notes, net $ - $ 7,00¢
Conversion features on bridge term notes - 16,75(
Secured term note - 5,00(
Current maturities of capital lease obligations - 25
Deferred program fee revenue — current portion 21,94: -
Accrued expenses 334 32¢
Total current liabilities 22,27¢ 29,10¢
Non-current liabilities
Common stock warrants - 10,78«
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities - 7
Deferred program fee revenue - non current portion 4,63; -
Total liabilities 26,90¢ 39,89¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note J)
Stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Common stock - $.01 par value;
650,000,000 shares authorized;
42,706,466 and 33,099,846 shares issued and
outstanding in 2007 and 2006, respectively 427 331
Additional paid-in capital 340,15: 278,93:
Accumulated deficit (321,86() (317,549
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 18,72( (38,280
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 45,62¢ $ 1,61¢

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaitements.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
(in thousands except per share data)

Revenues
Program fee revenue
Collaboration revenue

Total revenue

Operating expenses
Research and development expense
Marketing, general and administrative expense

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

Other income (expense)
Interest income
Interest expense
Amortization of debt discount
(Loss) gain on fair value change of conversiontfiest
(Loss) gain on fair value change of common stockravds
Gain (loss) on asset disposals
Other (expense) income
Total other income (expense)

Loss before income tax benefit

Income tax benefit
Net loss

Basic and diluted loss per share
applicable to common stockholders (Note A)

Weighted average shares used in computing basidiandd loss per share
allocable to common stockholders

2007 2006 2005
3427 $ - 3 -
2,971 - -
6,401 - -
7,16¢ 5,17: 6,26¢
4,141 5,65¢ 5,29¢
11,31( 10,82¢ 11,56:
(4,906) (10,826) (11,562)

26¢ 18 36
(1,207) (1,140 (63€)
(2,700 (189) -
(3,489) 4,23¢ ]
(1,90%) 2,16¢ -

22 (22) 81

©) (219) 5
(9,006) 4,85¢ (514)
(13,91 (5,967) (12,07%)
(9,600) - -
4,319 $ (5,967 $ (12,07%)
.11 $ 0.75 $ (1.81)
39,15’ 34,49¢ 6,68(

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaigements .




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006 AND 2005
(in thousands except par values)

Balance at January 1, 2005
Net loss for the year ended December 31, -
Intrinsic value of issued options and restricted
stock units

Amortization of unearned compensation
Issuance of Common Shares for exercise of og
Issuance of Common Shares for interest
Conversion of Preferred Shares:

Series A Convertible Preferred

Series B Junior Convertible

Series C-1 Junior Convertible

Series C-2 Junior Convertible

Series C-3 Junior Convertible

Balance at December 31, 2005

Net loss for the year ended December 31, -

Deemed dividend related to debt modification

Adoption of FAS 123R

Issuance of restricted stock units

Other stock based compensation

Reclassification of value of common stock
warrants to liabilities

Issuance of Common Shares for exercise of og

Issuance of Common Shares for interest

Issuance of Common Shares for cashless exer
of warrant

Balance at December 31, 2006

Net loss for the year ended December 31, -

Deemed dividend related to debt modification

Reclassification of conversion feature value

Reclassification of common stock warrant value

Conversion feature value of issued debt

Other stock based compensation

Net proceeds from unit offerir

Conversion of bridge loan notes, net

Issuance of Common Shares for exercise of og

Issuance of Common Shares for interest

Issuance of Common Shares for cashless exer
of warrants

Reverse stock split

Balance at December 31, 2007

Common Stock Preferred Stock Additional
$0.01 Par Value $0.01 Par Value Paid-in Unearned Accumulate:
Shares  Amount Shares  Amount Capital Compensatic Deficit Total

2247 $ 23 21797 $ 2,180 $ 277,33( $ (1,079 $ (279,54)$ (1,08¢)
(12,078  (12,07H
11,10¢ (11,10%) -
6,45¢ 6,45¢
3 - 5 5
96 1 534 53t
10,98: 11C (21,969 (220) 11C -
2,02t 20 (20,24¢) (203 18¢ -
5,64 56 (56,427 (564) 50¢ -
3,74: 37 (37,439 379 337 -
8,191 82  (81,90) (819) 737 -
32,92¢ $ 32¢ - $ - $ 290,84¢ $ (5,72)$ (291,610 % (6,162
(5,967 (5,967
(19,96() (19,960
(5,729 5,72¢ -
68C 68C
5,04¢ 5,04¢
(12,94%) (12,94%)
40 1 97 98
12¢ 1 932 93z
2 -
33,09¢ $ 331 - $ - $ 27893, $ -$ (317,540 $ (38,280
(4,319 (4,319
©) ©)
21,08¢ 21,08¢
12,45: 12,45:
1,78¢ 1,78¢
91t 91t
5,55¢ 56 14,09( 14,14¢
3,90¢ 39 9,961 10,00(
31 - 11€ 11€
84 1 811 81z
32 - - -
@) : : :
42,70¢ $ 427 - $ - $ 340,150 $ -$ (321,860 % 18,72

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaigements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005
(in thousands, except supplemental data)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discount
Loss (gain) on the fair value change of convergatures
Loss (gain) on the fair value change of commonkstearrants
Non-cash stock compensation expense
(Gain) loss on asset disposals
Common stock issued for interest
Deferred income taxes
Impairment charge against fixed assets

Changes in assets and liabilities
Collaboration revenue receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets and deposits

Accrued expenses
Deferred program fee revenue

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from asset disposals

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured bridgenretes
Repayments on secured term note
Net proceeds from the unit offering
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Payments on capital lease obligations

Net cash provided by financing activities

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Cash paid during the period:
Interest
Income taxes

2007 2006 2005
(4,319 $ (5,967 $ (12,079
13C 11¢ 137
2,70( 182 -
3,48 (4,23%) .
1,90¢ (2,164 -
91t 5,72¢ 6,45¢
(22) 22 (81)
812 93¢ 53E
(9,600 - -
- 71 -
(2,979 - -
(39¢) (55) 121
7 - ®)

5 (13) (61€)
26,57¢ - -
19,22( (5,389 (5,527
(31) (85) (35)
22 70 192
(9) (15) 15¢
2,69¢ 5,29¢ 2,55(
(5,000 - -
14,14¢ - -
11¢ 98 5
(32) (32) (29)
11,92¢ 5,36t 2,52¢
31,14( (33) (2,849
22¢ 26( 3,10¢
31,36¢ $ 228 $ 26(
398 $ 207 $ 101
- $ - $ -




See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaigements .
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing exah€ing activities presented on a reverse stoliklssis:

Year ended December 31, 2007

1.

2.
3.

The Company issued 47,552 shares of common stdakd/at $460,000 as payment of Senior Secured CtiboleeBridge Term Note
Payable accrued interest.

The Company issued 36,150 shares of common stdekd/at $352,000 as payment of Secured Term NotaldRaaccrued interest.
Warrants to purchase an aggregate 58,000 shaoesmwfion stock were exercised at exercise pricesdaet1.20 and $6.60 per shat
a series of cashless exercise transactions regidtitne issuance of aggregate 31,361 shares afhoonstock.

The issuance of $896,000 Senior Secured Convefiliige term Notes during the period January 1,7200ough March 29, 20i
included conversion features measured at $849)00igh resulted in the recording of an equal amaifrdebt discount and convers
feature liabilities.

The change in all separated conversion feasufar value through March 30, 2007 resulted irosslof $3,483,000. Due to a ¢
agreement modification on March 30, 2007, the thament conversion feature fair value of $21,086,0@s reclassified from liabiliti
to equity.

The issuance of $1,800,000 of Senior Secured Bflage Notes included conversion features measuréd,&852,000, which resulted
a recording of an equal amount of debt discouetaity.

The change in the common stock warrafd® value through the earlier of their exerciseedar March 30, 2007 resulted in a los
1,668,000. Due to a debt agreement modificatioManch 30, 2007, the then current fair value 0f13892,100 outstanding comn
stock warrants of $12,307,000 was reclassified flamilities to equity, as was $146,000 of suchueatelated to warrants exerci
during the period.

Anti-dilution provisions in certain warrant grants wériggered resulting in a loss of $236,000 with gua amount recorded agai
equity.

Senior Secured Convertible Bridge Term Notes Payabl$10,544,000, less unamortized debt discoubd#,000 was converted il
3,905,184 shares of common stock.

Year ended December 31, 2006

1.
2.
3.

The Company issued 85,464 shares of Common Stog&yesent of $624,000 of Secured Term Note Payatdriad interest.

The Company issued 42,650 shares of Common Stog&yesent of $309,000 of Bridge Loan Notes Payabtewed interest.
Warrants to purchase 16,593 shares of Common Steok exercised in March 2006 at an exercise pifi¢t @0 per share in a cashl
exercise transaction resulting in the issuanced@as shares of Common Stock.

Warrants to purchase 3,069 shares of Common Steck exercised in May 2006 at an exercise pricedof@Gper share in a cashl
exercise transaction resulting in the issuancer8fshares of Common Stock.

A warrant to purchase 15,000 shares of Common Stemk modified due to its anditution clause resulting in a $142,000 st
compensation expense.

The modification of conversion features embeddetthiwiBridge Loan Notes Payable was valued at $1908® and the issuance
$1,104,000 of Bridge Loan Notes Payable contaimew/ersion features valued at $1,035,000. The chanthe conversion featurgfail
value through December 31, 2006 resulted in a gi&$#,235,000.

Due to certain debt conversion feature modificatjdhe then current fair value of all 16,331,008standing common stock warrant:
$12,948,000 was reclassified from equity to lidigd. The change in the common stock warrantsviire through December 31, 2(
resulted in a gain of $2,164,000.

Bridge Loan Notes Payable of $1,104,000 contairied25,000 of debt discount.

Year ended December 31, 2005

1.
2.

The Company issued 96,300 shares of common aopkyment of $535,000 of Secured Term Note Payatdrued interest.
21,797,300 shares of Convertible Preferred Stamie converted into 30,582,800 shares of CommookSt

See accompanying notes to the consolidated finbstaigements .




ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
NOTE A - DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a New York corporatiand its subsidiary (the “Company” or “Wel§ a specialty pharmaceutical comp
engaged in research, development and manufactuirnobative Aversion®Technology and related product candidates. Procactlidate
developed with Aversion®echnology and containing opioid analgesic actingrédients are intended to effectively treat pamd als
discourage the three most common methods of phautiaal product misuse and abuse including; (Pawvgnous injection of dissolved tab
or capsules, (i) nasal snorting of crushed tabtetxapsules and (iii) intentional swallowing ofcessive numbers of tablets or capsi
ACUROX™ Tablets, the Company’s lead product canidatilizing Aversion® Technology, is being developed pursuant to an €
investigational new drug application (“IND”) on dilwith the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA’Aversion® Technology is ot
patented platform technology for developing ngeteration pharmaceutical products containing piatn abuseable drugs includi
oxycodone, hydrocodone, oxymorphone, hydromorphorephine, codeine, tramadol, propoxyphene, andymémers. Additional Aversia®
Technology patents are pending encompassing a maitige of abuseable drugs including stimulants,qudizers and sedatives. Aversi®n
Technology is applicable to orally administeredd#band capsules. In addition to the active ingred Aversion®Technology utilizes certa
patented compositions of pharmaceutical producttima excipients and active ingredients intendedliscourage or deter pharmaceu
product abuse.

The Company conducts internal research, developrterdratory, manufacturing and warehousing adtisifor Aversion®Technology at it
Culver, Indiana facility. The 28,000 square footility is registered by the U.S. Drug Enforcemendn#inistration (“DEA”) to perforn
research, development and manufacture of certairedide Il -V finished dosage form products. In addition toemtl capabilities at
activities, the Company engages numerous conteaearch organizations (“CROsH)th expertise in regulatory affairs, clinical frigesign an
monitoring, clinical data management, biostatistiogdical writing, laboratory testing and relatedvices. Such CROs perform developn
services for ACUROX™ Tablets and other product adaigs under the direction of the Company.

Amounts presented have been rounded to the ndhmstand, except where indicated, share and pee slada. The equity amounts anc
share and per share data of the Company have égenatively adjusted to reflect a one-for-ten reeestock split on December 5, 2007.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the significant accounting policiesisigtently applied in the preparation of the accanying consolidated financial statem
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its whotiwned subsidiary, Acura Pharmaceu
Technologies, Inc. All significant intercompany auoats and transactions are eliminated in consdtidatDuring 2006, the Compa
dissolved Axiom Pharmaceutical Corporation. Thesdlistion of this subsidiary had no impact on theismidated financial positio
results of operations or cash flows of the Company.

2. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Credit Risk

The Company considers all highly liquid financiasiruments purchased with original maturities aeéhmonths or less to be ¢
equivalentsCash and cash equivalents consist of cash maidtaih&vo financial institutions and in repurchageegment investments
year end. We believe the financial risks associatél these instruments to be minimal. We have exqierienced any losses from
investments in these securities.

3. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financial Stateents

The preparation of consolidated financial statemémtconformity with accounting principles geneyadiccepted in the United States
America requires management to make estimates aadassumptions that affect the reported amountasséts and liabilities a
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the datetloé consolidated financial statements, as welhasreported amounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual restduld differ from those estimates. Managemenbgerally evaluates estimates use



the preparation of the consolidated financial stetets for continued reasonableness. Appropriatestadgnts, if any, to the estimates t
are made prospectively based on such periodic atiahs.
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4. Inventories

The Company had no inventories at each of Dece@be007 and 2006. Purchases of active pharmaeéutgredients required for t
Company’s development and manufacture of produndidates utilizing its Aversion® Technology, argersed as incurredo purchas
certain active ingredients required for our develept and manufacture, we are required to file fat @btain quotas from the DEA.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at &mgtreciation is recorded on a straijhe basis over the estimated useful lives o
related assets. Amortization of capital lease agsahcluded in depreciation expense. Leasehofforements are amortized on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of their useful livestloe terms of their respective leases. Bettermargscapitalized and maintenance
repairs are charged to operations as incurrede$timated lives of the major classification of depable assets are:

Building and building improvements 10 - 40 years
Land improvements 20 - 40 years
Machinery and equipment 7 - 10 years
Scientific equipment 5-10years
Computer hardware and software 3 - 10 years
Office equipment 5-10years
Furniture and fixtures 10 years

6. Asset Impairment

Longdived assets are reviewed for impairment whenewen&s or changes in circumstances indicate theyiogrivalue may not
recoverable. Impairment is measured by compariegctrrying value of the lonliyed assets to the estimated undiscounted futast
flows expected to result from use of the assetstlagid ultimate disposition. To the extent impairhbas occurred, the carrying amour
the asset would be written down to an amount tecethe fair value of the asset. During the fouyttarter of 2006, the Company provi
a $71,000 reserve against the net book value @tasssigned to the CompasyOpioid Synthesis Technologies as the Compan'
discontinued all activities relating to this tectogy. At December 31, 2006, the net book value Ibfasset groups under reserve
$166,000. During 2007, group assets in the amoti$68,000 from the Opioid Synthesis Technologiesendisposed of resulting ir
recorded gain of $20,000. Additional other reserassets of $25,000 were also disposed of resuitiingither gain nor loss. At Decem
31, 2007 the net book value of group assets urderve was $82,000.

7. Debt Discount

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of commimtk warrants in connection with the issuancsutfordinated debt and other n
payable as well as from beneficial conversion festicontained in convertible debt was recorded r@slaction of the related obligatic
and was amortized over the remaining life of thiatesl obligations. Debt discount related to the wmm stock warrants issued \
determined by a calculation based on the relatarne falues ascribed to such warrants determinednbpagement's use of the Black-
Scholes valuation model. Inherent in the Bl&toles valuation model are assumptions made byagesanent regarding the estimated

of the warrant, the estimated volatility of the GQmany's common stock (as determined by reviewindpiggorical public market closil
prices) and the expected dividend yield.

8. Debt Conversion Features and Common Stock Warrants
Certain provisions of the amended conversion featwontained in the CompasyBridge Loans required the Company to separal
value of the conversion feature from this debt ssmbrd such value as a separate liability which masked-tomarket each balance sh

date. The Company used the Black-Scholes optiariagrimodel to compute the estimated fair valuenefdonversion features. Marked-to-
market adjustments resulted in recording of furtiens and losses.
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As a result of the amendment to the Bridge Loalispustanding common stock purchase warrants Vierevalued using the Black -
Scholes option-pricing model and recorded as alitialwith a corresponding reduction in additiorzdid-in capital. This warrant liabilit
was marked-to-market each balance sheet whichtegsinl recording of further gains and losses.

9. Revenue Recognition and Deferred Program Fee Reveau

We recognize revenue in accordance with SecuidesExchange Commission Staff Accounting Bulletm M04, ‘Revenue Recognitit
in Financial Statements” (“SAB 104”). We have atstopted the provisions of Emerging Issues Taske&;dssue No. 00-21,Revenu
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF Gf"). Revenue is recognized when there is persuasiversidthat an arrangem
exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixad determinable, and collection is reasonably assur

In connection with our Agreement with King, we rgo@ze program fee revenue, collaboration revenuaenaitestone revenue. Program
revenue is derived from the upfront payment fromg<ieceived in December 2007. We have assignedt@mpaof the license fee rever
to each of the product candidates included undeAtdreement and recognize the program fee rataldy aur estimate of the developmr
period for each of the products under the Agreemetit King. Collaboration revenues from reimbursemef development expens
which are invoiced quarterly in arrears, are re@sphwhen costs are incurred pursuant to the Ageaemith King. King is obligated
pay us milestone payments contingent upon the @efient of certain substantive events in the clinieavelopment of ACUROX?
Tablets and the other product candidates undeAgineement. We recognize milestone payments frongkas revenue when we achi
the underlying developmental milestone as the taites payments are not dependent upon any otheefatiivities or achievement of ¢
other future milestones and the achievement of edcine developmental milestones were substantia¢lyisk and contingent at 1
effective date of the collaboration. Substantidbmfis involved in achieving each of the developna® milestones. These milesto
represent the culmination of discrete earningsgsses and the amount of each milestone paymesdssmable in relation with the leve
effort associated with the achievement of the rtoles. Each milestone payment is non-refundable remdcreditable when made. T
ongoing research and development services beingidaw to King under the collaboration are pricedfat value based upon 1
reimbursement of expenses incurred pursuant toctilaboration with King. We recognized $3,427,00D ppogram fee revent
$2,977,000 of collaboration revenue and $0 of rtoles revenue in 2007.

10. Research and Development

Research and Development (“R&DExpenses include internal R&D activities, extef@RO activities, and other activities. Internal R
activity expenses include facility overhead, equipimand facility maintenance and repairs, depreciataboratory supplies, pmiical
laboratory experiments, depreciation, salariesgfisn and incentive compensation expenses. CRDitgcexpenses include preclinic
laboratory experiments and clinical trial studi®her activity expenses include clinical trial sesdand regulatory consulting, regula
counsel, and patent counsel. Internal R&D actigitied other activity expenses are charged to apesaas incurred. The Company me
payments to the CRO's based on agreed upon teghslimg payments in advance of the study startiatg.dThe Company reviews ¢
accrues CRO and clinical trial study expenses basedork performed and rely on estimates of thasgtscapplicable to the stage
completion of a study provided by the CRO. Accr@RIO costs are subject to revisions as such fpialgress to completion. Revisic
are charged to expense in the period in which dlogsfthat give rise to the revision become knowdvakce payments are amortize
expense based on work performed. The Company haeedninto several CRO clinical trial agreementsspant to which $388,000 w
prepaid at December 31, 2007. The unfunded CRO dboments were $3,991,000 and $162,000 at Decembger2Gd7 and 200
respectively, and are expected to be incurred sigstis are enrolled into the clinical studies.
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11. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under tihditiamethod in accordance with Statement of FiriahAccounting Standards M
109 ("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income TaxXednder this method, deferred income tax assetdiahilities are determined bas
on differences between financial reporting and inedax basis of assets and liabilities and are nmedauising the enacted income tax 1
and laws that will be in effect when the differemege expected to reverse. Additionally, net ofregdbss and tax credit carryforwards
reported as deferred income tax assets. The réalizaf deferred income tax assets is dependent @ytare earnings. SFAS 109 requir
valuation allowance against deferred income tartas§ based on the weight of available evideiitds, more likely than not that some
all of the deferred income tax assets may not hkzesl. During the Fourth Quarter 2007, the Compdetgrmined it was more likely th
not that it would be able to realize some of iteed®d income tax assets in the near future, acdrded a $9.6 million adjustment to
deferred income tax asset valuation allowance. @tjjastment recognized a benefit from income tamesur income for such period &
provided a current deferred income tax asset. At Beecember 31, 2007 and 2006, a valuation allowamual to 100% of the remain
net deferred income tax assets was used and plynpitains to uncertainties with respect to fututéization of net operating lo
carryforwards. If in the future it is determinedathadditional amounts of our deferred income tasetsswould likely be realized, 1
valuation allowance would be reduced in the pefp@hich such determination is made and an additidenefit from income taxes
such period would be recognized.

12. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per slohireommon stock is based upon the weighted avenageber of common shal
outstanding during the period, including shareateel to vested restricted stock units (See Not&Hg computation of diluted earnir
(loss) per share is based on the same number sshaed in the basic share calculation adjustethéoeffect of other potentially diluti
securities. No such adjustments were made for 22006 or 2005 as their effects would be antidiketiv

Net loss used in the Compagyearnings (loss) per share computations inclugesmpact in 2007 and 2006 of dividends deemedata
been issued to certain common shareholders asikh oésnodifications to debt agreements with thekareholders as further describe
Note F.

Year ended December 31,

(in thousands except per share data) 2007 2006 2005
Numerator:
Net loss $ (4319 $ (5,967 $ (12,07
Deemed dividend from modification of debt 3 (19,960 -
Net loss applicable to common stock holders $ (4,317 $ (25,927 $ (12,079

Denominator:
Weighted average number of outstanding -

Common shares 36,65¢ 32,98¢ 6,65
Vested restricted stock units 2,501 1,51( 23
Weighted average shares 39,157 34,49¢ 6,68(
Basic and diluted loss per common share $ 0.17) $ (0.75) $ (1.81)

Potentially dilutive securities:
Common stock issuable (1) -

Employee and director stock options 1,85¢ 1,90C 1,97¢
Common stock warrants 3,972 1,63¢ 1,62¢
Non-vested restricted stock units - 982 1,83¢
Convertible debt - 3,30¢ -
Convertible preferred stock - - -

Dilutive shares 4,82( 7,82 5,43:

(1) Number of shares issuable is based on maximumber of shares issuable on exercise or conveditive related
securities as of year end. Such amounts have eot&djusted for the treasury stock method or weidjaverage
outstanding calculations required if the securitiese dilutive.



13. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has three stooised compensation plans covering stock optionsestdcted stock units for its employees and dinex
which are described more fully in Note 1.
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On January 1, 2006, the Company adopted Financigbunting Standards Board Statement No. 123 (révi#D4), “Shard3asel
Payment”, (“FASB 123R")This change in accounting replaces existing requérgs under Statement of Financial Accounting Steat
No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatit8FAS 123") and eliminates the ability to accouat Eharebased compensati
transaction using Accounting Principles Board OminNo. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Emplaygend related Interpretatic
("APB No. 25"). The compensation cost related tarsbased payment transactions is now measured baskadr aalue of the equity
liability instrument issued. For purposes of estintathe fair value of each stock option unit oe thate of grant, the Company utilized
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The BlaSkholes option valuation model was developed ferinsstimating the fair value of trac
options, which have no vesting restrictions and fatly transferable. In addition, option valuationodels require the input of higl
subjective assumptions including the expected Wityafactor of the market price of the Compasycommon stock (as determined
reviewing its historical public market closing p®). Because the Compasyemployee stock options have characteristics fgignily
different form those of trade options and becatlmmges in the subjective input assumptions canriabiyeaffect the fair value estimate,
management'’s opinion, the existing models do noessarily provide a reliable measure of the faueaf its employee stock options.

The Company had previously accounted for stoaked compensation using the intrinsic value meihmadcordance with APB No. 25 ¢
had adopted the disclosure provisions of StatemielRinancial Accounting Standards No. 148, "Accaugfor StockBased Compensati
- Transition and Disclosure, ("SFAS No. 148"), an adreent of SFAS 123. Under APB No. 25, when the @gerprice of the Compan
employee stock options equaled the market pricthefunderlying common stock on the date of grantcoempensation expense \
recognized. Accordingly, no compensation expensklgen recognized in the consolidated financidestants in connection with the
types of grants for 2005 and earlier. When the @sgerprice of the Company's employee stock optieas less than the market price of
underlying common stock on the date of grant, camepton expense was recognized. Equity instrumisstsed to nonemployees
exchange for goods, fees and services are accofartadder the fair value-based method of SFAS NR(R).

The Company’s accounting for stock-based compemsé#bir restricted stock units (“RSUs”) has beeneblasn the fairalue method. Tt
fair value of the RSUs is the market price of tlmrpany’s common stock on the date of grant, Isssxercise cost.

The following table illustrates the effect on nesd and loss per share had the Company appliefaithealue recognition provisions
SFAS 123 to stock-based employee compensatiotsfatock option grant awards. Pro forma compensatiperse may not be indicat
of future expense.

Year ended December 31, 2005
(in thousands except per share data)

Net loss, as reporte $ (12,07%)

Add: total stockbased employee compensation expense inc
in reported net loss 6,45¢

Deduct: total stock-based employee compensatioaresep

determined under fair value-based method for adira® (7,242
Net loss, pro form. $ (12,85%)

Loss per share:
Basic and Diluted EPS - as reported

>

(1.81)

Basic and Diluted EPS - as pro forma (2.90)

*

14. Carrying Amount and Fair Value of Financial Instrum ents
The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalermgsoapnates fair value due to the shtetm maturities of the instruments. The carr

value of the Compang’debt approximates fair value because the debs beans that are reflective of those terms shthdCompan
secure additional financing.
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15. New Accounting Pronouncements
Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Statements

In December 2007, Financial Accounting Standardar8d¢“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial AccoogtiStandards (“SFAS’INo.
160 “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Fioiah Statements, an amendment of ARB No. 51" (“SFK®”). SFAS 160 amen:
ARB No. 51 to establish accounting and reportirmmgards for the noncontrolling interest in a suibsydand for the deconsolidation ¢
subsidiary. It also amends certain of ARB No.s5éonsolidation procedures for consistency withrdguuirements of SFAS 41 (revis
2007), Business Combinations. SFAS 160 is effediivefiscal years and interim periods within thdial years beginning on or al
December 15, 2008. Earlier adoption is prohibi®®EAS 160 shall be applied prospectively as of #girming of the fiscal year in whi
the Statement is adopted, except for the presentatnd disclosure requirements. The presentatidndistlosure requirements shall
applied retrospectively for all periods presented.

Business Combinations

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141ideelv2007) “Business Combinations” (“SFAS (141RBFAS 141R retains t
fundamental requirements of the original pronouresnrequiring that the purchase method be usedlfdiusiness combinations. SF
141R defines the acquirer as the entity that obta@mtrol of one or more businesses in the busit@sbination, establishes the acquisi
date as the date the acquirer achieves controlreqdires the acquirer to recognize the assets iabditles assumed and any non-
controlling interest at their fair values as of geguisition date. SFAS 141R requires, among dtiiegs, that the acquisition related c
be recognized separately from the acquisition. SEARR is applied prospectively to business combnatfor which the acquisition d:

is on or after January 1, 2009.

Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and FinanciLiabilities

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 “Fh# Value Option for Financial Assets and Finahtiiabilities —Including a
Amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" (“SFAS 158FAS 159 permits an entity to elect to measurelddigtems at fair value {air
value option”)including many financial instruments. The provisiaf SFAS 159 are effective for the Company asaofudry 1, 2008.
the fair value option is elected, the Company wélbort unrealized gains and losses on items fochvktie fair value option has be
elected in earning at each subsequent reportireg tifront costs and fees related to an item fackthe fair value option is elected sl
be recognized in earnings as incurred and not @efehe fair value option may be applied for aykreligible item without electing it f
other identical items, with certain exceptions, amgst be applied to the entire eligible item antitooa portion of the eligible item. T
Company is currently evaluating the irrevocabletba of the fair value option pursuant to SFAS 159

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15T WValue Measurements” (“SFAS 157\hich defines fair value, establishe
framework for measuring fair value in generally equted accounting principles and expands disclosaipesit fair value measureme
SFAS 157 is effective for the Company beginninglanuary 1, 2008. The requirements of SFAS 157beilapplied prospectively exc
for certain derivative instruments that would bguated through the opening balance of retainediegsnin the period of adoption.
February 2008, the FASB issued Staff Position N&SA57-2 which provides for a oryear deferral of the effective date of SFAS 15°
nonfinancial assets and liabilities that are recogmiae disclosed at fair value in the financial staéets on a nonrecurring basis, ex
those that are recognized or disclosed at fairevaiithe financial statements on a recurring basis. Company is evaluating the impac
the adoption of SFAS 157 on its financial statersent

Share-Based Payment

The Company adopted FASB 123R effective Janua®0Q6 under the modified prospective method, whetognizes compensation ¢
beginning with the effective date (a) based onrdniirements of FASB 123R for all shdrvased payments granted after the effective
and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelfiedt that date and (b) based on the requirementsA&B Statement No. 123 for
awards granted to employees prior to the effedfisg of FASB 123R that remain unvested on the &ffecate. The only cumulati
effect of initially applying this Statement for ti@mpany was to reclassify $5,724,000 of previoustorded unearned compensation
paidin capital. The Company has estimated that an iaddit $5,827,000 will be expensed over the appleaémaining vesting perio
for all sharebased payments granted to employees on or befotentier 31, 2005 which remained unvested on JarLiaPp06. Th
Company anticipates that more compensation codtsbeirecorded in the future if the use of opticarsd restricted stock units -
employees and director compensation continues teipast.
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NOTE B — LICENSE, DEVELOPMENT, AND COMMERCIALIZATI ON AGREEMENT

On October 30, 2007, we and King Pharmaceuticalse&eh and Development, Inc. (“King”), a wholiysned subsidiary of Kir
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., entered into a License, Dewmeent and Commercialization Agreement (the “KiAgreement”)to develop an
commercialize in the United States, Canada and édegihe "King Territory") certain opioid analgesicoducts utilizing our proprieta
Aversion® @buse deterrent) Technology including ACUROX™ TableThe Agreement provides King with an excludigense in the Kin
Territory for ACUROX™ Tablets and another undiseldspioid product candidate utilizing Acura's Aver® Technology. In addition, tl
King Agreement provides King with an option to e in the King Territory all future opioid analgeproducts developed utilizing Acur
Aversion® Technology.

Under the terms of the King Agreement, King madeupfront cash payment to Acura of $30 million whighs received in December, 2C
Depending on the achievement of certain developmedtregulatory milestones, King could also makditamhal cash payments to Acura of
to $28 million relating to ACUROX™ Tablets and slariamounts with respect to each subsequent Avegsitechnology product develop
under the Agreement. King will reimburse Acura &l research and development expenses incurredtiegi from September 19, 2007
ACUROX™ Tablets and all research and developmepteses related to future products after King's @serof its option to an exclusi
license for each future produéting will record net sales of all products and $ales occurring following the one year annivers#rthe firs
commercial sale of a licensed product, and Kind paly Acura a royalty at one of 6 rates rangingrr6% to 25% based on the leve
combined annual net sales for all products suligettie Agreement. King will also make a atitee cash payment to Acura of $50 million in
first year in which the combined annual net safeallgroducts exceed $750 million.

King and Acura have formed a joint steering comeeitto coordinate development and commercializagicategies. With King oversigh
Acura will conduct all ACUROX™ Tablet developmerttigities through approval of a New Drug Applicati¢‘"NDA”) and thereafter Kir
will commercialize ACUROX™ Tablets in the U.S. Withspect to all other products subject to the Aguegt, King will be responsible 1
development and regulatory activities followingheit acceptance of an Investigational New Drug Agapion by the U.S. Food and D
Administration (“FDA”) or Acura's demonstration of certain stability afdmnacokinetic characteristics for each future pobdAll product
developed pursuant to the King Agreement will benufactured by King or a third party contract mamtdizger under the direction of Kir
Subiject to the King Agreement, King will have firddcision making authority with respect to all depenent and commercialization activit
for all products licensed.

NOTE C - PREFERRED SHARES

Effective November 10, 2005, all of the issued audstanding $0.01 par value preferred shares ofChmpany were automatically ¢
mandatorily converted into the Company’s commonclstin accordance with the terms of the CompaniRestated Certification

Incorporation. There is no convertible preferreacktoutstanding at either December 31, 2007 or 2066 share information consists of
following (in thousands):

A uthorized and

Available for

Convertible Issuance at
Preferred Stock 12/31/07 and 12/31/(
Series A 23,03¢
Series B Junior 4,75¢
Series C-1 Junior 13,577
Series C-2 Junior 12,567
Series C-3 Junior 18,09:
Total 72,027

F-14




NOTE D - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are summarized &safsl(in thousands):

December 31,

2007 2006

Building and building improvements $ 1,391 $ 1,391
Land and land improvements 161 161
Machinery and equipment 59¢ 2,18:
Scientific equipment 44k 481
Computer hardware and software 201 203
Office equipment 42 42
Other personal property 48 50

2,88¢ 4,511
Less accumulated depreciation and amortizationu@iicg $36 in 2006 on
capital leased assets) (1,759 (3,200

1,12¢ 1,311
Less impairment reserve (82) (16€)
Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,046 $ 1,14¢

During 2007, the Company acquired its only assefeurm capitalized lease. Equipment with a net beadke of $111,000 was recorc
under capitalized leases in categories of sciergifjuipment and office equipment at December 30620

Depreciation and amortization expense for the yeaded December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $130$10.8,000 and $137,0!
respectively.

NOTE E - ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses are summarized as follows (insténs):

December 31,

2007 2006
Bonus, payroll, payroll taxes and benefits $ 63 $ 62
Legal fees 35 19
Audit examination and tax preparation fees 12C 70
Franchise taxes 15 15
Property taxes 34 52
Clinical, regulatory, trademarks, and patent
consulting fees 50 60
Other fees and services 17 50
$ 334 $ 32¢

NOTE F - NOTES PAYABLE

The Company does not have any notes payable odistaat December 31, 2007. At December 31, 200&snpayable consisted of the
following (in thousands):

Senior secured convertible bridge term notes:

Face value $ 7,84¢
Debt discount (84%)
7,00t

Conversion feature value 16,75(

$ 23,75"



Secured term note payable $ 5,00(

Capital lease obligations $ 32
(a) Convertible Bridge Term Notes

As of August 19, 2007, the Company had borrowed S million pursuant to a series of loan agreemdated between June 2005 to Jar
2006 — all as amended through July 2007 (tiBrilge Loans), between the Company, Galen Partiieds.P. and its affiliates, Care Capi
Investments 1l, LP and its affiliate, and Essex \Wlaads Health Ventures V, L.P. (collectively, th&C' Investors”),and certain oth
shareholders of the Company. The proceeds fronBtlige Loans were used by the Company to deveAversion®Technology and fur
related operating expenses. The Bridge Loans daareinterest rate of 10%, payable quarterly whizirsuant a November 2006 amendn
was payable, at the Compasyodption, with shares of its Common Stock. The geid.oans, as amended in March 2007, had a sch
maturity date of September 30, 2007. On August20,/, the entire $10.544 million principal amouftre Bridge Loans was converted i
the Companys Units in the Unit Offering pursuant to the terpfsthe Securities Purchase Agreement dated Augis@07 between ti
Company and each of the investors listed therein.
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Through August 2006, the Bridge Loans did not idel@onversion provisions. An amendment to the Rridoans effected in August 2006
added a conversion feature which allowed, at thddes’ option, the Bridge Loans to be converted the Company’s Common Stock upon a
qualifying equity financing at a conversion priagual to the per share price implicit in such eqtiitncing. The Company did not assign any
value to the new conversion feature as it did moviole the lenders with an opportunity to receiedue in a conversion in excess of the face
value of the debt regardless of the per share pfitieat equity financing.

In November 2006 and March 2007, the conversiotufeaf the Bridge Loans was further amended taathe bridge loan lenders to convert
the Bridge Loans into the Company’s common stopknuthe completion of a third-party equity finargiproviding gross proceeds to the
Company in the aggregate amount of at least $5lm({a “Third Party Equity Financing”), a ChangéControl Transaction or upon the
maturity date of the Bridge Loans (each a “TrigggrEvent”).Upon the occurrence of a Triggering Event, thedwitbnders could convert $:
million (as of August 9, 2007) of Bridge Loans it Company’s common stock at a conversion piggekto (A) in the case of the
completion of a Third Party Equity Financing, tleeder of (i) 80% of the average closing bid an@dgkices of the Company’s common stock
for the twenty trading days immediately precedimg public announcement of the Third Party InveBinancing, but not less than $2.10 per
share (ii) the average price of the securities bglthe Company in such Third Party Equity Finaggi@0% of such average price in the case of
$1.8 million of Bridge Loans), and (iii) $4.40 p&hvare for $2.0 million of Bridge Loans and $4.60 sieare for $1.8 million of Bridge Loans
and (B) in the case of a Change of Control Tramsacir upon the maturity date of the Bridge Loahs,lesser of (i) 80% of the average clo
bid and asked prices of the Company’s common dimcthe twenty trading days immediately precedimg public announcement of the
Change of Control Transaction or the maturity dateapplicable, but not less than $2.10 per shark(ii) $4.40 per share for $2.0 million of
Bridge Loans and $4.60 per share for $1.8 millibBradge Loans. In addition, upon a Triggering Euehe bridge lenders could convert $2.55
million of Bridge Loans into the Company's commawnck at a conversion price of $2.00 per share, 8#l®n of Bridge Loans at a

conversion price of $2.25 per share and $1.894anibf Bridge Loans at a conversion price of $2080 share.

The November and December 2006 issuances of Btidges for an aggregate face value of $1,104,000ded this amended conversion
feature which the Company valued at an aggrega$d ,0034,000. This value was recorded as a liabithh an offsetting $1,025,000 debt
discount (which was amortized over the term ofBhidge Loans) and $9,000 of issuance loss. Howeasethe debt was issued to shareholders
who control the Company, this loss was recordeal meneash deemed dividend rather than effecting net ladditional issuances of $896,0

of Bridge Loans in January and February 2007 shigilsad aggregate conversion feature value of ¥8M®and a loss upon issuance of $3,000,
which was recorded as a non-cash deemed dividénerraan effecting net loss.

The November 2006 amendment of the conversionteatu all of the then outstanding Bridge Loans pted with the requirement under
current accounting guidance to separate the vdltleeaconversion feature from the debt, required@ompany to record the value of the
amended conversion feature on that outstandingateatliability and a loss on the modification ebtl The Company assigned a value of
$19.951 million to these conversion features a¢ @himodification and reflected that loss as noshadeemed dividend.

Upon revaluing the aggregate conversion featureslautstanding Bridge Loans as of March 30, 208 date immediately before further
amendment to the Bridge Loans), the Company redditkeresulting increase in value as a $3.483anilloss. The increase in the Company’s
common stock trading price from December 31, 2@0@arch 30, 2007 resulted in the increase in theevaf the conversion liability. The
Bridge Loan amendment on March 30, 2007 limiteddieversion price of the post-October 2006 loansottower than $2.10 per share. With
this limit in place, the outstanding conversiontéea no longer had to be reflected as Companyliligsi. As such, the Company recorded a
$21.1 million reclassification of that liability tadditional paid-in capital.

To compute the estimated value of the conversiatufes just prior to the reclassification describbdve and at the previous year end, the
Company used the Black-Scholes option-pricing medil the following assumptions on these dates:

Mar 30, Dec 31,
2007 2006
Company stock price $ 85C $ 7.4C
Exercise price (see #1 belov (see #1 belov
Expected dividend 0.0% 0.C%
Risk—free interest rate 5.07% 5.C%
Expected volatility none 88.£%
Contracted term 1 day 3 month:
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(1) The conversion price per share used to estirffatevalue of the Bridge Loan conversion rightsswequal to the fixe
conversion price per share set forth above for edde specified Bridge Loan amounts. While thédBe Loan Agreemer
provide for other than fixed conversion prices undertain circumstances, the Company has judgedtiieafixed conversic
prices will most likely be the lowest price per ghander any of the circumstances and the lendatditberefore select such fix
price for their conversion.

The conversion features related to $1.8 milliordBe Note issuances (dated March 30, 2007, Ap20B;7, May 17, 2007, and July 10, 2C
were not required to be separated and accountedt ffair value. However, based on the conversiacepof those notes, the issuances
include beneficial conversion features wherebydbmmon stock to be issued upon conversion woulddr¢h more than the underlying det
converted upon issuance. That incremental valumpoted as $339,000, $170,000, $443,000 and $600r@6pectively, was recorded
additional paid in capital and as debt discountictviwill be amortized over the term of the notepod conversion of the Bridge Loans i
Units of the Unit Offering dated August 20, 200544,000 of unamortized beneficial conversion fezgureflected as debt discount '
recorded as a reduction to additional paid in edpit

(b) Secured Term Note

The Company was a party to a certain loan agreemihteach of the VC Investors and certain otharsholders of the Company de
February 10, 2004 (the "2004 Secured Term NofHie 2004 Secured Term Note was in the principaluamof $5.0 million and was secu
by a lien on all of the Company's and its subsjdsmassets. On June 28, 2007, the 2004 Secured Tetenlds amended to extend the mat
date from June 30, 2007 to September 30, 2007 wtitef amended on August 20, 2007 to extend thenhatate from September 30, 200
December 31, 2008. In addition, the August 20, 28@&ndment to the 2004 Secured Term Note reduecidtiérest rate from a variable rati
prime plus 4.5%, to a fixed rate of 10.0% per anraund to provide for interest payments in the fofroash instead of the Compasy¢commo
stock. On September 24, 2007, the 2004 Secured Nerte was further amended to provide for the adcand deferral of accrued inter
payments. Simultaneous with the Compamgceipt of the $30 million upfront cash paymesteived pursuant to the closing of the Agreel
with King , the Company prepaid the principal amioplus $236,000 unpaid interest relating to the428@cured Term Note on Decembe
2007.

NOTE G — COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

As a result of the November 2006 amendment to thstanding Bridge Loans, the Compasmyutstanding common stock purchase war
commenced being accounted for as markatorket liabilities with an initial recorded lialiii of $12,948,000 and corresponding reductic
additional paid-in capital. The mark to market fealue adjustments to the warrant liability restilte a $2,164,000 gain recorded in th& 4
quarter 2006 and a recorded liability of $10,788,e0December 31, 2006. Upon revaluing the warrastsbefore their exercise or as of Me
30, 2007 (the date immediately before further ammemt to the Bridge Loans), the Company recordedréiselting increase in value a
$1,668,000 loss. The increase in the Compmangmmon stock trading price from December 31, 260@arch 30, 2007 resulted in the incre
in the value of the warrant liability. A Bridge Loagreement amendment on March 30, 2007 limitecdimersion price of the po§ietobe
2006 loans to no lower than $2.10 per share. With fimit in place, the outstanding warrants werelonger required to be reflected
Company liabilities. As such, the Company recorde#12,307,000 million reclassification of that fidp to additional paidin capital ir
addition to a $146,000 reclassification relatedé&rants exercised during the first quarter of 2007

At December 31, 2007, the Company had outstandomgnmon stock purchase warrants, exercisable for ggregate of approximate
3,972,000 shares of common stock, all of which a@ioetd cashless exercise features. During 2007 amarto purchase an aggregate 58(
shares of Common Stock were exercised at exercisespbetween $1.20 and $6.60 per share in a sefieashless exercise transact
resulting in the issuance of aggregate 313,616sharCommon Stock. At December 31, 2007, outstendommon stock purchase warrant
47,000, 409,000, 81,000 and 3,435,000 will expirenexercised during the 2008, 2009, 2010 and ydemeafter, respectively, and hav
weighted average remaining term of 5.76 years. &tezcise prices of these warrants range from $th289.90 per share, with a weigh
average price of $3.20.

NOTE H - INCOME TAXES

In July 2006, the Financial Accounting Standardsulo(“FASB”) issued Interpretation No. 48 regarding "Accountfng Uncertainty il
Income Taxes," an interpretation of FASB Statermdat 109 ("FIN 48"), defining the threshold for reguzing the benefits of taseturr
positions in the financial statements as "morelikbannot" to be sustained by the taxing authorities. Twmmpany has reviewed its
positions for tax years 2003 through 2005 and thaption of FIN 48 on January 1, 2007 did not resukstablishing a contingent tax liabi
reserve or a corresponding charge to retained rggniThe Company has substantial tax benefits elérikom its net operating loss (“NOL”
carryforwards but has provided 100% valuation a#loees against such tax benefits as described m Aot 1.
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The reconciliations between the statutory fedenabine tax rate and the Company's effective incoaxerate were as follows |

thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Federal statutory rate $ (4,73)) 340 % (2,029 (340 % (4,10%) (34.0
State taxes, net of Federal effect (413 (3.0 (537) (9.0 (609) (5.0
Research credits (220) (1.6) (12€) (2.7 (12%) (2.0
Other (20) 0.2 26 0.5 39 0.3
Impact of nortaxable items
Reduction in NOL carryforwards 1,33¢ 9.6
Conversion feature fair value
change 1,18¢ 8.5 (1,440 (24.7)
Debt discount amortization 918 6.6 62 1.C
Warrant fair value change 648 4.7 (73€) (12.9)
Non-deductible financing costs 311 2.2 32C 5.4
Wage limitation 51 0.4 - -
Other (95) 0.7
(1,029 (7.4 (4,46(0) (74.7) (4,800 (39.9)
Change in valuation allowance 10,62¢ 76.4 4,46( 74.7 4,80( 30.7
Recorded tax benefit $ 9,60( 69.C $ - - %

The Company has gross Federal, state, and cityatipgrloss carryforwards aggregating $135.3 milli209.8 million, and $46.3 millio
respectively, expiring during the years 2009 thio@@27. During 2007, the Company determined it mase likely than not that it would
able to realize some of its net deferred incomeatssets in the near future, and a $9.6 million sidjent to the net deferred income tax ¢
valuation allowance was made causing increasedriacim our 2007 Fourth Quarter. Future determinatito realize the Comparg/'ne
deferred income tax assets would cause reductioriBel valuation allowance and further income statgnbeneficial adjustments. At b
December 31, 2007 and 2006, a 100% valuation alloe/@xists against the remaining net deferred iectan assets as we are uncerta
future utilization of NOL carryforwards.

Significant equity restructuring often results imlaternal Revenue Section 382 ownership changdithis the future use of net operating |
(“NOL™) carryforwards and other tax attributes. Such aitéb include general business credits. The Se88@rimitation applies on an ann
basis to tax years ending after the date of theeosinip change. The Section 382 limitation redubessalue of our prewnership change NC
carryforwards by limiting our annual utilization tsfe NOL carryforwards (and certain other tax htttés) against future income and gains.
tax loss carryforwards of the Company and its slisj are subject to limitation by Section 382 wiéispect to the amount utilizable each y
After our findings have been finalized and the tation has been quantified, we may seek furtheciBpguidance from the Internal Rever
Service. Our net deferred income tax assets wikdjasted for this limitation; however the Compaxpects no income statement effect
100% valuation allowance has been placed againstaferred income tax assets at December 31, 2007.

The temporary differences that give rise to defbineome tax assets and liabilities are as follGwshousands):

December 31,

2007 2006
Deferred income tax assets:
NOL carryforwards - federal $ 45,99: $ 48,02¢
NOL carryforwards— state/city 8,30¢ 7,831
Research credits 62& 382
Stock based compensation 5,852 5,497
Warrant compensation 21 56
Other 55 90
Deferred income tax assets 60,85( 61,88¢
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Depreciation (16) (25)




Gross deferred income tax assets 60,83¢ 61,86:
Valuation allowance (51,239 (61,867)

Net deferred income tax ass $ 9,60C $ -
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NOTE | - EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
1. 401(k) and Profit-sharing Plan

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishe®1(k) and Profit-Sharing Plan (the “Plafdy all employees other than those cowv
under collective bargaining agreements. Eligiblgpkayees may elect to make a basic contributionpofail5% of their annual earnings. *
Plan provides that the Company can make discretjomatching contributions equal to 25% of the fi68b of employee contributions for
aggregate employee contribution of 1.5%, along \waittliscretionary profisharing contribution. The Company incurred neittmatching nc
profit sharing contribution expense under the Ba2007, 2006 or 2005.

2. Stock Option Plans
1995 Stock Option Plan

In September 1995, the stockholders of the Comppproved the adoption of a stock option and resttistock purchase plan for
employees and noamployee directors (the "1995 Option Plan"). In M#P5, the 1995 Stock Option Plan expired and ¢neaining unissue
shares allocated to the plan were terminated. Atbder 31, 2007, stock options to purchase 36,88@es, previously granted under the 1
Stock Option Plan, remain outstanding, with an agerper share exercise price of $15.82.

1998 Stock Option Plan

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company ajgorohe adoption of a stock option plan for its taypes and noemployee directors (
amended to date, the "1998 Option Plan"). The 1988on Plan provides for the granting of (i) nonlified options to purchase the Compal
common stock at a price determined by the Compastosk Option Committee (effective second quarfed4 the duties of the Companry’
Stock Option Committee was assigned to the Compga@igmpensation Committee), and (ii) incentive stopkons to purchase the Compa
common stock at not less than the fair market valu¢he date of the option grant. In June 2002 stiereholders of the Company approv
resolution to increase the total number of sharbhvmay be sold pursuant to options and rightsitgca under the 1998 Option Plar
8,100,000. In August 2004, the shareholders ofGbmpany approved a resolution to increase this amimu20,000,000. No option can
granted under the 1998 Option Plan after April 2@0f®1 no option can be outstanding for more thanyesrs after its grant. Vesti
requirements are generally 4 years. At December2807, 102,066 shares were available for futuretgrand stock options to purch
1,821,609 shares remain outstanding with an avgragshare exercise price of $2.27.

A summary of the Company's stock option plans eBexfember 31, 2007, 2006, and 2005, and for thesyban ended consisted of the

following:
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005

Number Weighted Number Weighted Number Weighted

of Average of Average of Average

Options Exercise Options Exercise Options Exercise

(000's) Price (000’s) Price (000’s) Price

Outstanding, beginning 1,89¢ $ 2.6C 197t $ 2.7 1,75C $ 4.4C
Granted - - - - 40C 1.3C
Exercised (32) 3.8C (40 2.5C (4) 1.3C
Forfeited or expired (10) 3.6( (36) 10.4( (171 16.5(
Outstanding, ending 1,85¢ $ 2.6( 1,89¢ $ 2.6( 1,97 $ 2.7C
Options exercisable, end of year 1,827 $ 2.5¢€ 1,837 $ 2.6( 1,56¢ $ 3.1¢
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The following table summarizes information abowic&toptions outstanding at December 31, 2007 (numibeptions in thousands):

Options Outstandin Options Exercisabl
Weighted
Average Weighted Number of Weighted
Number of  Remaining Average Vested Average
Range of Exercise Options Contractual Exercise Options Exercise
Prices (000’s) Life Price (000's) Price
$ 1.30 to $10.00 1,72¢ 6.6z $ 1.3¢ 1,69¢ $ 1.34
$10.01 to $20.00 70 2.0¢ 14.2¢ 70 14.2¢
$20.01 to $25.00 59 0.84 23.81 58 23.81
Total 1,85¢ 6.27 $ 2.5¢ 1,827 $ 2.5¢€

The following table summarizes information aboutwested stock options outstanding at December@17 Znumber of options in
thousands):

Weighted
Number of Average
Options Not Fair
Exercisable Value
Outstanding at December 3
2006 62 $ 3.1C
Granted - -
Vested (32) 3.1C
Forfeited or expired - -
Outstanding at December 3
2007 31 % 3.1C

The Company estimated the option’s fair value on diate of grant using the Black - Scholes optiookpy model. BlackScholes utilize
assumptions related to volatility, the riske interest rate, the dividend yield (which iswased to be zero, as the Company has not pai
cash dividends) and employee exercise behaviore&igd volatilities utilized in the BlacBeholes model are based on the historical voig
of the Company’s common stock price. The fisde interest rate is derived from the U.S. Treasigld curve in effect at the time of grant. -
expected life of the grants is derived from histakifactors. The fair value of the option grant2@95 is being amortized using a graded ve
method. This method treats the award as if thetgvais a series of awards rather than a single aamddattributes a higher percentage o
reported fair value to the earlier years than ®l#ter years of the service period because thg wears of service are part of the vesting pe
for later awards in the series. No options weraigein 2007 and 2006. Assumptions used in the 2085ts were:

2005
Expected dividend 0.C%
Risk-free interest rate 4.5%
Expected volatility 12(%
Weighted average volatility 12(%
Forfeitures 0.C%
Expected term 4 year:
Weighted average grant date fair value $ 4.5(C
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As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 the aggrdagtinsic value of the option awards outstandang exercisable was $8,083,(
$10,253,000 and $1,971,000, respectively. In ashlitthe aggregate intrinsic value of option awaegsrcised during the years en
December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $492,000 and $10/8@&¢€pectively. The total remaining unrecognizeshpensation cost related to
unvested option awards amounted to less than $A@00ecember 31, 2007 and is expected to be rembover the next three mo
weighted average remaining requisite service peoiothe unvested option awards. The total fair gadd the option awards that ves
during the years ended December 31, 2007, 20062808 were $97,000, $2,800,000 and $1,067,000, cégply. The Compar
recognized stockased compensation from the option awards of $86$821,000 and $2,198,000, during the years ebDdmeémber 3:
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. As discuss&tbbe H, a 100% valuation reserve has been recadaihst the Company'deferred te
assets, which includes the related gross tax ler#f$483,000 and $178,000 recorded in calendansyaf 2007 and 2006, respectively,
allowable deductions arising from the exerciseaf gualified stock options.

Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan

On December 22, 2005, the Board of Directors apgtdiie Company’s 2005 Restricted Stock Unit AwdethRthe “2005 RSU Plan'fpr
its employees and non-employee directors. A Restti§tock Unit (“RSU"yepresents the contingent obligation of the Compargelive
a share of its common stock to the holder of th&JR® a distribution date. RSUs for up to 3.0 millishares of common stock
authorized for issuance under the 2005 RSU Plar. Gbmpany believed that the 2005 RSU Plan did eqtire shareholder appro
Nevertheless, the Company’s shareholders ratifie®005 RSU Plan at its December, 2006 Annual 8b&ters’ Meeting.

The RSU Plan is administered by the ComparBvard of Directors or a Committee appointed gy Board of Directors. RSUs gran
under the 2005 RSU Plan vest on a schedule detedniy the Board of Directors or such Committeeedgagth in a restricted stock u
award agreement. Unless otherwise set forth in awerd agreement, the RSUs fully vest upon a changentrol (as defined in the 2C
RSU Plan) of the Company or upon termination ofeamployees employment with the Company without cause or ttueleath c
disability, and in the case of a non-employee dinecsuch persos’death or disability or if such person is not raimated as a direct
(other than for “cause” or refusal to stand foeteetion) or is not elected by the Compangtockholders, if nominated. Vesting of an F
entitles the holder thereof to receive a shareoafroon stock of the Company on a distribution dafee( payment of the $0.01 par ve
per share).

Absent a change of control, ofmirth of vested shares of common stock underlgngRSU award will be distributed (after paymer
$0.01 par value per share) on January 1 of ea2B1f, 2012, 2013 and 2014. If a change in contours (whether prior to or after 201
the vested shares underlying the RSU award witliseibuted at or about the time of the changeointiol.

During December 2005, an aggregate of 2,750,000sR@&tde granted to the Compasgmployees. During February 2006, an aggreg.
200,000 RSUs were granted to the Compsaitwo independent directors. Of the RSUs grantathte, approximately one third vested u
grant and the other two thirds will vest on a gfinédine monthly basis through December 2007. Durin@72@nd 2006, 983,300 ¢
1,050,000 RSUs became vested, respectively. As, siiche RSU awards granted, 2,950,000 and 1,966#Je vested as of Decem
31, 2007 and 2006, respectively and none and 983)3e nonvested as of December 31, 2007 and 266pectively. The weight
average fair value of both RSU grants is $3.50spere.

The stock-based compensation cost to be incurretieéRSUs is the RSU’s fair value, the market pat¢éhe Companyg common stoc
on the date of grant, less its exercise cost. @ivevhlue of the RSU grants in 2006 and 2005 wa&0$®0 and $9,724,000, respectiv
The fair value of the 2006 RSU grant was entirefgensed on the grant date as the grant was mageiffirmance of past service. -
fair value of the 2005 RSU grant is being amortimsthg a graded vesting method. This method ttéataward as if the grant was a s¢
of awards rather than a single award and attribaiteigher percentage of the reported fair valuta¢oearlier years than to the later yea
the service period because the early years of cemie part of the vesting period for later awdrdshe series. The total remain
unrecognized compensation cost related to the tedeRSU awards amounted to $879,000 at DecembeR@16. The Compal
recognized compensation cost from the RSU award®8@9,000 and $5,264,000 during the year ended rBleee 31, 2007 and 20(
respectively. No related tax benefits were recoritledalendar year 2007 and 2006. As of December28@y and 2006, the aggre¢
intrinsic value of the RSU awards outstanding asdted was $17,966,000 and $14,357,000, respectifslyliscussed above, the R
awards are distributable only upon the occurreri@edain events or beginning January 1, 2011.
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NOTE J - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Employment Contracts

Andrew D. Reddick is employed pursuant to an Emplegt Agreement effective as of August 26, 200&rasnded, which provides tl
Mr. Reddick will serve as the Company's Chief ExeeuOfficer and President for a term expiring Daber 31, 2008. The Employm:
Agreement provides for an annual base salary ob$®8® plus the payment of annual bonus based oadhievement of such targe
conditions, or parameters as may be set from tongnte by the Board of Directors or the Compensattommittee of the Board
Directors. For the Company’s 2007 fiscal yedr. Reddick was awarded a bonus of $850,000 duarhong other reasons, the succe
completion of our Unit Offering and the King Agreenmt. The Employment Agreement also provides for@oenpanys grant of stoc
options and restricted stock units to Mr. Redditke Employment Agreement contains standard tertoimairovisions, including upc
death, disability, for Cause, for Good Reason aitdout Cause, which in certain cases provides égegnce payments equal to one year’
salary and other termination benefits

Ron J. Spivey, Ph.D., is employed pursuant to aplByment Agreement effective as of April 5, 2004,aanended, which provides t
Dr. Spivey will serve as the Company's Senior \Rcesident and Chief Scientific Officer for term &kpy December 31, 2008 at an anr
base salary of $315,00Bursuant to the Employment Agreement Dr. Spivesliggble for annual bonuses based on the achieveofesuct
targets, conditions, or parameters as may be @et time to time by the Board of Directors or thengpensation Committee of the Boart
Directors. In 2007, Dr. Spivey was awarded a bafut650,000 due to, among other reasons, the caimplef our Unit Offering and tt
King Agreement.

Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an EmpéoyrAgreement effective as of March 10, 1998, asrated, which provides that |
Clemens will serve as the Company's Senior Vicsi@eat and Chief Financial Officer for a term exmpgrDecember 31, 2008 at an ant
base salary of $205,000nder the Employment Agreement, he may also recaivannual bonus to be determined based on trefasditbr
of such targets, conditions or parameters as magdbermined from time to time by the Compensatiaam@ittee of the Board
Directors. In 2007, Mr. Clemens was awarded a barfii#l80,000 due to, among other reasons, the adimplof our Unit Offering ar
the King Agreement.

The terms of the Employment Agreements with Dr.v8piand Mr. Clemens are similar to those of Mr. éRekl The term of tF
Employment Agreements with each of Messrs. Red@gkyey and Clemens provides for automatic one/éd) renewals in the absenc
written notice to the contrary from the Companyoch executive at least ninety (90) days prioh&expiration.

Financial Advisor Agreement

In connection with the Company’s August 2007 Unffe@ng, the Company is obligated to pay a feeh® €ompanys financial advisc
upon each exercise of the warrants issued in thieQffering, in proportion to the number of warramxercised. The maximum amour
such fee assuming 100% exercise of such warrast§255,000. The Company has not reflected thisgatiin as a liability i
its consolidated financial statements as the payrisenontingent upon the timing and exercise of Weerants by each of the warr
holders. Such fee, if any, will be paid and charggdinst earnings as and if the warrants are esegtci
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NOTE K - QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

Selected quarterly consolidated financial datdn@s below. On December 5, 2007, the Company a&ftkeatone-for-ten reverse stock
split. All share and per share information hereiflects this reverse stock split (in thousandsepkper share data):

Three Month Period Ended

Calendar Year 2007 Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Total revenue $ - $ - $ - 9 6,40
Loss from operations (1,979 (1,340 (1,420 (172)
Net income (loss (9,159 (2,199 (2,476 9,521

Income (loss) per common share
(after deemed dividend) (Note A)

Basic $ (0.2¢) $ (0.06) $ (0.06) $ 0.21
Diluted $ (0.26) $ (0.06) $ (0.06) $ 0.2C
Calendar Year 2006 Mar. 31 June 30 Sept. 30 Dec. 31
Total revenue $ - $ - $ - $ =
Loss from operations (3,929 (2,347 (2,667) (1,899
Net income (loss (4,155 (2,615 (3,099 3,90(
Income (loss) per common share
(after deemed dividend) (Note A)
Basic $ (0.12) $ (0.0¢) $ (0.17) $ (0.49)
Diluted $ (0.12) $ (0.08) $ (0.17) $ (0.44)

Effective August 20, 2007, the Company entered mtSecurities Purchase Agreement with an investoupggand under the U
Offering, issued an aggregate 9.5 million sharethefCompanys common stock. The 3rd Quarter 2007 loss per camshare amount of $.
reflects the increased weighted average commorestautstanding from the Unit Offering and the impeafcthis issuance causes the 2
quarterly loss per share amounts not to add updaegual the 2007 annual loss per share amount.
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ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are included as a part a$ thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated het®y reference.

Exhibit
Number
3.1

3.2

3.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Exhibit Description

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist (incorporated by reference to Appendix C & Registrant's Pro:
Statement filed on July 6, 2004).

Certificate of Amendment Reverse Splitting Commaac® and restating but not changing text of parAdicle Il of
Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporabgcReference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filedcember 4, 2007).

Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (incorporatedelbgrence to Exhibit 3.1 to the Form 8-K filed ont@ber 12, 2007).

License, Development and Commercialization Agrednt®n and between the Registrant and King Pharmenzds
Research and Development, Inc. (incorporated sreate to Exhibit 10.1 of the Formk8filed on November 2, 200"
(confidential treatment has been requested foigtof this Exhibit).

Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of Augu2@@¥ (“PIPE SPA”among the Registrant, Vivo Ventures Fund
L.P., Vivo Ventures VI Affiliates Fund, L.P. (cotiévely “Vivo”), GCE Holdings LLC, and certain other signatc
thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2007).

Form of Warrant dated as of August 20, 2007 isqueduant to the PIPE SPA (incorporated by referémdexhibit 4.1 t
the Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2007).

Common Stock Purchase Warrant issued to Watsomflcauticals, Inc. (“WPI"Hated December 20, 2002 (incorpor:
by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Form 8-K fileal December 27, 2002).

Form of Warrants dated August 15, 2001 issued terGRartners lll, L.P., Galen Partners Internatioiig L.P. anc
Galen Employee Fund I, L.P. (currently exercigaht $9.90 per share) (incorporated by referendextobit 10.3 to th
Form S-3 filed on October 1, 2007 (the “October2@33")).

Form of Warrants dated January 9, 2002, Februa®pQ2, March 1, 2002, and April 5, 2002 issued &e@ Partners ||
L.P., Galen Partners International, 1ll, L.P. araléd Employee Fund lll, L.P. (currently exercisadi@n exercise price
$3.40 per share) (incorporated by reference tolktxh0.4 to the October 2007 S-3).

Form of Warrants dated May 8, 2002, June 3, 2008, 1, 2002, July 23, 2002, August 5, 2002, Septam®) 200z
October 1, 2002, November 4, 2002, November 12220vember 21, 2002 and December 5, 2002 issudslater
Partners Ill, L.P., Galen Partners Internationd},l.P. and Galen Employee Fund lll, L.P. (curtgrgxercisable at ¢
exercise price of $3.40 per share) (incorporatecebgrence to Exhibit 10.5 to the October 2007 S-3)

Form of Warrants dated May 5, 2003 issued to G#lartners lll, L.P., Galen Partners Internationt], L.P., Galel
Employee Fund lll, L.P., Essex Woodlands Healthtdess Fund V, L.P. and Care Capital InvestmentsRl,and othel
(currently exercisable at an exercise price of 83.@er share) (incorporated by reference to ExHiBi6 to the Octob
2007 S-3).
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Exhibit
Number
10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

*10.20

10.21

10.22

*10.23

Exhibit Description
Amended and Restated Voting Agreement dated aslofuiry 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Care Cadpitalstments |
LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund V, L.Rle Partners lll, L.P., and others (incorporatgddference t
Exhibit 10.5 of the Form 8-K filed on February 2004 (the “February 2004 Form 8-K")).

Joinder and Amendment to Amended and Restated ¢/ dtgreement dated November 9, 2005 between thesRaugi
GCE Holdings, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures Rgnid.P., Care Capital Investments Il, LP, GalentRens Ill, L.P
and others (incorporated by reference to Exhibil 10 the Form 8-K dated November 9, 2005).

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Votingekgent dated as of January 24, 2008 between thstReg an
GCE Holdings, LLC (incorporated by reference to BiHL.0.1 to the Form 8-K filed January 28, 2008).

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreemta&tetd February 6, 2004 among the Registrant, Waie Capite
Investments Il, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventksd V, L.P., Galen Partners lll, L.P. and oth@msorporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the February 2004 F8kK).

Registrants 1995 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Purchdae @nhcorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 te
Registrant's Registration Statement on Form S48,Nf@. 33-98396).

Registrant’'s 1998 Stock Option Plan, as amenderbiforated by reference to Appendix C to the Remists Prox)
Statement filed on November 16, 2006).

Registrants 2005 Restricted Stock Unit Award Plan, as amen@ecbrporated by reference to Appendix D to
Registrant’s Proxy Statement filed on November2D®6).

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Augugt 2003 between the Registrant and Andrew D. Ré&

(“Reddick”) (incorporated by reference to Exhib@.2 to the Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June2804 (the June
2004 10-Q").

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement betwberRegistrant and Reddick, dated May 27, 200eb(porate
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the June 2004 10-Q)

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenbetiveen the Registrant and Reddick, dated May R8E
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.116 toFleem 10K for the year ending December 31, 2005 filed obrkary 21
2006).

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemegtirneen the Registrant and Reddick, dated Decenthe2(D!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tloenk 8-K filed December 23, 2005 (the “December 2B0Em 8-K")).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreenbeiveen the Registrant and Reddick dated Decenth&007.

Executive Employment Agreement dated as of Apri2@04 between the Registrant and Ron J. Spiveypf(acated b
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the June 2004 10-Q).

Amendment to Executive Employment Agreement datedenber 22, 2005 between Registrant and Ron Jey
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to trec@mber 2005 Form 8-K).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerdated December 19, 2007 between the RegistranRand]
Spivey.
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Exhibit
Number
10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

*10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

Exhibit Description

Employment Agreement dated as of March 10, 199&dsen the Registrant and Peter Clemens (“Clememgdporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10~ke No. 001-10113).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement made aliné 28, 2000 between the Registrant and Clemecsriorate
by reference to Exhibit 10.44A to the Registra0€5 Form 10-K).

Second Amendment to Executive Employment Agreerbetween Registrant and Clemens, dated as of Jabu&g0!
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to thegRtrant's Form 8-K dated January 28, 2005).

Third Amendment to Executive Employment Agreemeated December 22, 2005 between Registrant and @k
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to trec@mber 2005 Form 8-K).

Fourth Amendment to Executive Employment Agreengenéd December 16, 2007 between Registrant andebiem

Loan Agreement among the Registrant Essex Wood|eedsth Ventures Fund V, L.P., Care Capital Invesits II, LP
Galen Partners Ill, L.P. and others dated Januan2@06 (the “Loan Agreementghd together with certain other bric
loan agreements, the “Loan Agreements”) (incorpatdy reference to the Form 8-K filed on January280D6).

Form of Secured Promissory Note of the Registraliating to January 31, 2006 Loan Agreement.

Subordination Agreement among Essex Woodlands M¥ahtures Fund V, L.P., Care Capital InvestmehtsR, Gale!
Partners 1ll, L.P., and others dated January 306 Aihcorporated by reference to the ForrK 8ded on January 3
2006).

Guarantor Security Agreement among Acura Pharmmegtitechnologies, Inc. (“APT"and Galen Partners Ill, L.P.,
Agent, dated January 31, 2006 (incorporated byeafs to the Form 8-K filed on January 31, 2006).

Omnibus Amendment effective as of May 24, 2006 agrttie Registrant and APT and certain lenders amegritiie Loa
Agreements (incorporated by reference to the Folfiged on May 24, 2006).

Omnibus Amendment effective as of August 16, 280®ng the Registrant, APT and certain lenders, dmngramon
other things, the Loan Agreements (incorporatedeligrence to the Form 8-K filed on August 16, 2006)

Omnibus Amendment effective as of September 226 200ong the Registrant, APT and certain lendergnaing amon
other things, the Loan Agreements (incorporatedeligrence to the Form 8-K filed on September 29620

Omnibus Amendment effective as of October 20, 28®®&ng the Registrant, APT and certain lenders, dmgramon
other things, the Loan Agreements (incorporatedeligrence to the Form 8-K filed on October 20, 2006

Omnibus Amendment effective as of November 30, 28@®ng the Registrant and APT and certain lendarendin
among other things, the Loan Agreements (incorpdrbay reference to the Form 8-K filed on Decemh&006).
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Exhibit
Number
10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

14.1

21

*23.1

*31.1

*31.2

Exhibit Description
Omnibus Amendment and Consent dated March 30, 2009nhg the Registrant, Galen Partners lll, L.P.,eCaapits
Investments 1, LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventdesd V, L.P. and the other signatories theretaofiporated b
referenced to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K filedriAR, 2007).

Omnibus Amendment and Consent effective as of 10ly2007 among the Registrant, Galen Partnerd.IR,, Car
Capital Investments I, LP, Essex Woodlands Hedkhtures Fund V, L.P. and the other signatoriesetiog(incorporate
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K filex July 10, 2007).

Fourth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Loan Agererdated as of June 28, 2007 between the RedistndnGale
Partners Ill, LP, as agent (incorporated by refeeeto Exhibit 10.1 of the Form 8-K filed on July Z)07 (the July 5
2007 8-K™)).

Consent and Amendment to Noteholders Agreement gnimsex Woodlands Health Ventures Fund V, L.P.gef
Partners Ill, L.P. and Care Capital Investmentd.H, and certain other signatories thereto (incafeal by reference
Exhibit 10.2 of the July 5, 2007 8-K).

Amended Secured Promissory Note dated as of Dege2@he2002 in the principal amount of $5,000,008uexd by th
Registrant, as the maker, in favor of Galen PastH&rL.P., as agent (incorporated by referencExhibit 10.3 of the Ju
5, 2007 8-K).

Fifth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Loan Agresing@ted as of August 20, 2007 between the Registired Gale
Partners Ill, L.P., as agent (incorporated by efee to Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 8-K filed on Aug§, 2007).

Amended Secured Promissory Note dated as of Dege2@he2002 in the principal amount of $5,000,008ued by th
Registrant, as the maker, in favor of Galen Pastthiér L.P., as agent (incorporated by referenc&xbibit 10.3 of th
Form 8-K filed on August 21, 2007).

Sixth Amendment, Waiver and Consent to Loan Agregndated as of September 27, 2007 between the tRegisan
Galen Partners lll, L.P., as agent (incorporatedefgrence to Exhibit 10.1 to the Form 8-K filed $aptember 24, 2007).

Amended Secured Promissory Note originally issugdfaDecember 20, 2002 in the principal amount B060,00!
issued by the Registrant, as the maker, in favasalen Partners I, L.P., as Agent (incorporatgddference to Exhit
10.2 of the Form 8-K filed on September 24, 2007).

Code of Ethics (incorporated by reference to ExHilli1 of the Form 8-K filed on December 10, 2007).

Subsidiaries of the Registrant (incorporated bgnesice to the Form 1R-for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2
filed on March 15, 2007).

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Executi@dficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1B8lof the Securities Exchar
Act of 1934.

Certification of Periodic Report by Chief Financ@fficer pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 1b#-of the Securities Exchar
Act of 1934.
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit Description

*32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chi€fnancial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sectiorb@,3as adopte
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2062.

*Filed or furnished herewith.
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FOURTH AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  (this “ Amendment”) made this 1é"day o'
December, 2007 by and betwe@8URA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (formerly Halsey Drug Co., Inc.), a New York corption (the “
Corporation”) and ANDREW D. REDDICK (the “Employee”).
RECITALS

A. The Corporation and the Employee executed an emm@ayagreement dated as of August 26, 2003, whashamended
three times (as amended, thEthployment Agreement”).

B. The Corporation and the Employee now desire tdh&uramend the Employment Agreement as providedrere
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and ttallings herein contained, the parties agree ésnsl
1. Section 7.6(a)(i) is hereby deleted and regulagith the following:

“(i) each of the following amounts:

(x) the Employee’s accrued and unpaid Base Salaryghrand including the date of terminations;
() the Employee’s then accrued and unused vacationghrand including the date of termination; and
(2) the Employee’s then accrued and unpaid Bonus fdr gaar, calculated by pro-rating the annual Bowlsch

would have been payable to the Employee but fotenimination and assuming full achievement of toas
Criteria for such year, based on the number of dagisthe Employee remained in the employ of thgpGation
during the year for which the Bonus is due;

The payments provided in subsections (x), (y) a)a@love, shall be paid in a single lump sum imagishin thirty (30) days
after the date of termination; provided, howevieat tif such termination is by the Employee for Gé&ehson, the payment provided in
subsection (z) shall be paid in a single lump saieish six (6) months and one (1) day followingstigcmination; and”

2. Section 7.6(a)(ii) is hereby deleted and regdawith the following:




“ (i) the greater of (x) the Employee's Base Safar the remainder of the Initial Term and (y) qi¢ year of the Employee's
Base Salary in effect immediately prior to the daftéeermination ("Severance Pay”). In the caseeofination by the Employee for
Good Reason, one-half of such Severance Pay shahid six months and one day following termingtemd the remainder of such
Severance Pay shall be paid in six equal montigfallments commencing with the seventh month falhgwermination. In the case
termination of the Employee’s employment by theg@oation without Cause, the amount of such Sever®ay that does not exceed
the Applicable Limit, shall be paid in equal momtiistallments over the Severance Period (as défim&ection 7.6(b)). To the exte
the Severance Pay exceeds the Applicable Limitof#-half of the amount exceeding the Applicablaitshall be paid six months
and one-day after the date of termination, andofg:-half of the amount exceeding the Applicableitshall be paid in six equal
monthly installments commencing with the seventmthafter the date of termination. The Applicabimit is the amount which may
not be exceeded as specified in Treas. Reg. 1-A@BKiii))(A) (generally the lesser of $450,000(2007) and two times Employee’s
compensation).”

3. Subsection (ii) of Section 7.6(b) is herebietk and replaced with the following:

“(ii) receive a payment in cash following his temation without Cause or for Good Reason represgiitia value of such
continued benefits, plus any income tax payabléhbyEmployee on such value. The amount providesthibsection (ii) shall be paid
(A) in a single lump sum payment within thirty (3f8ys of the date of termination if such terminaf® by the Corporation without
Cause, and (B) in a single lump sum payment sixthzoand one day following the date of terminatiosuich termination is by the
Employee for Good Reason.”

4. Section 7.7 is amended by deleting the pHitageSeverance Pay shall be payable in a lump surash within thirty (30)
days after the of the date of such terminationd geplacing it with “the Severance Pay shall begéey in a lump sum in cash six months and
one day after the date of such termination.”

5. Section 12.9 is added to the agreement asafsi|

12.9 Section 409A Option AgreemeNbtwithstanding anything contained herein to thetry, in the event of a
conflict between this Agreement and the SectionMR®n-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated Febyu 2006 , as amended (the “409A
Agreement”), with respect to the exercise of opgtionvered thereunder (including the period durimictvthey may be exercised), the
provisions of the 409A Agreement shall control.

6. Except as expressly amended by this AmendrttenEmployment Agreement remains in full force efféct. Capitalized
terms used herein shall have the same meaningthe Employment Agreement unless otherwise defiredin. This Amendment shall be
governed and construed and enforced in accordaitiegéhg local laws of the State of New York applitzto agreements made and to be
performed entirely in New York.




7. This Amendment may be executed in one or rfam&mile or original counterparts, each of whiblalsbe deemed an
original, but all of which taken together will cditste one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Amendment aseadldlte first above written.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Peter A. Clemens
Name: Peter A. Clemel
Title: Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddick
Andrew D. Reddick




SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  (this “ Amendment”) made this 19" day of
December, 2007 by and betwe®@URA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. (formerly Halsey Drug Co., Inc.), a New York corption (the “
Corporation”) and RON J. SPIVEY (the “Employee”).

RECITALS

A. The Corporation and the Employee executed anampent agreement dated as of April 5, 2004, whiels amended (as
amended, the Employment Agreement”).

B. The Corporation and the Employee now desiraitthér amend the Employment Agreement as proviaeeli.
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and ttallings herein contained, the parties agree ésnsl
1. Section 7.6(a)(i) is hereby deleted and regulagith the following:

“(i) each of the following amounts:

(x) the Employee’s accrued and unpaid Base Salaryghrand including the date of terminations;
() the Employee’s then accrued and unused vacationghrand including the date of termination; and
(2) the Employee’s then accrued and unpaid Bonus fdr gaar, calculated by pro-rating the annual Bowlsch

would have been payable to the Employee but fotenimination and assuming full achievement of toas
Criteria for such year, based on the number of dagisthe Employee remained in the employ of thgpGation
during the year for which the Bonus is due;

The payments provided in subsections (x), (y) a)a@love, shall be paid in a single lump sum imagishin thirty (30) days
after the date of termination; provided, howevieat tif such termination is by the Employee for Gé&tehson, the payment provided in
subsection (z) shall be paid in a single lump saieish six (6) months and one (1) day followinghstigcmination; and”




2. Section 7.6(a)(ii) is hereby deleted and regdawith the following:

“ (ii) one (1) year of the Employee's Base Salargffect immediately prior to the date of termioat(”Severance Pay”). In
the case of termination by the Employee for Goodd®a, one-half of such Severance Pay shall bespaidonths and one day
following termination; and the remainder of suclv&ance Pay shall be paid in six equal monthlyalireents commencing with the
seventh month following termination. In the caseepiination of the Employee’s employment by thepgooation without Cause, the
amount of such Severance Pay that does not exkegpplicable Limit, shall be paid in equal montigtallments over the
Severance Period (as defined in Section 7.6(b)}h&extent the Severance Pay exceeds the Apmitafolit, (A) one-half of the
amount exceeding the Applicable Limit shall be pgidmonths and one-day after the date of terndnatind (B) one-half of the
amount exceeding the Applicable Limit shall be gaidix equal monthly installments commencing wite seventh month after the
date of termination. The Applicable Limit is the ammt which may not be exceeded as specified insTieag. 1-.409A-1(b)(iii)(A)
(generally the lesser of $450,000 (for 2007) and tvwwes Employee’s compensation).”

3. Subsection (ii) of Section 7.6(b) is herebieterl and replaced with the following:

“(ii) receive a payment in cash following his temation without Cause or for Good Reason represgiiia value of such
continued benefits, plus any income tax payablthbyEmployee on such value. The amount providedibsection (ii) shall be paid
(A) in a single lump sum payment within thirty (3f8ys of the date of termination if such terminati® by the Corporation without
Cause, and (B) in a single lump sum payment sixthgoand one day following the date of terminatiosuich termination is by the
Employee for Good Reason.”

4. Section 7.7 is amended by deleting the pHitageSeverance Pay shall be payable in a lump surash within thirty (30)
days after the of the date of such termination¢f geplacing it with “the Severance Pay shall begiidgy in a lump sum in cash six months and

one day after the date of such termination.”

5. Section 12.8 is added to the agreement asifsi|

12.8 Section 409A Option AgreemeNbtwithstanding anything contained herein to thetary, in the event of a
conflict between this Agreement and the SectionMR®n-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated Febyu& 2006 , as amended (the “409A
Agreement”), with respect to the exercise of ogionvered thereunder (including the period duritictvthey may be exercised), the
provisions of the 409A Agreement shall control.

6. Except as expressly amended by this AmendrttenEmployment Agreement remains in full force effdct. Capitalized
terms used herein shall have the same meaningths Employment Agreement unless otherwise defirezdin. This Amendment shall be
governed and construed and enforced in accordaiticeéhg local laws of the State of New York appliato agreements made and to be
performed entirely in New York.




7. This Amendment may be executed in one or rfam&mile or original counterparts, each of whiblalsbe deemed an
original, but all of which taken together will cditste one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Amendment aseadldlte first above written.
ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddick

Name: Andrew D. Reddic
Title: President and
Chief Executive Officer

EMPLOYEE

By: /s/ Ron J. Spivey

Ron J. Spivey




FOURTH AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO EXECUTIVE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  (this “ Amendment”) made this 16"day o'
December, 2007 by and betwe@8URA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. , (formerly Halsey Drug Co., Inc.), a New York corption (the *
Corporation ), with offices at 616 N. North Court, Suite 1Z@alatine, lllinois 60067 andETER A. CLEMENS (the “Employee”).

RECITALS

A. The Corporation and the Employee executed an@mpent agreement dated as of March 10, 1998, anded on three
occasions (the Employment Agreement”).

B. The Corporation and the Employee now desiraitthér amend the Employment Agreement as proviaeeli.
NOW, THEREFORE , in consideration of the mutual covenants and ttallings herein contained, the parties agree ésnsl
1. Section 8.6(A) is hereby deleted and replaced thie following:

“(A) In the event of a termination of Employee'sgayment with the Corporation without Cause orrani@ation by Employee of his
employment with the Corporation for Good Reasoinrgo the last day of the Initial Term or any Rexaé Term, the Corporation shall pay to
Employee, in a single lump sum in cash within th{B0) days after the date of termination, in theecof a termination without Cause, and six
months and one day after termination, in the césermination for Good Reason (including terminatfollowing a Change of Control as
provided in Section 8.7) an amount equal to (altes accrued and unpaid base salary pptusises through and including the date of
termination, plugb) the greater of (i) $280,000, or (ii) twice tBmployee's Annual Base Salary in effect immediapeigr to the date of
termination.”

2. Section 13.10 is added to the agreement aswsilo

13.10 Section 409A Option AgreemeNbtwithstanding anything contained herein to thet@ry, in the event of a conflict
between this Agreement and the Section 409A NoniaehStock Option Agreement dated on or aboutrbiaby, 2006 , as amended (the
“409A Agreement”), with respect to the exercisepfions covered thereunder (including the periodnduwhich they may be exercised), the
provisions of the 409A Agreement shall control.

3. Except as expressly amended by this AmendrtenEmployment Agreement remains in full force affdct. Capitalized
terms used herein shall have the same meaningthe Employment Agreement unless otherwise defiredin. This Amendment shall be
governed and construed and enforced in accordaiticgéhg local laws of the State of New York applitzato agreements made and to be
performed entirely in New York.




4, This Amendment may be executed in one or rfam&mile or original counterparts, each of whiblalsbe deemed an
original, but all of which taken together will cditste one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Amendment aseadldlte first above written.

ACURA PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.

By: /s/ Andrew D. Reddick

Name: Andrew D. Reddic
Title: President and
Chief Executive Officer

EMPLOYEE

By: /s/Peter A. Clemen

Peter A. Clemens




EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
Palatine, Illinois

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referendbe Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N88-B33172, 333-123615, 3%3288
and 33-98356) and on Form S-3 (No. 338416) of our report dated March 5, 2008 relatmt¢he consolidated financial statements of A
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. appearing in the CompanyisuahReport on Form 10-K for the year ended Decer8he2007.

Chicago, lllinois
March 5, 2008

/s/ BDO Seidman, LLI




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KAofira Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoroit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in lightieotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | assponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1&dd internal control over financial reporting floe registrant and have:

(a) Designedsuch disclosure controls and procedures, or casiseld disclosure controls and procedures to be degignder ot
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegah

(b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslasire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls arateuiures, as of the end of the period covered bsyrédport based on st
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfe, or is reasonably likely to materially affeitte registrant's internal cont
over financial reporting ; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | kadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetazanmittee of the registrant's board of direct@mspersons performing the equiva
functions):

(@  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 5, 2008

/s/ Andrew D. Reddick
Andrew D. Reddick
President and Chief Executive Officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify that:

1.

2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-KAofira Pharmaceuticals, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this annual report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoroit to state a material fe
necessary to make the statements made, in lightieotircumstances under which such statements meade, not misleading wi
respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and | assponsible for establishing and maintaining disgte controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1&dd internal control over financial reporting floe registrant and have:

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedurég tbesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtibsidiaries, is made knowr
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pnegah

(b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrantslasire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls arateuiures, as of the end of the period covered bsyrédport based on st
evaluation; and

(c) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsanternal control over financial reporting tloatcurred during the registral
most recent fiscal quarter that has materiallycéfe, or is reasonably likely to materially affeitte registrant's internal cont
over financial reporting ; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and | kadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluationtefnal control over financi
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetazanmittee of the registrant's board of direct@mspersons performing the equiva
functions):

(@  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesgethe design or operation of internal controéofinancial reporting whic
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig's ability to record, process, summarize ambrt financial information; and

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registran
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 5, 2008

/sl Peter A. Clemens
Peter A. Clemens
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32
CERTIFICATION OF

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Andrew D. Reddick, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of #ibaBexley Act of 2002, that tt
Annual Report on Form 1K-of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2007 fully complies with tguirement
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Excleagt of 1934 and that information contained intsdanual Report of Form 10K fait
presents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of Acura Pharunéicals, Inc.

March 5, 2008 By: s/ Andrew D. Reddicl

Andrew D. Reddick

President and Chief Executive
Officer

I, Peter A. Clemens, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.850, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of thea8asOxley Act of 2002, that the Annt
Report on Form 1@ of Acura Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2007 fully complies with tegquirements «
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange & 1934 and that information contained in suamnéal Report of Form 10K fair
presents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of Acura Phamunécals, Inc.

March 5, 2008 By: Is/ Peter A. Clemens
Peter A. Clemens

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer




